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Chapter 15 

Military District 

First Military District 

The First Military District of the U.S. Army was a temporary 

administrative unit of the U.S. War Department that existed in 

the American South. The district was stipulated by the 

Reconstruction Acts during the Reconstruction period following 

the American Civil War.  

It only included Virginia, and was the smallest of the five 

military districts in terms of size. The district was successively 

commanded by Brigadier General John Schofield (1867–1868), 

Colonel George Stoneman (1868–1869) and Brigadier General 

Edward Canby (1869–1870). 

Creation of The First Military 

District 

In March 1867, Radical Republicans in Congress became 

frustrated with President Andrew Johnson's Reconstruction 

policies, which, they believed, allowed too many former 

Confederate officials to hold public office in the South. 

Politically empowered Democratic Party politicians who were 

former Confederates would obstruct the civil rights of newly 

freed African Americans. For Republicans these rights, which 

would allow the antebellum ideology of abolition to translate to 

real freedom, were critical.  
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In response, Congressional Republicans passed a multitude of 

bills furthering strict Reconstruction policies known as the 

Reconstruction Acts, the most important of which being the Act 

to Provide for the More Efficient Government of the Rebel 

States. This act, passed on March 2, 1867, divided the former 

Confederate States (except for Tennessee, after it ratified the 

14th Amendment) into five separate military districts. The 

Reconstruction Acts required that each former Confederate 

state hold a Constitutional Convention, adopt a new State 

Constitution, and ratify the 14th Amendment before rejoining 

the Union. The act designated Virginia as The First Military 

District (also referred to as Military District No. 1).  

Each of these districts fell under the command of former Union 

Army general officers to supervise the replacement undesirable 

former Confederate officials and use military force to guarantee 

the safety of liberated African Americans and maintain peace. 

However, it soon became apparent that the appointed army 

commanders could only act as peacekeepers until the president 

unveiled a proper Reconstruction policy. The military governors 

supervising Military District No. 1 were Major General 

Schofield, Major General Stoneman, and finally Brigadier 

General Canby until Virginia rejoined the Union in January 

1870, which officially ended Reconstruction in Virginia.  

Under military rule 

Under General Schofield 

• President Johnson first appointed General John 

Schofield as the first military governor of the 
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district. Schofield commanded the Federal Army of 

the Ohio and had served with General Sherman 

during the last year of the war. Schofield 

sympathized with Virginia's social and economic 

leaders and was skeptical of radical proposals to 

allow African Americans, most of whom had little or 

no education, to vote or participate in politics. 

However, he duly issued orders to register eligible 

white and black men and make certain that the 

election was properly conducted. Under his 

command, African American men participated 

willingly in Virginia's General Assembly election in 

1867.  

Under General Stoneman 

After Schofield became secretary of war under Johnson early in 

June 1868, his deputy commander in Virginia, George 

Stoneman, succeeded him. Unlike his predecessor, Stoneman 

pushed back against the Reconstruction efforts enacted by 

Congressional Republicans. Aligning himself with the 

Democratic Party, Stoneman pursued more moderate policies 

than the other Military Governors, which garnered him support 

among white Virginians.  

Under General Canby 

Major General Edward Canby was assigned to the First Military 

District in April 1869, serving until September 1870. This 

assignment put Canby at the center of conflicts between 

Republicans and Democrats, whites and blacks, and state and 

federal governments. His role as Military Governor was 
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concluded after Virginia ratified the 13th, 14th, and 15th 

Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. It was under Canby's 

term that a committee of nine leading Conservative politicians, 

under the chairmanship of Alexander H. H. Stuart, negotiated 

a compromise allowing voters to ratify the new state 

constitution. Once moderate Republicans and Conservatives 

dominated the Virginian General Assembly after its election in 

1869, the 14th and 15th Amendments were ratified shortly 

after. Virginia was readmitted into the union in January 1870, 

thus ending Reconstruction in the state and Canby's tenure.  

Legacy of Military Rule 

Immediate aftermath 

The period of military government in Virginia preserved for 

African Americans some of their hard-won guarantees of 

citizenship. However, the degradation of these rights occurred 

shortly after the end of military rule. With its readmission to 

the Union, the district commanders relinquished their powers 

under the Reconstruction Acts to the civil authorities within 

their commands. Therefore, Conservative Party candidates 

regained dominance over state legislature, and returned 

Virginia to control of prewar leaders.  

Impact on African Americans 

During the time after military rule, African Americans merely 

gained minority status in the constitutional convention, in 

either house of the General Assembly, or in city or county 

government offices. However, the Constitutional right for 
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African Americans to vote was firmly established under 

military rule, which lead to the election of more than twenty 

African Americans to Virginia's General Assembly between 

1870 and 1875. While many of these African American political 

leaders following the end of military rule were somewhat 

wealthier and had more education than other African 

Americans, they faced many of the same difficulties and 

obstacles as the men who were born into slavery. They worked 

in jobs similar to other freedmen, such as mechanics, farmers, 

and ministers. However, these first African American political 

leaders in Virginia used the guarantee of suffrage in the 15th 

Amendment to their full advantage and paved the path for 

future leaders and further struggles for equal rights to follow 

in their footsteps.  

Second Military District 

The Second Military District of the U.S. Army was a 

temporary administrative unit of the U.S. War Department that 

existed in the American South. The district was stipulated by 

the Reconstruction Acts during the Reconstruction period 

following the American Civil War. It included the territories of 

North and South Carolina, and acted as the de facto military 

government of those states while a new civilian government 

was being re-established. Originally commanded by Major 

General Daniel Sickles, after his removal by President Andrew 

Johnson on August 26, 1867, Brigadier General Edward Canby 

took over command until both states were readmitted in July 

1868.  

Its successor was the Department of the South.  
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Third Military District 

The Third Military District of the U.S. Army was a temporary 

administrative unit of the U.S. War Department that existed in 

the American South. The district was stipulated by the 

Reconstruction Acts during the Reconstruction period following 

the American Civil War. It comprised Georgia, Florida and 

Alabama and was headquartered in Atlanta.  

The district was originally commanded by General John Pope 

until his removal by President Andrew Johnson on December 

28, 1867, when General George Gordon Meade took his place. 

Meade served at the current location of Fort McPherson until 

August 1868 after Alabama and Florida were re-admitted into 

the United States.  

Because of the expulsion of Blacks from the Georgia 

legislature, a new military leader was appointed on December 

22, 1869, General Alfred Terry. In January, he returned the 

legislators and ousted 29 Democrats. In February, the 

Fifteenth amendment was ratified by Georgia and by July it 

was re-admitted into the Union.  

Fourth Military District 

The Fourth Military District of the U.S. Army was a temporary 

administrative unit of the U.S. War Department that existed in 

the American South. The district was stipulated by the 

Reconstruction Acts during the Reconstruction period following 

the American Civil War. It included the occupation troops in 

the states of Arkansas and Mississippi. At various times, the 
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district was commanded by generals Edward Ord, 

AlvanCullemGillem, and Adelbert Ames.  

Following the completion of the Civil War, the Federal 

government under President of the United States Andrew 

Johnson sought to restore order within the states that had 

composed the defeated Confederate States of America. 

Johnson, a loyal Tennesseean, advocated a lenient strategy to 

remove all commercial and social restrictions between the 

states, with the intention for the South to return to its former 

position in the Union. He believed that former Confederates 

should receive amnesty for their actions during the war and 

regain full rights of citizenship. However, the Radical 

Republicans in Congress vehemently disagreed, and passed the 

1866 Reconstruction Acts, which divided the former 

Confederacy into military districts, in which a military 

commander controlled all social, economic, and political 

activity in the region. The Fourth Military District comprised 

the states of Mississippi and Arkansas, with its headquarters 

in Vicksburg.  

Edward Ord served as the district's first commander, with 

Alvan C. Gillem, like Johnson a loyal Tennessean, in charge of 

the sub-district of Mississippi. Gillem was later appointed as 

the district's commander. He favored the policy of leniency 

towards the former Confederates, invoking the displeasure of 

the Radicals in Congress. When Ulysses S. Grant became 

president, he removed Gillem from command and reassigned 

him to Texas, replacing him again with Ord, a personal friend 

who had served under Grant during the Civil War. When Ord 

was later assigned command of the District of California, 

another former Civil War general, Adelbert Ames, assumed 
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command in 1868, and was also named as Governor of 

Mississippi, replacing former Confederate general Benjamin G. 

Humphreys.  

When Mississippi was readmitted to the Union in 1870, the 

Fourth Military District was abolished and control of the state 

reverted to the newly elected state government.  

Fifth Military District 

The 5th Military District of the U.S. Army was a temporary 

administrative unit of the U.S. War Department that existed in 

the American South. The district was stipulated by the 

Reconstruction Acts during the Reconstruction period following 

the American Civil War. It included Texas, from Brazos 

Santiago Harbor, (previously Port Matamoros), at the Mexican 

border, north to Louisiana. General Philip Sheridan served as 

its first military governor, until removed by U.S. President 

Andrew Johnson because of a charge of excessive harshness in 

Sheridan's treatment of former Confederate soldiers. He was 

replaced by Charles Griffin, then by Joseph J. Reynolds. 

Several incidents were committed against black federal soldiers 

at Ft. Brown in Brownsville, Texas, and elsewhere by 

Jayhawkers, wild Indians, desperados, etc. Most incident 

reports fail to identify the perpetrators.  

Units 

Among the United States Army forces stationed in Texas were 

the U.S. 1st Artillery, the 4th, 6th and 9th Cavalry Regiments, 

and the 15th, 17th, 20th, 25th and 41st Infantry Regiments.  



Chapter 16 

Generals 

Daniel Sickles 

Daniel Edgar Sickles (October 20, 1819 – May 3, 1914) was an 

American politician, soldier, and diplomat.  

Born to a wealthy family in New York City, Sickles was involved 

in a number of scandals, most notably the 1859 homicide of 

his wife's lover, U.S. Attorney Philip Barton Key II, whom 

Sickles gunned down in broad daylight in Lafayette Square, 

across the street from the White House. He was acquitted after 

using temporary insanity as a legal defense for the first time in 

United States history.  

Upon the outbreak of the American Civil War in 1861, Sickles 

became one of the war's most prominent political generals, 

recruiting the New York regiments that became known as the 

Excelsior Brigade in the Army of the Potomac. Despite his lack 

of military experience, he served as a brigade, division, and 

corps commander in some of the early Eastern campaigns.  

His military career ended at the Battle of Gettysburg in July 

1863, after he moved his III Corps without orders to an 

untenable position, where they were decimated but slowed 

General James Longstreet's flanking maneuver. Sickles himself 

was wounded by cannon fire at Gettysburg and had to have his 

leg amputated. He was eventually awarded the Medal of Honor 

for his actions.  
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Sickles devoted considerable effort to trying to gain credit for 

helping achieve the Union victory at Gettysburg, writing 

articles and testifying before Congress in a manner that 

denigrated the intentions and actions of his superior officer, 

Maj. Gen. George Meade. After the war, Sickles was appointed 

as a commander for military districts in the South during 

Reconstruction. He also served as U.S. Minister to Spain under 

President Ulysses S. Grant. Later he was re-elected to 

Congress, where he helped pass legislation to preserve the 

Gettysburg Battlefield.  

Early life and politics 

In 1819, Sickles was born in New York City to Susan Marsh 

Sickles and George Garrett Sickles, a patent lawyer and 

politician. (His year of birth is sometimes given as 1825, and 

Sickles was known to have claimed as such. Historians 

speculate that Sickles chose to appear younger when he 

married a woman half his age.) He learned the printer's trade 

and studied at the University of the City of New York (now New 

York University). He studied law in the office of Benjamin 

Butler, was admitted to the bar in 1846, and was elected as a 

member of the New York State Assembly (New York Co.) in 

1847.  

On September 27, 1852, Sickles married Teresa Bagioli against 

the wishes of both families—he was 32, she about 15 or 16. 

She was reported as sophisticated for her age, speaking five 

languages.  

In 1853 Sickles became corporation counsel of New York City, 

but resigned soon afterward when appointed as secretary of the 
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U.S. legation in London, under James Buchanan, by 

appointment of President Franklin Pierce. In 1855 he returned 

to the United States, and in 1856 he was elected as a member 

of the New York State Senate in the 3rd D.. He was re-elected 

to the seat in 1857. In 1856 he was also elected as a Democrat 

to the 35th U. S. Congress, and held office from March 4, 

1857, to March 3, 1861, a total of two terms.  

Homicide of Key 

ickles was censured by the New York State Assembly for 

escorting a known prostitute, Fanny White, into its chambers. 

He also reportedly took her to England, while leaving his 

pregnant wife at home. He presented White to Queen Victoria, 

using as her alias the surname of a New York political 

opponent.  

On February 27, 1859, in Lafayette Square, across the street 

from the White House, Sickles shot and killed Philip Barton 

Key II, the district attorney of the District of Columbia and the 

son of Francis Scott Key. Sickles had discovered that Philip 

Key was having an affair with his young wife.  

Trial 

• Sickles surrendered at Attorney General Jeremiah 

Black's house, a few blocks away on Franklin 

Square, and confessed to the murder. After a visit to 

his home, accompanied by a constable, Sickles was 

taken to jail. He received numerous perquisites, 

including being allowed to retain his personal 

weapon, and receive numerous visitors. So many 
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visitors came that he was granted the use of the 

head jailer's apartment to receive them. They 

included many congressmen, senators, and other 

leading members of Washington society. President 

James Buchanan sent Sickles a personal note. 

Harper's Magazine reported that the visits of his wife's mother 

and her clergyman were painful for Sickles. Both told him that 

Teresa was distracted with grief, shame, and sorrow, and that 

the loss of her wedding ring (which Sickles had taken on 

visiting his home) was more than Teresa could bear.  

Sickles was charged with murder. He secured several leading 

politicians as defense attorneys, among them Edwin M. 

Stanton, later to become Secretary of War, and Chief Counsel 

James T. Brady who, like Sickles, was associated with 

Tammany Hall. Sickles pleaded temporary insanity—the first 

use of this defense in the United States. Before the jury, 

Stanton argued that Sickles had been driven insane by his 

wife's infidelity, and thus was out of his mind when he shot 

Key. The papers soon trumpeted that Sickles was a hero for 

"saving all the ladies of Washington from this rogue named 

Key".  

Sickles had obtained a graphic confession from Teresa; it was 

ruled inadmissible in court, but, was leaked by him to the 

press and printed in the newspapers in full. The defense 

strategy ensured that the trial was the main topic of 

conversations in Washington for weeks, and the extensive 

coverage of national papers was sympathetic to Sickles. In the 

courtroom, the strategy brought drama, controversy, and, 

ultimately, an acquittal for Sickles.  
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Sickles publicly forgave Teresa, and "withdrew" briefly from 

public life, although he did not resign from Congress. The 

public was apparently more outraged by Sickles's forgiveness 

and reconciliation with his wife than by the murder and his 

unorthodox acquittal.  

Civil War 

In the 1850s, Sickles had received a commission in the 12th 

Regiment of the New York Militia, and had attained the rank of 

major. (He insisted on wearing his militia uniform for 

ceremonial occasions while serving in London, and caused a 

minor diplomatic scandal by snubbing Queen Victoria at an 

Independence Day celebration.)  

At the outbreak of the Civil War, Sickles worked to repair his 

public image by raising volunteer units in New York for the 

Union Army. Because of his previous military experience and 

political connections, he was appointed colonel of one (the 

70th New York Infantry) of the four regiments he organized. He 

was promoted to brigadier general of volunteers in September 

1861, where he was notorious before beginning any fighting.  

According to author Garry Boulard'sDaniel Sickles: A Life, 

Sickles not only refused to return runaway slaves who escaped 

to his Union camp in Northern Virginia, he put many of them 

on the federal payroll as servants, while also training male 

slaves to be soldiers. It was a policy that won for him the 

approval of the influential Committee on the Conduct of the 

War.  
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In March 1862, he was forced to relinquish his command when 

the U.S. Congress refused to confirm his commission. He 

lobbied his Washington political contacts and reclaimed both 

his rank and his command on May 24, 1862, in time to rejoin 

the Army in the Peninsula Campaign. Because of this 

interruption, Sickles missed his brigade's significant actions at 

the Battle of Williamsburg. Despite his lack of previous combat 

experience, he did a competent job commanding the "Excelsior 

Brigade" of the Army of the Potomac in the Battle of Seven 

Pines and the Seven Days Battles. He was absent for the 

Second Battle of Bull Run, having used his political influences 

to obtain leave to go to New York City to recruit new troops. He 

also missed the Battle of Antietam because the III Corps, to 

which he was assigned as a division commander, was stationed 

on the lower Potomac, protecting the capital.  

Sickles was a close ally of Maj. Gen. Joseph Hooker, his 

original division commander, who eventually commanded the 

Army of the Potomac. Both men had notorious reputations as 

political climbers and as hard-drinking ladies' men. "Accounts 

at the time compared their army headquarters to a rowdy bar 

and bordello."  

Sickles' division was in reserve at the Battle of Fredericksburg. 

On January 16, 1863, President Abraham Lincoln nominated 

Sickles for promotion to the grade of major general to rank 

from November 29, 1862. Although the U.S. Senate did not 

confirm the promotion until March 9, 1863, and the President 

did not formally appoint Sickles until March 11, 1863, Hooker, 

now commanding the Army of the Potomac, gave Sickles 

command of the III Corps in February 1863.  
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This decision was controversial as Sickles became the only 

corps commander without a West Point military education. His 

energy and ability were conspicuous in the Battle of 

Chancellorsville. He aggressively recommended pursuing troops 

he saw in his sector on May 2, 1863. Sickles thought the 

Confederates were retreating, but these turned out to be 

elements of Thomas J. "Stonewall" Jackson's corps, stealthily 

marching around the Union flank. He also vigorously opposed 

Hooker's orders moving him off good defensive terrain in Hazel 

Grove. In both of these cases, it is easy to imagine the 

disastrous battle turning out very differently for the Union if 

Hooker had heeded his advice. 

• —  Charles Hanna,  

Gettysburg 

The Battle of Gettysburg was the occasion of the most famous 

incident and the effective end of Sickles' military career. On 

July 2, 1863, Army of the Potomac commander Maj. Gen. 

George G. Meade ordered Sickles' corps to take up defensive 

positions on the southern end of Cemetery Ridge, anchored in 

the north to the II Corps and to the south, the hill known as 

Little Round Top. Sickles was unhappy to see the "Peach 

Orchard," a slightly higher terrain feature, to his front. 

Concerned over his position and uncertain of Meade's exact 

intentions, a little after 2 p.m. he began to march his corps out 

to the Peach Orchard, almost a mile in front of Cemetery Ridge. 

This had two effects: it greatly diluted the concentrated 

defensive posture of his corps by stretching it too thin, and it 

created a salient that could be bombarded and attacked from 

multiple sides. Soon thereafter (3 p.m.), Meade called a 
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meeting of his corps commanders. An aide to Brig. Gen. 

Gouverneur K. Warren soon reported the situation. Sickles 

arrived just after the meeting had ended. Meade and Warren 

rode with Sickles back to his position, where Meade explained 

Sickles' error. Meade refused Sickles' offer to withdraw because 

he realized it was too late and the Confederates would soon 

attack, putting a retreating force in even greater peril.  

The Confederates attacked at about the time Meade spoke with 

Sickles and then returned to his headquarters. The 

Confederate assault by Lt. Gen. James Longstreet's corps, 

primarily by the division of Maj. Gen. Lafayette McLaws, 

smashed the III Corps and rendered it useless for further 

combat. Gettysburg campaign historian Edwin B. Coddington 

assigns "much of the blame for the near disaster" in the center 

of the Union line to Sickles. Stephen W. Sears wrote that "Dan 

Sickles, in not obeying Meade's explicit orders, risked both his 

Third Corps and the army's defensive plan on July 2. However, 

Sickles' maneuver has recently been credited by John Keegan 

with blunting the whole Confederate offensive that was 

intended to cause the collapse of the Union line. Similarly, 

James M. McPherson wrote that "Sickles's unwise move may 

have unwittingly foiled Lee's hopes."  

During the height of the Confederate attack, Sickles was 

wounded by a cannonball that mangled his right leg. He was 

carried by a detail of soldiers to the shade of the Trostle 

farmhouse, where a saddle strap was applied as a tourniquet. 

He ordered his aide, Major Harry Tremain, "Tell General Birney 

he must take command." As Sickles was carried by stretcher to 

the III Corps hospital on the Taneytown Road, he attempted to 

raise his soldiers' spirits by grinning and puffing on a cigar 
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along the way. His leg was amputated that afternoon. He 

insisted on being transported to Washington, D.C., which he 

reached on July 4, 1863. He brought some of the first news of 

the great Union victory, and started a public relations 

campaign to defend his behavior in the conflict. On the 

afternoon of July 5, President Lincoln and his son, Tad, visited 

General Sickles, as he was recovering in Washington.  

Sickles had recent knowledge of a new directive from the Army 

Surgeon General to collect and forward "specimens of morbid 

anatomy ... together with projectiles and foreign bodies 

removed" to the newly founded Army Medical Museum in 

Washington, D.C. He preserved the bones from his leg and 

donated them to the museum in a small coffin-shaped box, 

along with a visiting card marked, "With the compliments of 

Major General D.E.S." For several years thereafter, he 

reportedly visited the limb on the anniversary of the 

amputation. The museum, now known as the National Museum 

of Health and Medicine, still displays this artifact. (Other Civil 

War-era specimens of note on display include the hip of 

General Henry Barnum.)  

Sickles ran a vicious campaign against General Meade's 

character after Gettysburg. Sickles felt that Meade had 

wronged him and that he deserved credit for winning the 

battle. In anonymous newspaper articles and in testimony 

before a congressional committee, Sickles falsely maintained 

that Meade had secretly planned to retreat from Gettysburg on 

the first day. He also claimed to have occupied Little Round 

Top on July 2. While his movement away from Cemetery Ridge 

may have violated orders, Sickles always asserted that it was 

the correct move because it disrupted the Confederate attack, 
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redirecting its thrust, and effectively shielding the Union's real 

objectives, Cemetery Ridge and Cemetery Hill. 

Sickles'sredeployment took Confederate commanders by 

surprise, and historians have argued about its ramifications 

ever since.  

Sickles eventually received the Medal of Honor for his actions, 

although it took him 34 years to get it. The official citation 

accompanying his medal recorded that Sickles "displayed most 

conspicuous gallantry on the field, vigorously contesting the 

advance of the enemy and continuing to encourage his troops 

after being himself severely wounded."  

Postbellum career 

Despite his one-legged disability, Sickles remained in the army 

until the end of the war and was disgusted that Lt. Gen. 

Ulysses S. Grant would not allow him to return to a combat 

command. In 1867, he received appointments as brevet 

brigadier general and major general in the regular army for his 

services at Fredericksburg and Gettysburg, respectively.  

Soon after the close of the Civil War, in 1865, he was sent on a 

confidential mission to Colombia (the "special mission to the 

South American Republics") to secure its compliance with a 

treaty agreement of 1846 permitting the United States to 

convey troops across the Isthmus of Panama. From 1865 to 

1867, he commanded the Department of South Carolina, the 

Department of the Carolinas, the Department of the South, and 

the Second Military District. Sickles pursued reconstruction on 

a basis of fair treatment for African-Americans and respect for 

the rights of employees. He halted foreclosures on property. He 
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also made the wages of farm laborers the first lien on crops. He 

outlawed discrimination against African-Americans and banned 

the production of whisky.  

In 1866, he was appointed colonel of the 42nd U.S. Infantry 

(Veteran Reserve Corps), and in 1869 he was retired with the 

rank of major general.  

Sickles served as U.S. Minister to Spain from 1869 to 1874, 

after the Senate failed to confirm Henry Shelton Sanford to the 

post, and took part in the negotiations growing out of the 

Virginius Affair. His inaccurate and emotional messages to 

Washington promoted war, until he was overruled by Secretary 

of State Hamilton Fish and the war scare died out.  

In his Daniel Sickles: A Life Garry Boulard points out that 

Sickles was disadvantaged throughout the Virginius 

controversy, trying to negotiate with a Spanish leadership that 

was frequently disorganized and chaotic, while the substantial 

talks were taking place in Washington between Fish and 

Spanish Minister Don Jose Polo de Barnabe.  

Even so, when Sickles subsequently decided to turn in his 

resignation, Fish, who was not displeased with Sickles' service, 

wired the General: "You are recalled on your own request."  

Sickles maintained his reputation as a ladies' man in the 

Spanish royal court and was rumored to have had an affair 

with the deposed Queen Isabella II. Following the death of 

Teresa in 1867, in 1871 he married CarminaCreagh, the 

daughter of Chevalier de Creagh of Madrid, a Spanish 

Councillor of State. They had two children.  
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Starting in the 1880s and continuing until nearly the end of 

his life, Sickles frequently attended and spoke at Gettysburg 

reunions as the former commander of the III Corps in the 

victorious Army of the Potomac, popular with many of the 

veterans who had served under his command. He also struck 

up a friendship with former opponent James Longstreet, one 

who was also seeking to defend himself from attacks (many 

politically motivated in Longstreet’s case) over his war 

performance. Sickles’ popularity with veterans was not 

universal, however, because of his inflated claims that he was 

the ultimate father of the Union victory and his repeated 

attacks against George Meade, even after Meade’s death in 

1872, with falsehoods about Meade wanting to retreat from 

Gettysburg.  

The New York Monuments Commission was formed in 1886 and 

Sickles was appointed honorary chairman. He served the 

commission zealously for most of the rest of his life in securing 

appropriations for monuments to New York regiments, 

batteries, and commanders and having them placed correctly 

on the Gettysburg battlefield. He was forced out of the 

Commission in 1912, however, when $27,000 was found to 

have been embezzled. Sickles was appointed as chairman of the 

New York State Civil Service Commission from 1888 to 1889, 

and Sheriff of New York County in 1890. In 1891, he was 

elected to the board of the Gettysburg Battlefield Memorial 

Association. In 1892, he was elected again as a Democratic 

representative in the 53rd Congress, serving from 1893 to 

1895.  

As a congressman, Sickles had an important part in efforts to 

preserve the Gettysburg Battlefield, sponsoring legislation to 
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form the Gettysburg National Military Park, buy up private 

lands, and erect monuments. He procured the original fencing 

used on East Cemetery Hill to mark the park's borders.  

This fencing came directly from Lafayette Square in 

Washington, D.C. In fact, the park's borders were defined from 

its establishment until 1974 by a map prepared by Dan 

Sickles.  

Of the principal senior generals who fought at Gettysburg, 

virtually all, with the conspicuous exception of Sickles, have 

been memorialized with statues. When asked why there was no 

memorial to him, Sickles supposedly said, "The entire 

battlefield is a memorial to Dan Sickles." The monument to the 

New York Excelsior Brigade was originally commissioned to 

include a bust of Sickles, but it includes a figure of an eagle 

instead.  

Death 

Sickles lived out the remainder of his life in New York City, 

dying on May 3, 1914 at the age of 94. His funeral was held at 

St. Patrick's Cathedral in Manhattan on May 8, 1914. He was 

buried in Arlington National Cemetery.  

In popular media 

• American Scoundrel: The Life of the Notorious Civil 

War General Dan Sickles is a 2002 biography by the 

novelist Thomas Keneally. 
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• Sickles is featured in the alternate history novels, 

Gettysburg: A Novel of the Civil War (2003) and Grant 

Comes East (2004), the first two books of the Civil 

War trilogy by Newt Gingrich and William R. 

Forstchen. 

• In Stephen L. Carter's 2012 alternate history novel, 

The Impeachment of Abraham Lincoln, Sickles is 

featured as one of the defense counsel in Lincoln's 

trial before the United States Senate. 

• A recreation of Sickles’ leg is briefly featured on 

display in the 2012 film “Lincoln.” 

• The account of Sickles' discovery of his wife's affair 

with Philip Barton Key, his murder of Key, and the 

subsequent trial are the subject of Chris DeRose's 

nonfiction book, Star Spangled Scandal: Sex, Murder, 

and the Trial that Changed America (2019). 

• The assassination of Philip Barton Key and the 

mystery of who wrote the Sickles' letter were covered 

in a 2019 episode of the Unresolved podcast. 

• The Battle of Gettysburg Podcast regularly features a 

"Sickles Report." It dedicated episodes 3 and 4 of its 

second season to Sickles' murder of Key and its 

subsequent links to the Battle of Gettysburg; the 

episode was recorded inside the house at the Sherfy 

Farm at Gettysburg National Military Park. The 

podcast also dedicated episodes 4 and 5 of its first 

season to the battle for the Peach Orchard, including 

Sickles' motivations for taking the position on July 

2. Jim Hessler, who wrote the 2009 book Sickles at 

Gettysburg and co-authored the 2019 book 

Gettysburg's Peach Orchard with Britt Isenberg, co-

hosts the podcast with Eric Lindblade. 



Encyclopedia of Great Powers and the First World War: 1870–1918, Volume 3 
 

448 

John Pope (military officer) 

John Pope (March 16, 1822 – September 23, 1892) was a 

career United States Army officer and Union general in the 

American Civil War. He had a brief stint in the Western 

Theater, but he is best known for his defeat at the Second 

Battle of Bull Run (Second Manassas) in the East.  

Pope was a graduate of the United States Military Academy in 

1842. He served in the Mexican–American War and had 

numerous assignments as a topographical engineer and 

surveyor in Florida, New Mexico, and Minnesota. He spent 

much of the last decade before the Civil War surveying possible 

southern routes for the proposed First Transcontinental 

Railroad.  

He was an early appointee as a Union brigadier general of 

volunteers and served initially under Maj. Gen. John C. 

Frémont. He achieved initial success against Brig. Gen. 

Sterling Price in Missouri, then led a successful campaign that 

captured Island No. 10 on the Mississippi River. This inspired 

the Lincoln administration to bring him to the Eastern Theater 

to lead the newly formed Army of Virginia.  

He initially alienated many of his officers and men by publicly 

denigrating their record in comparison to his Western 

command. He launched an offensive against the Confederate 

army of General Robert E. Lee, in which he fell prey to a 

strategic turning movement into his rear areas by Maj. Gen. 

Stonewall Jackson. At Second Bull Run, he concentrated his 

attention on attacking Jackson while the other Confederate 

corps attacked his flank and routed his army.  
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Following Manassas, Pope was banished far from the Eastern 

Theater to the Department of the Northwest in Minnesota, 

where he commanded U.S. Forces in the Dakota War of 1862. 

He was appointed to command the Department of the Missouri 

in 1865 and was a prominent and activist commander during 

Reconstruction in Atlanta. For the rest of his military career, 

he fought in the Indian Wars, particularly against the Apache 

and Sioux.  

Early life 

Pope was born in Louisville, Kentucky, the son of Nathaniel 

Pope, a prominent Federal judge in early Illinois Territory and 

a friend of lawyer Abraham Lincoln.  

He was the brother-in-law of Manning Force, and a distant 

cousin married the sister of Mary Todd Lincoln. He graduated 

from the United States Military Academy, 17th in a class of 56, 

in 1842, and was commissioned a brevet second lieutenant in 

the Corps of Topographical Engineers.  

He served in Florida and then helped survey the northeastern 

border between the United States and Canada. He fought under 

Zachary Taylor in the Battle of Monterrey and Battle of Buena 

Vista during the Mexican–American War, for which he was 

appointed a brevet first lieutenant and captain, respectively.  

After the war Pope worked as a surveyor in Minnesota. In 1850 

he demonstrated the navigability of the Red River. He served as 

the chief engineer of the Department of New Mexico from 1851 

to 1853 and spent the remainder of the antebellum years 

surveying a route for the Pacific Railroad.  
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Civil War 

Pope was serving on lighthouse duty when Abraham Lincoln 

was elected and he was one of four officers selected to escort 

the president-elect to Washington, D.C. He offered to serve 

Lincoln as an aide, but on June 14, 1861, he was appointed 

brigadier general of volunteers (date of rank effective May 17, 

1861) and was ordered to Illinois to recruit volunteers.  

In the Department of the West under Maj. Gen. John C. 

Frémont, Pope assumed command of the District of North and 

Central Missouri in July, with operational control along a 

portion of the Mississippi River. He had an uncomfortable 

relationship with Frémont and politicked behind the scenes to 

get him removed from command. Frémont was convinced that 

Pope had treacherous intentions toward him, demonstrated by 

his lack of action in following Frémont's offensive plans in 

Missouri. Historian Allan Nevins wrote, "Actually, 

incompetence and timidity offer a better explanation of Pope 

than treachery, though he certainly showed an insubordinate 

spirit."  

Pope eventually forced the Confederates under Sterling Price to 

retreat southward, taking 1,200 prisoners in a minor action at 

Blackwater, Missouri, on December 18. Pope, who established 

a reputation as a braggart early in the war, was able to 

generate significant press interest in his minor victory, which 

brought him to the attention of Frémont's replacement, Maj. 

Gen. Henry W. Halleck.  

Halleck appointed Pope to command the Army of the 

Mississippi (and the District of the Mississippi, Department of 
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the Missouri) on February 23, 1862. Given 25,000 men, he was 

ordered to clear Confederate obstacles on the Mississippi 

River. He made a surprise march on New Madrid, Missouri, and 

captured it on March 14. He then orchestrated a campaign to 

capture Island No. 10, a strongly fortified post garrisoned by 

12,000 men and 58 guns. Pope's engineers cut a channel that 

allowed him to bypass the island. Assisted by the gunboats of 

Captain Andrew H. Foote, he landed his men on the opposite 

shore, which isolated the defenders. The island garrison 

surrendered on April 7, 1862, freeing Union navigation of the 

Mississippi as far south as Memphis.  

Pope's outstanding performance on the Mississippi earned him 

a promotion to major general, dated as of March 21, 1862. 

During the Siege of Corinth, he commanded the left wing of 

Halleck's army, but he was soon summoned to the East by 

Lincoln. After the collapse of Maj. Gen. George B. McClellan's 

Peninsula Campaign, Pope was appointed to command the 

Army of Virginia, assembled from scattered forces in the 

Shenandoah Valley and Northern Virginia. This promotion 

infuriated Frémont, who resigned his commission.  

Pope brought an attitude of self-assurance that was offensive 

to the eastern soldiers under his command. He issued an 

astonishing message to his new army on July 14, 1862, that 

included the following:  

Let us understand each other. I have come to you from the 

West, where we have always seen the backs of our enemies; 

from an army whose business it has been to seek the adversary 

and to beat him when he was found; whose policy has been 

attack and not defense. In but one instance has the enemy 
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been able to place our Western armies in defensive attitude. I 

presume that I have been called here to pursue the same 

system and to lead you against the enemy. It is my purpose to 

do so, and that speedily. I am sure you long for an opportunity 

to win the distinction you are capable of achieving. That 

opportunity I shall endeavor to give you.  

Meantime I desire you to dismiss from your minds certain 

phrases, which I am sorry to find so much in vogue amongst 

you. I hear constantly of "taking strong positions and holding 

them," of "lines of retreat," and of "bases of supplies." Let us 

discard such ideas. The strongest position a soldier should 

desire to occupy is one from which he can most easily advance 

against the enemy. Let us study the probable lines of retreat of 

our opponents, and leave our own to take care of themselves. 

Let us look before us, and not behind. Success and glory are in 

the advance, disaster and shame lurk in the rear. Let us act on 

this understanding, and it is safe to predict that your banners 

shall be inscribed with many a glorious deed and that your 

names will be dear to your countrymen forever 

• —  John Pope, message to the Army of Virginia 

Despite this bravado, and despite receiving units from 

McClellan's Army of the Potomac that swelled the Army of 

Virginia to 70,000 men, Pope's aggressiveness exceeded his 

strategic capabilities, particularly since he was now facing 

Confederate General Robert E. Lee. Lee, sensing that Pope was 

indecisive, split his smaller (55,000-man) army, sending Maj. 

Gen. Thomas J. "Stonewall" Jackson with 24,000 men as a 

diversion to Cedar Mountain, where Jackson defeated Pope's 

subordinate, Nathaniel Banks.  
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As Lee advanced on Pope with the remainder of his army, 

Jackson swung around to the north and captured Pope's main 

supply base at Manassas Station. Confused and unable to 

locate the main Confederate force, Pope walked into a trap in 

the Second Battle of Bull Run. His men withstood a combined 

attack by Jackson and Lee on August 29, 1862, but on the 

following day Maj. Gen. James Longstreet launched a surprise 

flanking attack and the Union Army was soundly defeated and 

forced to retreat. Pope compounded his unpopularity with the 

Army by blaming his defeat on disobedience by Maj. Gen. Fitz 

John Porter, who was found guilty by court-martial and 

disgraced.  

Brigadier General Alpheus S. Williams, who served briefly 

under Pope, held the general in particularly low esteem. In a 

letter to his daughter, he wrote:  

All this is the sequence of Gen. Pope's high sounding 

manifestoes. His pompous orders ... greatly disgusted his army 

from the first. When a general boasts that he will look only on 

the backs of his enemies, that he takes no care for lines of 

retreat or bases of supplies; when, in short, from a snug hotel 

in Washington he issues after-dinner orders to gratify public 

taste and his own self-esteem, anyone may confidently look for 

results such as have followed the bungling management of his 

last campaign ... I dare not trust myself to speak of this 

commander as I feel and believe. Suffice it to say (for your eye 

alone) that more insolence, superciliousness, ignorance, and 

pretentiousness were never combined in one man. It can with 

truth be said of him that he had not a friend in his command 

from the smallest drummer boy to the highest general officer. 

All hated him." 
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Pope himself was relieved of command on September 12, 1862, 

and his army was merged into the Army of the Potomac under 

McClellan. He spent the remainder of the war in the 

Department of the Northwest in Minnesota, dealing with the 

Dakota War of 1862. His months campaigning in the West paid 

career dividends because he was assigned to command the 

Military Division of the Missouri on January 30, 1865, and 

received a brevet promotion to major general in the regular 

army on March 13, 1865, for his service at Island No. 10.  

On June 27, 1865, the War Department issued General Order 

No. 118 dividing the entire United States, including the states 

formerly a part of the Confederacy, into five military divisions 

and 19 subordinate geographical departments. Major General 

William T. Sherman was assigned to command the Division of 

the Missouri. Pope then became commander of its Department 

of the Missouri, replacing Major General Grenville M. Dodge.  

Shortly after Lee's surrender at Appomattox Court House, Pope 

wrote a letter to Edmund Kirby-Smith offering the Confederates 

in Louisiana the same surrender terms that Grant allowed for 

Lee. He told Kirby-Smith that further resistance was futile and 

urged the general to avoid needless bloodshed, devastation, 

and misery by accepting the surrender terms.  

Kirby-Smith, however, rejected Pope's overtures and said that 

his army remained "strong and well equipped and that despite 

the 'disparity of numbers' his men could outweigh the 

differences 'by valor and skill'." Five weeks later Confederate 

General Simon Bolivar Buckner signed the surrender in New 

Orleans.  
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Postbellum years 

In April 1867, Pope was named governor of the Reconstruction 

Third Military District and made his headquarters in Atlanta, 

issuing orders that allowed African Americans to serve on 

juries, ordering Mayor James Williams to remain in office 

another year, postponing elections, and banning city 

advertising in newspapers that did not favor Reconstruction. 

President Andrew Johnson removed him from command 

December 28, 1867, replacing him with George G. Meade. 

Following this, Pope was appointed head of the Department of 

the Lakes (based in Detroit, Michigan) from January 13, 1868, 

to April 30, 1870.  

Pope returned to the West as commander of the Department of 

the Missouri (the nation's second-largest geographical 

command) during the Grant presidency, and held that 

command through 1883. He served with distinction in the 

Apache Wars, including the Red River War relocating Southern 

Plains tribes to reservations in Oklahoma. General Pope made 

political enemies in Washington when he recommended that 

the reservation system would be better administered by the 

military than the corrupt Indian Bureau. He also engendered 

controversy by calling for better and more humane treatment of 

Native Americans, but author Walter Donald Kennedy notes 

that he also said "It is my purpose to utterly exterminate the 

Sioux" and planned to make a "final settlement with all these 

Indians".  

Pope's reputation suffered a serious blow in 1879 when a late-

convened Board of Inquiry called by President Rutherford B. 

Hayes and led by Maj. Gen. John Schofield (Pope's immediate 
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predecessor in the Department of the Missouri and then head 

of the Department of the Pacific) concluded that Major General 

Fitz John Porter had been unfairly convicted of cowardice and 

disobedience at the Second Battle of Bull Run. The Schofield 

report used evidence of former Confederate commanders and 

concluded that Pope himself bore most of the responsibility for 

the Union loss. The report characterized Pope as reckless and 

dangerously uninformed about events during the battle, also 

criticized General Irvin McDowell (whom Pope detested), and 

credited Porter's perceived disobedience with saving the Union 

army from complete ruin.  

Pope was promoted to major general in the Regular Army in 

1882 and was assigned to command of the Military Division of 

the Pacific in 1883 where he served until his retirement.  

Death and legacy 

Pope retired as a major general in the Regular Army on March 

16, 1886, and his wife, Clara Pope, died two years later. The 

National Tribune serialized his memoirs, publishing them 

between February 1887 and March 1891. General Pope died on 

September 23, 1892, at the Ohio Soldiers' Home near 

Sandusky, Ohio. He is buried beside his wife in Bellefontaine 

Cemetery, St. Louis, Missouri.  

George Meade 

George Gordon Meade (December 31, 1815 – November 6, 

1872) was a United States Army officer and civil engineer best 

known for decisively defeating Confederate General Robert E. 
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Lee at the Battle of Gettysburg in the American Civil War. He 

previously fought with distinction in the Second Seminole War 

and the Mexican–American War. During the Civil War, he 

served as a Union general, rising from command of a brigade to 

that of the Army of the Potomac. Earlier in his career, he was 

an engineer and was involved in the coastal construction of 

several lighthouses.  

Meade's Civil War combat experience started as a brigade 

commander in the Peninsula Campaign and the Seven Days 

Battles. He was severely wounded while leading his brigade at 

the Battle of Glendale. As a division commander, he had 

notable success at the Battle of South Mountain and assumed 

temporary corps command at the Battle of Antietam. Meade's 

division was arguably the most successful of any at the Battle 

of Fredericksburg in December. It was part of a force charged 

with driving the Confederate troops under Stonewall Jackson 

back from their position on Prospect Hill. The division made it 

further than any other, but was forced to turn back due to a 

lack of reinforcements. Meade was promoted to commander of 

the V Corps, which he led during the Battle of Chancellorsville.  

During the Gettysburg Campaign, he was appointed to 

command the Army of the Potomac just three days before the 

Battle of Gettysburg. Arriving on the field after the first day's 

action on July 1, Meade organized his army on favorable 

ground to fight an effective defensive battle against Robert E. 

Lee's Army of Northern Virginia, repelling a series of massive 

assaults throughout the next two days. Lee was forced to 

retreat to Virginia, ending his hope of winning the war through 

a successful invasion of the North. This victory was marred by 

Meade's ineffective pursuit during the retreat, allowing Lee and 
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his army to escape instead of completely destroying them. The 

Union Army also failed to follow up on its success during the 

Bristoe Campaign and Battle of Mine Run that fall, which 

ended inconclusively. Meade suffered from intense political 

rivalries within the Army, notably with Daniel Sickles, who 

tried to discredit his role in the victory at Gettysburg.  

In 1864–65, Meade continued to command the Army of the 

Potomac through the Overland Campaign, the Richmond–

Petersburg Campaign, and the Appomattox Campaign, but he 

was overshadowed by the direct supervision of the general-in-

chief, Lt. Gen. Ulysses S. Grant, who accompanied him 

throughout these campaigns. Grant conducted most of the 

strategy during these campaigns, leaving Meade with 

significantly less influence than before. His image was harmed 

by his notoriously short temper and disdain for the press. After 

the war, he commanded several important departments during 

Reconstruction.  

Early life and education 

George Gordon Meade was born on December 31, 1815 in 

Cádiz, Spain, the eighth of eleven children of Richard Worsam 

Meade and Margaret Coats Butler. His family were 

Pennsylvanians of Catholic Irish descent. His father, of a 

Philadelphia merchant family, had become wealthy in the 

American–Spanish trade and was appointed U.S. naval agent. 

He was ruined financially because of his support of Spain in 

the Peninsular War; his family returned to the United States in 

1817, in precarious financial straits. He died in 1828 when 

Meade was not yet a teenager.  
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His elder brother Richard Worsam Meade II became a naval 

officer, primarily for financial reasons, while several sisters 

married military men. Likewise young George attended the 

American Classical and Military Lyceum in Philadelphia, the 

Mount Hope Institution in Baltimore and entered the United 

States Military Academy at West Point in 1831. He graduated 

19th in his class of 56 cadets in 1835. Meade was 

commissioned a brevet second lieutenant in the 3rd US 

Artillery, his first assignment being in Florida, fighting against 

the Seminole Indians. He became a full second lieutenant by 

year's end, and in the fall of 1836, he resigned from the army, 

a career he had not intended to pursue, even while attending 

West Point. He worked as a civil engineer for the Alabama, 

Georgia, and Florida Railroad and for the War Department.  

On December 31, 1840 (his birthday), he married Margaretta 

Sergeant, daughter of John Sergeant, running mate of Henry 

Clay in the 1832 presidential election. They had seven children 

together: John Sergeant Meade; George Meade (who became a 

colonel in the US Army); Margaret Butler Meade; Spencer 

Meade; Sarah Wise Meade; Henrietta Meade; and William 

Meade.  

Early career 

Finding steady civilian employment was difficult for the newly 

married man, so he reentered the army in 1842 as a second 

lieutenant in the Corps of Topographical Engineers. Meade 

served in the Mexican–American War, assigned to the staffs of 

Generals Zachary Taylor, William J. Worth, and Robert 

Patterson. He was brevetted to first lieutenant for gallant 

conduct at the Battle of Monterrey.  
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After that war he was chiefly involved in lighthouse and 

breakwater construction and coastal surveying in Florida and 

New Jersey. He designed Barnegat Light on Long Beach Island, 

Absecon Light in Atlantic City, Cape May Light in Cape May, 

Jupiter Inlet Light in Jupiter, Florida, and Sombrero Key Light 

in the Florida Keys. He also designed a hydraulic lamp that 

was adopted by the Lighthouse Board for use in American 

lighthouses. Meade received an official promotion to first 

lieutenant in 1851, and to captain in 1856.  

In 1857, Meade relieved Lt. Col. James Kearney on the Lakes 

Survey mission of the Great Lakes. Completion of the survey of 

Lake Huron and extension of the surveys of Lake Michigan 

down to Grand and Little Traverse Bays were done under his 

command. Prior to Captain Meade's command, Great Lakes' 

water level readings were taken locally with temporary gauges; 

a uniform plane of reference had not been established. In 

1858, based on his recommendation, instrumentation was set 

in place for the tabulation of records across the basin. In 

1860, the first detailed report of Great Lakes was published. 

Meade stayed with the Lakes Survey until the 1861 outbreak of 

the Civil War.  

American Civil War 

Early commands 

Meade was appointed brigadier general of volunteers on August 

31, 1861, a few months after the start of the American Civil 

War, based on the strong recommendation of Pennsylvania 

Governor Andrew Curtin. He was assigned command of the 2nd 
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Brigade of the Pennsylvania Reserves, recruited early in the 

war, which he led competently, initially in the construction of 

defenses around Washington, D.C.  

He eventually came to command a brigade in the Pennsylvania 

Reserves Division of the Army of the Potomac. In early 1862, 

with the army being reorganized into corps, Meade served as 

part of the I Corps under Maj. Gen Irvin McDowell. The I Corps 

was stationed in the Rappahannock area, but in June, the 

Pennsylvania Reserves were detached and sent to the 

Peninsula to reinforce the main army. With the onset of the 

Seven Days Battles on June 25, the Reserves were in the thick 

of the fighting. At Mechanicsville and Gaines Mill, Meade's 

brigade was mostly held in reserve, but at Glendale on June 

30, it was heavily engaged and Meade was shot three times, in 

the arm, leg, and back. He partially recovered his strength in 

time for the Northern Virginia Campaign and the Second Battle 

of Bull Run, in which he led his brigade, then assigned to Maj. 

Gen. Irvin McDowell's corps of the Army of Virginia. His 

brigade made a heroic stand on Henry House Hill to protect the 

rear of the retreating Union Army. At the start of the Maryland 

Campaign a few days later, he received command of the 3rd 

Division, I Corps, Army of the Potomac, and distinguished 

himself during the Battle of South Mountain. When Meade's 

brigade stormed the heights at South Mountain, Maj. Gen. 

Joseph Hooker, his corps commander, was heard to exclaim, 

"Look at Meade! Why, with troops like those, led in that way, I 

can win anything!" In the Battle of Antietam, Meade replaced 

the wounded Hooker in command of I Corps, selected 

personally by McClellan over other generals his superior in 

rank. He performed well at Antietam, but was wounded in the 

thigh.  
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During the Battle of Fredericksburg, Meade's division made the 

only breakthrough of the Confederate lines, spearheading 

through a gap in Lt. Gen. Thomas J. "Stonewall" Jackson's 

corps at the southern end of the battlefield. For this action, 

Meade was promoted to major general of volunteers, to rank 

from November 29, 1862, and major in the regular army, to 

rank from June 18. However, his attack was not reinforced, 

resulting in the loss of much of his division. After the battle, 

he was briefly elevated from divisional command to command 

of the entire Center Grand Division over numerous senior 

generals, skipping corps command entirely. After Hooker's 

dissolution of the grand division system, Meade received 

command of V Corps, which he led in the Battle of 

Chancellorsville the following spring. General Hooker, then 

commanding the Army of the Potomac, had grand plans for the 

campaign, but was unsuccessful in execution, allowing the 

Confederates to seize the initiative. Meade's corps was left in 

reserve for most of the battle, contributing to the Union defeat. 

Afterward, Meade argued strongly with Hooker for resuming the 

attack against Lee, but to no avail.  

Army of the Potomac and Gettysburg 

• Hooker resigned from command of the Army of the 

Potomac while pursuing Lee in the Gettysburg 

Campaign. In the early morning hours of June 28, 

1863, a messenger from President Abraham Lincoln 

arrived to inform Meade of his appointment as 

Hooker's replacement. Meade was taken by surprise 

and later wrote to his wife that when the officer 

entered his tent to wake him, he assumed that Army 

politics had caught up with him and he was being 
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arrested. He had not actively sought command and 

was not the president's first choice. John F. 

Reynolds, one of four major generals who outranked 

Meade in the Army of the Potomac, had earlier 

turned down the president's suggestion that he take 

over. 

Meade assumed command at Prospect Hall in Frederick, 

Maryland. Lee's Army of Northern Virginia was invading 

Pennsylvania and, as a former corps commander, Meade had 

little knowledge of the disposition of the rest of his new army. 

Having known Meade during the Mexican War, Lee declared 

that Meade would make no blunders in his front and that if he 

(Lee) did so, Meade would readily exploit them. Only three days 

later Meade confronted Lee in the pivotal Battle of Gettysburg, 

July 1–3, 1863. The battle began almost by accident, as the 

result of a chance meeting engagement between Confederate 

infantry and Union cavalry in Gettysburg on July 1. By the end 

of the first day, two Union infantry corps had been almost 

destroyed, but had taken up positions on favorable ground. 

Meade rushed the remainder of his army to Gettysburg and 

skillfully deployed his forces for a defensive battle, reacting 

swiftly to fierce assaults on his line's left, right, and center, 

culminating in Lee's disastrous assault on the center, known 

as Pickett's Charge.  

During the three days, Meade made excellent use of capable 

subordinates, such as Maj. Gens. John F. Reynolds and 

Winfield S. Hancock, to whom he delegated great 

responsibilities. Unfortunately for Meade's reputation, he did 

not skillfully manage the political manipulators he inherited 

from Hooker. Maj. Gens. Daniel Sickles, III Corps commander, 
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and Daniel Butterfield, Meade's chief of staff, caused him 

difficulty later in the war, questioning his command decisions 

and courage. Sickles had developed a personal vendetta 

against Meade because of Sickles's allegiance to Joseph 

Hooker, whom Meade had replaced, and because of 

controversial disagreements at Gettysburg. Sickles had either 

mistakenly or deliberately disregarded Meade's orders about 

placing his corps in the defensive line, which led to that corps' 

destruction and placed the entire army at risk on the second 

day of battle. Radical Republicans, some of whom like 

Thaddeus Stevens were former Know Nothings and hostile to 

Irish Catholics like Meade's family, in the Joint Committee on 

the Conduct of the War suspected that Meade was a 

Copperhead and tried in vain to relieve him from command.  

Following their severe losses at Gettysburg, General Lee's army 

retreated to Virginia. Meade was criticized by President Lincoln 

and others for not aggressively pursuing the Confederates 

during their retreat. Meade's perceived caution stemmed from 

three causes: causualties and exhaustion of the Army of the 

Potomac which had engaged in forced marches and heavy 

fighting for a week, heavy general officer casualties that 

impeded effective command and control, and a desire to guard 

a hard won victory against a sudden reversal.  

At one point, the Army of Northern Virginia was trapped with 

its back to the rain-swollen, almost impassable Potomac River, 

however, the Army of Northern Virginia was able to erect 

strong defensive positions before Meade, whose army had also 

been weakened by the fighting, could organize an effective 

attack. Lincoln believed that this wasted an opportunity to end 

the war and was concerned by an exultant message from Meade 
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that the enemy had been driven from "our soil." Lincoln heard 

echoes of McClellan in this. Nonetheless, Meade was rewarded 

for his actions at Gettysburg by a promotion to brigadier 

general in the regular army and the Thanks of Congress, which 

commended Meade "... and the officers and soldiers of [the 

Army of the Potomac], for the skill and heroic valor which at 

Gettysburg repulsed, defeated, and drove back, broken and 

dispirited, beyond the Rappahannock, the veteran army of the 

rebellion." Meade wrote the following to his wife after meeting 

President Lincoln:  

Yesterday I received an order to repair to Washington, to see 

the President. ... The President was, as he always is, very 

considerate and kind. He found no fault with my operations, 

although it was very evident he was disappointed that I had 

not got a battle out of Lee. He coincided with me that there was 

not much to be gained by any farther advance; but General 

Halleck was very urgent that something should be done, but 

what that something was he did not define. As the Secretary of 

War was absent in Tennessee, final action was postponed till 

his return. 

• —  General Meade 

During the rest of the campaigning season in 1863, Meade was 

hobbled by the transfer of his XI and XII Corps to the Western 

Theater. Meade outmaneuvered Lee in the Bristoe Campaign, 

gaining a small victory. But his Mine Run Campaign failed 

when General French and the Third Corps bogged down.  

Meade was a competent man and outwardly modest, although 

wartime correspondence with his wife reveal his ego and 

ambition. A British reporter described Meade: "He is a very 
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remarkable looking man—tall, spare, of a commanding figure 

in presence, his manner pleasant and easy but having much 

dignity. His head is partially bald and is small and compact, 

but the forehead is high. He has the late Duke of Wellington 

class of nose, and his eyes, which have a serious and almost 

sad expression, are rather sunken, or appear so from the 

prominence of the curve nasal appearance. He has a decidedly 

patrician and distinguished appearance." Meade's short temper 

earned him notoriety, and while he was respected by most of 

his peers, he at times was not well loved by his army. Some 

referred to him as "a damned old goggle-eyed snapping turtle."  

Meade and Grant 

When Lt. Gen. Ulysses S. Grant was appointed commander of 

all Union armies in March 1864, Meade offered to resign. He 

stated the task at hand was of such importance that he would 

not stand in the way of Grant choosing the right man for the 

job and offered to serve wherever placed. Grant assured Meade 

he had no intentions of replacing him. Grant later wrote that 

this incident gave him a more favorable opinion of Meade than 

the great victory at Gettysburg.  

Grant made his headquarters with Meade for the remainder of 

the war, which caused Meade to chafe at the close supervision 

he received. Following an incident in June 1864, in which 

Meade disciplined reporter Edward Cropsey from The 

Philadelphia Inquirer newspaper for an unfavorable article, all 

of the press assigned to his army agreed to mention Meade 

only in conjunction with setbacks. Meade apparently knew 

nothing of this arrangement, and the reporters giving all of the 

credit to Grant angered Meade.  
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Additional differences caused further friction between Grant 

and Meade. Waging a war of attrition in his Overland Campaign 

against Robert E. Lee, Grant was willing to suffer previously 

unacceptable losses with the knowledge that the Union Army 

had replacement soldiers available, whereas the Confederates 

did not.  

Meade, despite his aggressive performance in lesser commands 

in 1862, had become a more cautious general and more 

concerned about the futility of attacking entrenched positions. 

Most of the bloody repulses his army suffered in the Overland 

Campaign were ordered by Grant, although the aggressive 

maneuvering that eventually cornered Lee in the trenches 

around Petersburg were Grant's initiative as well.  

Meade was additionally frustrated by the manner in which 

Grant sometimes gave preferable treatment to subordinates 

that he had brought with him from the Western Theater. A 

primary example of this was Grant's interference with Meade's 

direction of Maj. Gen. Philip Sheridan's Cavalry Corps. The 

Army of the Potomac had used cavalry for couriers, scouting, 

and headquarters guards for most of its existence. Only Joe 

Hooker had contemplated using them in an aggressive fashion, 

and Meade had largely continued established practice. 

Sheridan objected and told Meade that he could "whip Stuart" 

if Meade let him. Meade reported the conversation to Grant, 

who replied, "Well, he generally knows what he is talking 

about. Let him start right out and do it." Meade deferred to 

Grant's judgment and issued orders to Sheridan to "proceed 

against the enemy's cavalry" and from May 9 through May 24, 

sent him on a raid toward Richmond, directly challenging the 

Confederate cavalry.  
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• Although Meade generally performed effectively 

under Grant's supervision in the Overland Campaign 

and the Richmond-Petersburg Campaign, a few 

instances of bad judgment marred his legacy. During 

the Battle of Cold Harbor, Meade inadequately 

supervised his corps commanders and did not insist 

they perform reconnaissance before their disastrous 

frontal assault. Inexplicably, Meade wrote to his wife 

immediately after the attack and expressed pride 

that it was he who had ordered the attack. During 

the initial assaults on Petersburg, Meade again failed 

to coordinate the attacks of his corps before General 

Lee could reinforce the line, resulting in the ten-

month stalemate, the Siege of Petersburg. He 

approved the plan of Maj. Gen. Ambrose Burnside to 

plant explosives in a mine shaft dug underneath the 

Confederate line east of Petersburg, but at the last 

minute he changed Burnside's plan to lead the 

attack with a well-trained African-American division 

that was highly drilled just for this action, 

instructing him to take a politically less risky course 

and substitute an untrained and poorly led white 

division. The resulting Battle of the Crater was one 

of the great fiascoes of the war. In all of these cases, 

Grant bears some of the responsibility for approving 

Meade's plans, but Meade's performance was not at 

the same level of competence he displayed on other 

occasions.After Spotsylvania, Grant requested that 

Meade be promoted to major general of the regular 

army. In a telegram to Secretary of War Edwin 

Stanton on May 13, 1864, Grant stated that "Meade 

has more than met my most sanguine expectations. 
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He and [William T.] Sherman are the fittest officers 

for large commands I have come in contact with." 

Meade felt slighted that his promotion was processed 

after that of Sherman and Philip Sheridan, the latter 

his subordinate. However, his date of rank meant 

that he was outranked at the end of the war only by 

Grant, Halleck, and Sherman. Although he fought 

during the Appomattox Campaign, Grant and 

Sheridan received most of the credit. He was not 

present when Robert E. Lee surrendered at 

Appomattox Court House. 

Command decisions 

Meade's decisions in command of the Army of the Potomac 

have been the focus of controversy. He has been accused of not 

being aggressive enough in pursuit of Confederate forces, and 

being reluctant to attack on occasion. His reputation among 

the public and 19th century historians suffered as a result of 

his short temper, his bad relationship with the press, his place 

in the shadow of the victorious Grant, and particularly the 

damaging fallout from the controversies with Dan Sickles. 

Recent historical works have portrayed him in a more positive 

light.  

They have acknowledged that Meade displayed and acted upon 

an understanding of the necessary changes in tactics brought 

about by improvements in weapons technology, such as his 

decisions to entrench when practicable and not to launch 

frontal assaults on fortified positions. In addition, the Army of 

the Potomac had suffered very heavily at Gettysburg, with over 

20,000 casualties and the loss of many of its best officers and 
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enlisted men, including three corps commanders, and Meade 

may have been fully justified in not attempting a rapid pursuit 

with his army in such a battered condition.  

Later life and death 

In 1865, Meade was admitted as an honorary member of the 

Pennsylvania Society of the Cincinnati.  

Meade was a commissioner of Fairmount Park in Philadelphia 

from 1866 until his death. The people of Philadelphia gave his 

widow a house at 1836 Delancey Place, where he lived. The 

house still has the word "Meade" over the door, but it is now 

used as apartments. He also held various military commands, 

including the Department of the East and the Department of 

the South. He replaced Major General John Pope as governor of 

the Reconstruction Third Military District in Atlanta on 

January 10, 1868.  

In 1869, following Grant's inauguration as President, Sherman 

succeeded him to the rank of General of the Army, opening up 

the Lieutenant General rank. At the time, the senior most 

Major Generals were Halleck (who, by then, was an outcast), 

and then Meade. Prior the inauguration, Meade met with Grant 

and intimated that he felt most deserving of the rank, by virtue 

of merit and seniority; nevertheless, Grant nominated Sheridan 

to the rank over the senior Meade, and the latter effectively 

served in semi-retirement as the commander of the Military 

Division of the Atlantic from his home in Philadelphia.  

Meade received an honorary doctorate in law (LL.D.) from 

Harvard University, and his scientific achievements were 
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recognized by various institutions, including the American 

Philosophical Society and the Philadelphia Academy of Natural 

Sciences.  

Having long suffered from complications caused by his war 

wounds, Meade died on November 6, 1872 at the age of 56, still 

on active duty, following a battle with pneumonia. He was 

buried at Laurel Hill Cemetery.  

Legacy 

There are statues memorializing Meade throughout the United 

States, including statues at Gettysburg National Military Park, 

the George Gordon Meade Memorial statue by Charles Grafly, 

in Washington DC, and both the equestrian statue by 

Alexander Milne Calder and one by Daniel Chester French atop 

the Smith Memorial Arch, both in Fairmount Park in 

Philadelphia.  

The United States Army's Fort George G. Meade in Fort Meade, 

Maryland, is named for him, as are Meade County, Kansas, and 

Meade County, South Dakota. The Old Baldy Civil War Round 

Table in Philadelphia is named in honor of Meade's horse 

during the war. In World War II, the United States liberty ship 

SS George G. Meade was named in his honor.  

One-thousand-dollar Treasury notes, also called Coin notes, of 

the Series 1890 and 1891, feature portraits of Meade on the 

obverse. The 1890 Series note is called the Grand Watermelon 

Note by collectors, because the large zeroes on the reverse 

resemble the pattern on a watermelon.  
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In 2015 General Meade was elected posthumously as a 

companion of the Pennsylvania Commandery of the Military 

Order of the Loyal Legion of the United States (MOLLUS). 

During his life, Meade was invited to join MOLLUS but refused.  

Notable descendants 

• George Meade Easby, great-grandson. 

• Matthew Fox, actor and great-great-great-grandson . 

• Happy Rockefeller, great-great-granddaughter. 

Living descendants 

• Wallace B. Meade Jr., great-great-nephew 

• Jennifer Meade, great-great-great-niece 

Edward Ord 

Edward OthoCresap Ord (October 18, 1818 – July 22, 1883) 

was an American engineer and United States Army officer who 

saw action in the Seminole War, the Indian Wars, and the 

American Civil War. He commanded an army during the final 

days of the Civil War, and was instrumental in forcing the 

surrender of Confederate General Robert E. Lee. He also 

designed Fort Sam Houston. He died in Havana, Cuba of yellow 

fever.  

Early life and career 

• Ord was born in Cumberland, Maryland, the son of 

James and Rebecca Ord. Family tradition made 



Encyclopedia of Great Powers and the First World War: 1870–1918, Volume 3 
 

473 

James Ord the illegitimate son of George IV of the 

United Kingdom and Maria Fitzherbert but he seems 

likely to have been the son of Ralph Ord, who was 

baptised at Wapping, Middlesex, in 1757, the son of 

John Ord, a factor (agent) from Berwick-upon-Tweed. 

Edward Ord was considered a mathematical genius 

and was appointed to the United States Military 

Academy by President Andrew Jackson. His 

roommate at West Point was future general William 

Tecumseh Sherman. He graduated in 1839 and was 

commissioned a second lieutenant in the 3rd U.S. 

Artillery. He fought in the Second Seminole War in 

Florida and was promoted to first lieutenant. In 

January 1847, Ord sailed on the USS Lexington 

around Cape Horn with Henry Halleck and William 

Tecumseh Sherman. He arrived in Monterey, 

California, and assumed command of Battery F, 3rd 

U.S. Artillery, with orders to complete Fort Mervine, 

which was renamed Fort Halleck. Its construction 

was superintended by Lieutenant Ord and his second 

in command, Lieutenant Sherman. On February 17, 

1865, the fort was renamed Ord Barracks. In 1904, 

it was renamed to honor the original Presidio of 

Monterey.  

Ord was in California when the gold rush began, with its 

resultant skyrocketing prices. Since their military salaries no 

longer covered living expenses, Ord's commander suggested 

that the younger officers take on other jobs to supplement 

their income. In the fall of 1848, Ord and Sherman, in the 

employ of John Augustus Sutter, Jr., assisted Captain William 

H. Warner of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in the survey of 
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Sacramento, California, helping to produce the map that 

established the future capital city's extensive downtown street 

grid. Ord also produced a map of the Gold and Quicksilver 

district of California dated July 25, 1848. Later, Los Angeles 

officials needed to have a survey of the public lands in order to 

sell them, and Ord was hired as the surveyor.  

He chose William Rich Hutton as his assistant, and together 

the two mapped Los Angeles in July and August 1849. Thanks 

to the efforts of these two men, historians have a fairly good 

view of what the Pueblo de Los Angeles looked like at the 

middle of the 19th century. Lieutenant Ord surveyed the 

pueblo and his assistant Hutton sketched many scenes of the 

pueblo and drew the first map from Ord's survey. The Los 

Angeles City Archives has the original map produced by Hutton 

from Ord's survey. Ord was paid $3000 for his work on this 

survey. La Reina De Los Angeles, published in 1929, states 

that Ord was offered 160 acres of public land and 10 building 

sites all in the present downtown business district but 

accepted the $3000 instead.  

Ord was promoted to captain in 1850, while serving in the 

Pacific Northwest. He married Mary Mercer Thompson on 

October 14, 1854, and they eventually had thirteen children. 

One of their notable children was Jules Garesche Ord, who was 

killed in action after reaching the top of San Juan Hill in 

Cuba. He was the officer who started and led the charge which 

Teddy Roosevelt followed. Another was Edward OthoCresap 

Ord, II, who was also a United States Army Major who served 

with the 22nd Infantry Regiment during the Indian Wars, the 

Spanish–American War and the Philippine–American War. He 

was also a painter, inventor and poet. The son of Edward 
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OthoCresap Ord, II and grandson of Edward Ord was James 

Garesche Ord, who commanded the 28th Infantry Division and 

was Chairman of the Joint U.S.–Brazil Defense Commission in 

World War II.  

In 1859, while attending artillery school at Fort Monroe, 

Virginia, Ord was summoned by Secretary of War John B. 

Floyd to quell John Brown's raid on the Harpers Ferry Federal 

arsenal. However, Col. Robert E. Lee reached Harpers Ferry 

first, and Colonel Lee telegraphed to Captain Ord that the 

situation was under control and Ord and his men would not be 

needed at Harpers Ferry. They were instructed to halt at Fort 

McHenry in Baltimore.  

Civil War service 

At the outbreak of the Civil War in April 1861, Ord was serving 

as Captain of Battery C, 3rd U.S. Artillery, and also as post 

commander at the U.S. Army's Fort Vancouver in Washington 

Territory. On May 7, 1861, Ord led two companies of the 3rd 

Artillery from Fort Vancouver to San Francisco. After relocating 

to the east, Ord's first assignment was as a brigade 

commander in the Pennsylvania Reserves. In this capacity, he 

figured prominently in the Battle of Dranesville in the fall of 

1861.  

On May 3, 1862, Ord was promoted to the rank of major 

general of volunteers and, after briefly serving in the 

Department of the Rappahannock, was assigned command of 

the 2nd Division of the Army of the Tennessee. Maj. Gen. 

Ulysses S. Grant sent Ord with a detachment of two divisions 

along with Maj. Gen. William S. Rosecrans's forces to intercept 
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Sterling Price at the town of Iuka. Due to a possible acoustic 

shadow Ord's forces were never engaged and Rosecrans fought 

alone. Ord likewise missed the fighting at Corinth but engaged 

the Confederate forces in their retreat at the Battle of Hatchie's 

Bridge. There he was seriously wounded and had to leave field 

command only for a short time.  

When Grant relieved Maj. Gen. John A. McClernand from his 

command, Ord was conveniently situated to assume command 

of the XIII Corps during the final days of the Siege of 

Vicksburg.  

After the fall of Vicksburg, Ord remained in command of the 

XIII Corps in the Department of the Gulf. In 1864, he was 

transferred back to the Eastern Theater to assume command of 

the XVIII Corps. His forces were present during the Battle of 

the Crater but did not actively participate in the fighting. In 

the fall of 1864 he was seriously wounded in the attack on Fort 

Harrison and did not return to action until January 1865.  

In March 1865, during a prisoner exchange in Virginia, Ord 

spoke with Confederate General James Longstreet. During their 

conversation, the subject of peace talks came up. Ord 

suggested that a first step might be for Lee and Grant to have 

a meeting. General Longstreet carried this idea back to General 

Lee, who wrote to Grant about the possibility of a "military 

convention" in the interest of finding what Lee called "a 

satisfactory adjustment of the present unhappy difficulties". 

Grant forwarded Lee's proposal to President Abraham Lincoln, 

with a request for instructions. In the end, Lincoln directed 

Grant to decline all such offers unless it was for the explicit 

purpose of accepting the surrender of Lee's army.  
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It was at this time, during the spring of 1865, that Ord's career 

peaked. He was assigned command of the Army of the James 

during the Appomattox Campaign. Maj. Gen. John Gibbon's 

corps of Ord's army played a significant role in the 

breakthrough at Petersburg. On April 9, he led a forced march 

to Appomattox Court House to relieve Maj. Gen. Philip H. 

Sheridan's cavalry and force Lee's surrender. General Sherman 

said that he "had always understood that [Ord's] skillful, hard 

march the night before was one of the chief causes of Lee's 

surrender."  

General Ord was present at the McLean house when Lee 

surrendered, and is often pictured in paintings of this event. 

When the surrender ceremony was complete, Ord purchased as 

a souvenir, for $40, the marble-topped table at which Lee had 

sat. It now resides in the Chicago Historical Society's Civil War 

Room.  

After Abraham Lincoln's assassination on April 14, 1865, many 

in the North, including Ulysses S. Grant, wanted strong 

retribution on the Southern states. Grant called upon Ord to 

find out if the assassination conspiracy extended beyond 

Washington, D.C. Ord's investigation determined the 

Confederate government was not involved with the 

assassination plot. This helped greatly to quench the call for 

revenge on the former Confederate states and people.  

Postbellum 

During Reconstruction, Ord was assigned by Lt. Gen. Ulysses 

S. Grant to command the Army of Occupation, headquartered 

at Richmond. Subsequently, he was assigned to the 
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Department of the Ohio until he was mustered out of the 

volunteers in September 1866. On December 11, 1865, he 

received the commissions of lieutenant colonel and brigadier 

general in the regular army for the Battle of Hatchie's Bridge 

and brevet major general of volunteers for the assault of Fort 

Harrison, all dating from March 13, 1865.  

Subsequently, he commanded the Department of Arkansas 

(1866–67), the Fourth Military District (1867–68), and the 

Department of California (1868–71).  

Ord commanded the Department of the Platte from December 

11, 1871, until April 11, 1875, when he was reassigned as the 

commander of the Department of Texas. He served in that role 

until his retirement on December 6, 1880. While he was 

stationed in Texas, he supervised the construction of Fort Sam 

Houston.  

In January 1872, Ord was a member of the buffalo hunting 

excursion with the Grand Duke Alexei Alexandrovich of Russia 

on the plains of southwest Nebraska with American celebrities 

of the day. They included Philip Sheridan (second in command 

of the United States Army), Lt. Col. George Armstrong Custer, 

Buffalo Bill Cody, Wild Bill Hickock, and Texas Jack 

Omohundro.  

During 1872, Col. Ord and a soldier detachment were assigned 

to protect the survey parties of the Wheeler Survey as they 

worked in the vicinity of northeastern Utah.  

In 1876, Ord was appointed military governor of the Fourth 

Military District which included Mississippi and Arkansas.  
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Ord retired from the army in 1881 with the rank of brevet 

major general, and at this time, General Sherman wrote of him, 

"He has had all the hard knocks of service, and never was on 

soft or fancy duty. He has always been called on when hard 

duty was expected, and never flinched."  

Later in 1881, Ord was hired by his former commander, U. S. 

Grant, president of the Mexican Southern Railroad, owned by 

Jay Gould, as a civil engineer to build a railroad line from 

Texas to Mexico City.  

In 1882, Ord's daughter, Roberta, married prominent Mexican 

general JerónimoTreviño.  

While working in Mexico, Ord contracted yellow fever. He 

became seriously sick while on his way from Vera Cruz to New 

York. He was taken ashore at Havana, Cuba, where he died in 

the evening of July 22, 1883. On the occasion of his death, 

General Sherman said of Ord, "As his intimate associate since 

boyhood, the General here bears testimony of him that a more 

unselfish, manly, and patriotic person never lived". He was 

buried at Arlington National Cemetery, in Arlington, Virginia.  

General Ord's son, Edward O. C. Ord, Jr., was also an Army 

officer. Ord, Jr. was a hereditary member of the Military Order 

of the Loyal Legion of the United States, the Sons of the 

American Revolution and the Sons of the Revolution.  

Legacy 

• Well before his death, the Southern Pacific Railroad 

named a station in California, along its now-
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abandoned Colusa Branch, Ord Bend as recognition 

of the nearby Ord Ranch, owned in the 1850s by Ord 

and two of his brothers. 

• The former Fort Ord, now Fort Ord National 

Monument, in Monterey County, California, was 

named for him. 

• Ord, Nebraska, was named in his honor while he was 

serving as commander of the Department of the 

Platte. 

• Peaks named Mount Ord in Brewster County, Texas 

and Mount Ord in Maricopa County, Arizona are 

named for him. 

• There is a bronze statue of Ord at Vicksburg 

National Military Park. 

• There is a bust of Ord on display in the foyer of the 

University Police Department at California State 

University, Monterey Bay, in Seaside, California. 

• The Ord-Weitzel Gate is inscribed with his name at 

Arlington National Cemetery, but was relocated and 

modified. 

• There is a bust of Ord at Grant's Tomb in New York 

City depicting him as one of five (Sherman, Thomas, 

McPherson, Sheridan, and Ord) sentinels watching 

over the tomb of President Ulysses S. Grant. 

• There is a street in Chinatown, Los Angeles, 

California that is named after him called Ord Street. 

There is also an Ord Street in San Francisco named 

for him. 

• Ord Street NE in Washington, DC is named for him. 
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Philip Sheridan 

Philip Henry Sheridan (March 6, 1831 – August 5, 1888) was 

a career United States Army officer and a Union general in the 

American Civil War. His career was noted for his rapid rise to 

major general and his close association with General-in-chief 

Ulysses S. Grant, who transferred Sheridan from command of 

an infantry division in the Western Theater to lead the Cavalry 

Corps of the Army of the Potomac in the East. In 1864, he 

defeated Confederate forces under General Jubal Early in the 

Shenandoah Valley and his destruction of the economic 

infrastructure of the Valley, called "The Burning" by residents, 

was one of the first uses of scorched-earth tactics in the war. 

In 1865, his cavalry pursued Gen. Robert E. Lee and was 

instrumental in forcing his surrender at Appomattox.  

Sheridan fought in later years in the Indian Wars of the Great 

Plains. Both as a soldier and private citizen, he was 

instrumental in the development and protection of Yellowstone 

National Park. In 1883, Sheridan was appointed general-in-

chief of the U.S. Army, and in 1888 he was promoted to the 

rank of General of the Army during the term of President 

Grover Cleveland.  

Early life and education 

Sheridan claimed he was born in Albany in the State of New 

York, the third child of six of John and Mary Meenagh 

Sheridan, Irish Catholic immigrants from the parish of 

Killinkere in County Cavan, Ireland. He grew up in Somerset, 

Ohio. Fully grown, he reached only 165 cm (5 feet 5 inches) 
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tall, a stature that led to the nickname, "Little Phil." Abraham 

Lincoln described his appearance in a famous anecdote: "A 

brown, chunky little chap, with a long body, short legs, not 

enough neck to hang him, and such long arms that if his 

ankles itch he can scratch them without stooping."  

Sheridan worked as a boy in town general stores, and 

eventually as head clerk and bookkeeper for a dry goods store. 

In 1848, he obtained an appointment to the United States 

Military Academy from one of his customers, Congressman 

Thomas Ritchey; Ritchey's first candidate for the appointment 

was disqualified by failing an examination of mathematics skill 

and a "poor attitude." In his third year at West Point, Sheridan 

was suspended for a year for fighting with a classmate, William 

R. Terrill. The previous day, Sheridan had threatened to run 

him through with a bayonet in reaction to a perceived insult on 

the parade ground. He graduated in 1853, 34th in his class of 

52 cadets.  

Sheridan was commissioned as a brevet second lieutenant and 

was assigned to the 1st U.S. Infantry Regiment at Fort Duncan, 

Texas, then to the 4th U.S. Infantry Regiment at Fort Reading, 

California. Most of his service with the 4th Infantry was in the 

Pacific Northwest, starting with a topographical survey mission 

to the Willamette Valley in 1855, during which he became 

involved with the Yakima War and Rogue River Wars, gaining 

experience in leading small combat teams, being wounded (a 

bullet grazed his nose on March 28, 1857, at Middle Cascade, 

Oregon Territory), and some of the diplomatic skills needed for 

negotiating with Indian tribes. He lived with a mistress during 

part of his tour of duty, an Indian Rogue River woman and 

daughter of Takelma Chief Harney, named Frances by her 
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white friends. He was promoted to first lieutenant in March 

1861, just before the Civil War, and to captain in May, 

immediately after Fort Sumter.  

Civil War 

Western Theater 

In the fall of 1861, Sheridan was ordered to travel to Jefferson 

Barracks, near St. Louis, Missouri, for assignment to the 13th 

U.S. Infantry. He departed from his command of Fort Yamhill, 

Oregon, by way of San Francisco, across the Isthmus of 

Panama, and through New York City to home in Somerset for a 

brief leave. On the way to his new post, he made a courtesy 

call to Maj. Gen. Henry W. Halleck in St. Louis, who 

commandeered his services to audit the financial records of his 

immediate predecessor, Maj. Gen. John C. Frémont, whose 

administration of the Department of the Missouri was tainted 

by charges of wasteful expenditures and fraud that left the 

status of $12 million in debt. Sheridan sorted out the mess, 

impressing Halleck in the process. Much to Sheridan's dismay, 

Halleck's vision for Sheridan consisted of a continuing role as 

a staff officer. Nevertheless, Sheridan performed the task 

assigned to him and entrenched himself as an excellent staff 

officer in Halleck's view. In December, Sheridan was appointed 

chief commissary officer of the Army of Southwest Missouri, 

but convinced the department commander, Halleck, to give him 

the position of quartermaster general as well. In January 1862, 

he reported for duty to Maj. Gen. Samuel Curtis and served 

under him at the Battle of Pea Ridge. Sheridan soon discovered 

that officers were engaged in profiteering. They stole horses 
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from civilians and demanded payment from Sheridan. He 

refused to pay for the stolen property and confiscated the 

horses for the use of Curtis's army. When Curtis ordered him 

to pay the officers, Sheridan brusquely retorted, "No authority 

can compel me to jayhawk or steal." Curtis had Sheridan 

arrested for insubordination but Halleck's influence appears to 

have ended any formal proceedings. Sheridan performed aptly 

in his role under Curtis and, now returned to Halleck's 

headquarters, he accompanied the army on the Siege of 

Corinth and served as an assistant to the department's 

topographical engineer, but also made the acquaintance of 

Brig. Gen. William T. Sherman, who offered him the colonelcy 

of an Ohio infantry regiment. This appointment fell through, 

but Sheridan was subsequently aided by friends (including 

future Secretary of War Russell A. Alger), who petitioned 

Michigan Governor Austin Blair on his behalf. Sheridan was 

appointed colonel of the 2nd Michigan Cavalry on May 27, 

1862, despite having no experience in the mounted arm.  

A month later, Sheridan commanded his first forces in combat, 

leading a small brigade that included his regiment. At the 

Battle of Booneville, Mississippi, July 1, 1862, he held back 

several regiments of Brig. Gen. James R. Chalmers's 

Confederate cavalry, deflected a large flanking attack with a 

noisy diversion, and reported critical intelligence about enemy 

dispositions. His actions so impressed the division 

commanders, including Brig. Gen. William S. Rosecrans, that 

they recommended Sheridan's promotion to brigadier general. 

They wrote to Halleck, "Brigadiers scarce; good ones scarce. ... 

The undersigned respectfully beg that you will obtain the 

promotion of Sheridan. He is worth his weight in gold." The 

promotion was approved in September, but dated effective July 
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1 as a reward for his actions at Booneville. It was just after 

Booneville that one of his fellow officers gave him the horse 

that he named Rienzi (after the skirmish of Rienzi, 

Mississippi), which he would ride throughout the war.  

Sheridan was assigned to command the 11th Division, III 

Corps, in Maj. Gen. Don Carlos Buell's Army of the Ohio. On 

October 8, 1862, Sheridan led his division in the Battle of 

Perryville. Under orders from Buell and his corps commander, 

Maj. Gen. Charles Gilbert, Sheridan sent Col. Daniel McCook's 

brigade to secure a water supply for the army. McCook drove 

off the Confederates and secured water for the parched Union 

troops at Doctor's Creek. Gilbert ordered McCook not to 

advance any further and then rode to consult with Buell. Along 

the way, Gilbert ordered his cavalry to attack the Confederates 

in Dan McCook's front. Sheridan heard the gunfire and came to 

the front with another brigade. Although the cavalry failed to 

secure the heights in front of McCook, Sheridan's 

reinforcements drove off the Southerners. Gilbert returned and 

ordered Sheridan to return to McCook's original position. 

Sheridan's aggressiveness convinced the opposing Confederates 

under Maj. Gen. Leonidas Polk, that they should remain on the 

defensive. His troops repelled Confederate attacks later that 

day, but did not participate in the heaviest fighting of the day, 

which occurred on the Union left.  

On December 31, 1862, the first day of the Battle of Stones 

River, Sheridan anticipated a Confederate assault and 

positioned his division in preparation for it. His division held 

back the Confederate onslaught on his front until their 

ammunition ran out and they were forced to withdraw. This 

action was instrumental in giving the Union army time to rally 
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at a strong defensive position. For his actions, he was 

promoted to major general on April 10, 1863 (with date of rank 

December 31, 1862). In six months, he had risen from captain 

to major general.  

The Army of the Cumberland recovered from the shock of 

Stones River and prepared for its summer offensive against 

Confederate General Braxton Bragg. Sheridan's division 

participated in the advance against Bragg in Rosecrans's 

brilliant Tullahoma Campaign, and was the lead division to 

enter the town of Tullahoma. On the second day of the Battle 

of Chickamauga, September 20, 1863, Rosecrans was shifting 

Sheridan's division behind the Union battle line when Bragg 

launched an attack into a gap in the Union line. Sheridan's 

division made a gallant stand on Lytle Hill against an attack by 

the Confederate corps of Lt. Gen. James Longstreet, but was 

swamped by retreating Union soldiers. The Confederates drove 

Sheridan's division from the field in confusion. He gathered as 

many men as he could and withdrew toward Chattanooga, 

rallying troops along the way. Learning of Maj. Gen. George H. 

Thomas's XIV Corps stand on Snodgrass Hill, Sheridan ordered 

his division back to the fighting, but they took a circuitous 

route and did not participate in the fighting as some histories 

claim. His return to the battlefield ensured that he did not 

suffer the fate of Rosecrans who rode off to Chattanooga 

leaving the army to its fate, and was soon relieved of command.  

During the Battle of Chattanooga, at Missionary Ridge on 

November 25, 1863, Sheridan's division and others in George 

Thomas's army broke through the Confederate lines in a wild 

charge that exceeded the orders and expectations of Thomas 

and Ulysses S. Grant. Just before his men stepped off, 
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Sheridan told them, "Remember Chickamauga," and many 

shouted its name as they advanced as ordered to a line of rifle 

pits in their front. Faced with enemy fire from above, however, 

they continued up the ridge. Sheridan spotted a group of 

Confederate officers outlined against the crest of the ridge and 

shouted, "Here's at you!" An exploding shell sprayed him with 

dirt and he responded, "That's damn ungenerous! I shall take 

those guns for that!" The Union charge broke through the 

Confederate lines on the ridge and Bragg's army fell into 

retreat. Sheridan impulsively ordered his men to pursue Bragg 

to the Confederate supply depot at Chickamauga Station, but 

called them back when he realized that his was the only 

command so far forward. General Grant reported after the 

battle, "To Sheridan's prompt movement, the Army of the 

Cumberland and the nation are indebted for the bulk of the 

capture of prisoners, artillery, and small arms that day. Except 

for his prompt pursuit, so much in this way would not have 

been accomplished."  

Overland Campaign 

Gen. Ulysses S. Grant, newly promoted to be general-in-chief 

of all the Union armies, summoned Sheridan to the Eastern 

Theater to command the Cavalry Corps of the Army of the 

Potomac. Unbeknownst to Sheridan, he was actually Grant's 

second choice, after Maj. Gen. William B. Franklin, but Grant 

agreed to a suggestion about Sheridan from Chief of Staff 

Henry W. Halleck. After the war, and in his memoirs, Grant 

claimed that Sheridan was the very man he wanted for the job. 

Sheridan arrived at the headquarters of the Army of the 

Potomac on April 5, 1864, less than a month before the start of 

Grant's massive Overland Campaign against Robert E. Lee.  
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In the early battles of the campaign, Sheridan's cavalry was 

relegated by army commander Maj. Gen. George Meade to its 

traditional role—screening, reconnaissance, and guarding 

trains and rear areas—much to Sheridan's frustration. In the 

Battle of the Wilderness (May 5–6, 1864), the dense forested 

terrain prevented any significant cavalry role. As the army 

swung around the Confederate right flank in the direction of 

Spotsylvania Court House, Sheridan's troopers failed to clear 

the road from the Wilderness, losing engagements along the 

Plank Road on May 5 and Todd's Tavern on May 6 through May 

8, allowing the Confederates to seize the critical crossroads 

before the Union infantry could arrive.  

• When Meade quarreled with Sheridan for not 

performing his duties of screening and 

reconnaissance as ordered, Sheridan told Meade that 

he could "whip Stuart" if Meade let him. Meade 

reported the conversation to Grant, who replied, 

"Well, he generally knows what he is talking about. 

Let him start right out and do it." Meade deferred to 

Grant's judgment and issued orders to Sheridan to 

"proceed against the enemy's cavalry" and from May 

9 through May 24, sent him on a raid toward 

Richmond, directly challenging the Confederate 

cavalry. The raid was less successful than hoped; 

although his raid managed to mortally wound 

Confederate cavalry commander Maj. Gen. J.E.B. 

Stuart at Yellow Tavern on May 11 and beat Maj. 

Gen. Fitzhugh Lee at Meadow Bridge on May 12, the 

raid never seriously threatened Richmond and it left 

Grant without cavalry intelligence for Spotsylvania 

and North Anna. Historian Gordon C. Rhea wrote, 
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"By taking his cavalry from Spotsylvania Court 

House, Sheridan severely handicapped Grant in his 

battles against Lee. The Union Army was deprived of 

his eyes and ears during a critical juncture in the 

campaign. And Sheridan's decision to advance boldly 

to the Richmond defenses smacked of unnecessary 

showboating that jeopardized his command." 

Rejoining the Army of the Potomac, Sheridan's cavalry fought 

inconclusively at Haw's Shop (May 28), a battle with heavy 

casualties that allowed the Confederate cavalry to obtain 

valuable intelligence about Union dispositions. They seized the 

critical crossroads that triggered the Battle of Cold Harbor 

(June 1 to June 12) and withstood a number of assaults until 

reinforced. Grant then ordered Sheridan on a raid to the 

northwest to break the Virginia Central Railroad and to link up 

with the Shenandoah Valley army of Maj. Gen. David Hunter. 

He was intercepted by the Confederate cavalry under Maj. Gen. 

Wade Hampton at the Battle of Trevilian Station (June 11–12), 

where in the largest all-cavalry battle of the war, he achieved 

tactical success on the first day, but suffered heavy casualties 

during multiple assaults on the second. He withdrew without 

achieving his assigned objectives. On his return march, he 

once again encountered the Confederate cavalry at Samaria 

(St. Mary's) Church on June 24, where his men suffered 

significant casualties, but successfully protected the Union 

supply wagons they were escorting.  

History draws decidedly mixed opinions on the success of 

Sheridan in the Overland Campaign, in no small part because 

the very clear Union victory at Yellow Tavern, highlighted by 

the death of Jeb Stuart, tends to overshadow other actions and 
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battles. In Sheridan's report of the Cavalry Corps' actions in 

the campaign, discussing the strategy of cavalry fighting 

cavalry, he wrote, "The result was constant success and the 

almost total annihilation of the rebel cavalry. We marched 

when and where we pleased; we were always the attacking 

party, and always successful." A contrary view has been 

published by historian Eric J. Wittenberg, who notes that of 

four major strategic raids (Richmond, Trevilian, Wilson-Kautz, 

and First Deep Bottom) and thirteen major cavalry 

engagements of the Overland and Richmond–Petersburg 

campaigns, only Yellow Tavern can be considered a Union 

victory, with Haw's Shop, Trevilian Station, Meadow Bridge, 

Samaria Church, and Wilson-Kautz defeats in which some of 

Sheridan's forces barely avoided destruction.  

Army of the Shenandoah 

• Throughout the war, the Confederacy sent armies 

out of Virginia through the Shenandoah Valley to 

invade Maryland and Pennsylvania and threaten 

Washington, D.C. Lt. Gen. Jubal Early, following the 

same pattern in the Valley Campaigns of 1864, and 

hoping to distract Grant from the Siege of 

Petersburg, attacked Union forces near Washington 

and raided several towns in Pennsylvania. Grant, 

reacting to the political commotion caused by the 

invasion, organized the Middle Military Division, 

whose field troops were known as the Army of the 

Shenandoah. He considered various candidates for 

command, including George Meade, William B. 

Franklin, and David Hunter, with the latter two 

intended for the military division while Sheridan 
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would command the army. All of these choices were 

rejected by either Grant or the War Department and, 

over the objection of Secretary of War Edwin 

Stanton, who believed him to be too young for such a 

high post, Sheridan took command in both roles at 

Harpers Ferry on August 7, 1864. His mission was 

not only to defeat Early's army and to close off the 

Northern invasion route, but to deny the 

Shenandoah Valley as a productive agricultural 

region to the Confederacy. Grant told Sheridan, "The 

people should be informed that so long as an army 

can subsist among them recurrences of these raids 

must be expected, and we are determined to stop 

them at all hazards. ... Give the enemy no rest ... Do 

all the damage to railroads and crops you can. Carry 

off stock of all descriptions, and negroes, so as to 

prevent further planting. If the war is to last another 

year, we want the Shenandoah Valley to remain a 

barren waste." 

Sheridan got off to a slow start, needing time to organize and 

to react to reinforcements reaching Early; Grant ordered him 

not to launch an offensive "with the advantage against you." 

And yet Grant expressed frustration with Sheridan's lack of 

progress. The armies remained unengaged for over a month, 

causing political consternation in the North as the 1864 

election drew near. The two generals conferred on September 

16 at Charles Town and agreed that Sheridan would begin his 

attacks within four days.  

On September 19, Sheridan beat Early's much smaller army at 

Third Winchester and followed up on September 22 with a 
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victory at Fisher's Hill. As Early attempted to regroup, 

Sheridan began the punitive operations of his mission, sending 

his cavalry as far south as Waynesboro to seize or destroy 

livestock and provisions, and to burn barns, mills, factories, 

and railroads. Sheridan's men did their work relentlessly and 

thoroughly, rendering over 400 square miles uninhabitable. 

The destruction presaged the scorched-earth tactics of 

Sherman's March to the Sea through Georgia—deny an army a 

base from which to operate and bring the effects of war home 

to the population supporting it. The residents referred to this 

widespread destruction as "The Burning." There has been much 

controversy over the scorched-earth tactics. Sheridan's troops 

told of the wanton attack in their letters home, calling 

themselves "barn burners" and "destroyers of homes." One 

soldier wrote to his family that he had personally set 60 

private homes on fire and believed that "it was a hard looking 

sight to see the women and children turned out of doors at this 

season of the year" (winter). A Sergeant William T. Patterson 

wrote that "the whole country around is wrapped in flames, the 

heavens are aglow with the light thereof ... such mourning, 

such lamentations, such crying and pleading for mercy [by 

defenseless women] ... I never saw or want to see again." The 

Confederates were not idle during this period and Sheridan's 

men were plagued by guerrilla raids by partisan ranger Col. 

John S. Mosby.  

Although Sheridan assumed that Jubal Early was effectively 

out of action and he considered withdrawing his army to rejoin 

Grant at Petersburg, Early received reinforcements and, on 

October 19 at Cedar Creek, launched a well-executed surprise 

attack while Sheridan was absent from his army, ten miles 

away at Winchester. Hearing the distant sounds of artillery, he 



Encyclopedia of Great Powers and the First World War: 1870–1918, Volume 3 
 

493 

rode aggressively to his command. He reached the battlefield 

about 10:30 a.m. and began to rally his men. Fortunately for 

Sheridan, Early's men were too occupied to take notice; they 

were hungry and exhausted and fell out to pillage the Union 

camps. Sheridan's actions are generally credited with saving 

the day (although Maj. Gen. Horatio G. Wright, commanding 

Sheridan's VI Corps, had already rallied his men and stopped 

their retreat). Early had been dealt his most significant defeat, 

rendering his army almost incapable of future offensive action. 

Sheridan received a personal letter of thanks from Abraham 

Lincoln and a promotion to major general in the regular army 

as of November 8, 1864, making him the fourth ranking 

general in the Army, after Grant, Sherman, and Meade.  

Grant wrote to Secretary of War Edwin M. Stanton after he 

ordered a 100-gun salute to celebrate Sheridan's victory at 

Cedar Creek, "Turning what bid fair to be a disaster into 

glorious victory stamps Sheridan, what I have always thought 

him, one of the ablest of generals." A famous poem, Sheridan's 

Ride, was written by Thomas Buchanan Read to commemorate 

the general's return to the battle. Sheridan reveled in the fame 

that Read's poem brought him, renaming his horse Rienzi to 

"Winchester," based on the poem's refrain, "Winchester, twenty 

miles away." The poem was widely used in Republican 

campaign efforts and some have credited Abraham Lincoln's 

margin of victory to it. As for Lincoln himself, the President, 

pleased at Sheridan's performance as a commander, wrote to 

Sheridan and playfully confessed his reassessment of the 

relatively short officer, "When this peculiar war began, I 

thought a cavalryman should be six feet four inches, but I have 

changed my mind. Five foot four will do in a pinch."  
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Sheridan spent the next several months occupied with light 

skirmishing and fighting guerrillas. Although Grant continued 

his exhortations for Sheridan to move south and break the 

Virginia Central Railroad supplying Petersburg, Sheridan 

resisted. Wright's VI Corps returned to join Grant in November. 

Sheridan's remaining men, primarily cavalry and artillery, 

finally moved out of their winter quarters on February 27, 

1865, and headed east. The orders from Gen. Grant were 

largely discretionary: they were to destroy the Virginia Central 

Railroad and the James River Canal, capture Lynchburg if 

practicable, then either join William T. Sherman in North 

Carolina or return to Winchester.  

Appomattox Campaign 

Sheridan interpreted Grant's orders liberally and instead of 

heading to North Carolina in March 1865, he moved to rejoin 

the Army of the Potomac at Petersburg. He wrote in his 

memoirs, "Feeling that the war was nearing its end, I desired 

my cavalry to be in at the death." His finest service of the Civil 

War was demonstrated during his relentless pursuit of Robert 

E. Lee's Army, effectively managing the most crucial aspects of 

the Appomattox Campaign for Grant.  

On the way to Petersburg, at the Battle of Waynesboro, March 

2, he trapped the remainder of Early's army and 1,500 soldiers 

surrendered. On April 1, he cut off Gen. Lee's lines of support 

at Five Forks, forcing Lee to evacuate Petersburg. During this 

battle he ruined the military career of Maj. Gen. Gouverneur K. 

Warren by removing him from command of the V Corps under 

circumstances that a court of inquiry later determined were 

unjustified. President Rutherford B. Hayes ordered a court of 
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inquiry that convened in 1879 and, after hearing testimony 

from dozens of witnesses over 100 days, found that Sheridan's 

relief of Warren had been unjustified. Unfortunately for 

Warren, these results were not published until after his death.  

Sheridan's aggressive and well-executed performance at the 

Battle of Sayler's Creek on April 6 effectively sealed the fate of 

Lee's army, capturing over 20% of his remaining men. 

President Lincoln sent Grant a telegram on April 7: "Gen. 

Sheridan says 'If the thing is pressed I think that Lee will 

surrender.' Let the thing be pressed." At Appomattox Court 

House, April 9, 1865, Sheridan blocked Lee's escape, forcing 

the surrender of the Army of Northern Virginia later that day. 

Grant summed up Little Phil's performance in these final days: 

"I believe General Sheridan has no superior as a general, either 

living or dead, and perhaps not an equal."  

Reconstruction 

After Gen. Lee's surrender, and that of Gen. Joseph E. 

Johnston in North Carolina, the only significant Confederate 

field force remaining was in Texas under Gen. Edmund Kirby 

Smith. Sheridan was supposed to lead troops in the Grand 

Review of the Armies in Washington, D.C., but Grant appointed 

him commander of the Military District of the Southwest on 

May 17, 1865, six days before the parade, with orders to defeat 

Smith without delay and restore Texas and Louisiana to Union 

control. However, Smith surrendered before Sheridan reached 

New Orleans.  

Grant was also concerned about the situation in neighboring 

Mexico, where 40,000 French soldiers propped up the puppet 
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regime of Austrian Archduke Maximilian. He gave Sheridan 

permission to gather a large Texas occupation force. Sheridan 

assembled 50,000 men in three corps, quickly occupied Texas 

coastal cities, spread inland, and began to patrol the Mexico–

United States border. The Army's presence, U.S. political 

pressure, and the growing resistance of Benito Juárez induced 

the French to abandon their claims against Mexico. Napoleon 

III announced a staged withdrawal of French troops to be 

completed in November 1867. In light of growing opposition at 

home and concern with the rise of German military prowess, 

Napoleon III stepped up the French withdrawal, which was 

completed by March 12, 1867. By June 19 of that year, 

Mexico's republican army had captured, tried, and executed 

Maximilian. Sheridan later admitted in his memoirs that he 

had supplied arms and ammunition to Juárez's forces: "... 

which we left at convenient places on our side of the river to 

fall into their hands".  

On July 30, 1866, while Sheridan was in Texas, a white mob 

broke up the state constitutional convention in New Orleans. 

Thirty-four blacks were killed. Shortly after Sheridan returned, 

he wired Grant, "The more information I obtain of the affair of 

the 30th in this city the more revolting it becomes. It was no 

riot; it was an absolute massacre." In March 1867, with 

Reconstruction barely started, Sheridan was appointed military 

governor of the Fifth Military District (Texas and Louisiana). 

He severely limited voter registration for former Confederates 

and ruled that only registered voters (including black men) 

were eligible to serve on juries. Furthermore, an inquiry into 

the deadly New Orleans riot of 1866 implicated numerous local 

officials; Sheridan dismissed the mayor of New Orleans, the 

Louisiana attorney general, and a district judge. He later 
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removed Louisiana Governor James M. Wells, accusing him of 

being "a political trickster and a dishonest man". He also 

dismissed Texas Governor James W. Throckmorton, a former 

Confederate, for being an "impediment to the reconstruction of 

the State", replacing him with the Republican who had lost to 

him in the previous election Elisha M. Pease. Sheridan had 

been feuding with President Andrew Johnson for months over 

interpretations of the Military Reconstruction Acts and voting 

rights issues, and within a month of the second firing, the 

president removed Sheridan, stating to an outraged Gen. Grant 

that, "His rule has, in fact, been one of absolute tyranny, 

without references to the principles of our government or the 

nature of our free institutions."  

If Sheridan was unpopular in Texas, neither did he have much 

appreciation for the Lone Star State. In 1866 his quip was 

widely reported: "If I owned Texas and Hell, I would rent Texas 

and live in Hell."  

During the Grant administration, while Sheridan was assigned 

to duty in the West, he was sent to Louisiana on two additional 

occasions to deal with problems that lingered in 

Reconstruction. In January 1875, federal troops intervened in 

the Louisiana Legislature following attempts by the Democrats 

to seize control of disputed seats. Sheridan supported 

Republican Governor William P. Kellogg, winner of the 1872 

state election, and declared that the Democratic opponents of 

the Republican regime who used violence to overcome 

legitimate electoral results were "banditti" who should be 

subjected to military tribunals and loss of their habeas corpus 

rights. The Grant administration backed down after an 

enormous public outcry. A headline in the New York World 
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newspaper shrieked "Tyranny! A Sovereign State Murdered!" In 

1876, Sheridan was also sent to New Orleans to command 

troops keeping the peace in the aftermath of the disputed 

presidential election in 1876.  

Indian Wars 

The protection of the Great Plains fell under the Department of 

the Missouri, an administrative area of over 1,000,000 mi.², 

encompassing all land between the Mississippi River and the 

Rocky Mountains. Maj. Gen. Winfield Scott Hancock was 

assigned to the department in 1866 but had mishandled his 

campaign, resulting in Sioux and Cheyenne raids that attacked 

mail coaches, burned the stations, and killed the employees. 

They also killed and kidnapped a considerable number of 

settlers on the frontier. Under pressure from the governors, 

General Grant turned to Sheridan. In September 1866, 

Sheridan arrived at the former Fort Martin Scott near 

Fredericksburg, Texas, where he spent three months subduing 

Indians in the Texas Hill Country.  

In August 1867, Grant appointed Sheridan to head the 

Department of the Missouri and pacify the Plains. His troops, 

even supplemented with state militia, were spread too thin to 

have any real effect. He conceived a strategy similar to the one 

he used in the Shenandoah Valley. In the Winter Campaign of 

1868–69 (of which the Battle of Washita River was part) he 

attacked the Cheyenne, Kiowa, and Comanche tribes in their 

winter quarters, taking their supplies and livestock and killing 

those who resisted, driving the rest back into their 

reservations. When Sherman was promoted to General of the 

Army following Grant's election as President of the United 
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States, Sheridan was appointed to command the Military 

Division of the Missouri, with all the Great Plains under his 

command. Professional hunters, trespassing on Indian land, 

killed over 4 million bison by 1874. As historian Dan Flores 

has shown, the quotations attributed to Sheridan that 

celebrate buffalo hunting or that he ever appeared before the 

Texas legislature about this matter are almost certainly 

apocryphal.  

As Flores notes, "there is no evidence the nineteenth-century 

Texas legislature ever considered a bill to outlaw or regulate 

the hide hunt." These erroneous charges against Sheridan first 

surfaced in the 1907 memoir of buffalo hunter John Cook.  

Eventually the Indians returned to their designated 

reservations. Sheridan's department conducted the Red River 

War, the Ute War, and the Great Sioux War of 1876-77, which 

resulted in the death of a trusted subordinate, Lt. Col. George 

Armstrong Custer. The Indian raids subsided during the 1870s 

and were almost over by the early 1880s, as Sheridan became 

the commanding general of the U.S. Army.  

Comanche Chief Tosawi reputedly told Sheridan in 1869, 

"Tosawi, good Indian," to which Sheridan supposedly replied, 

"The only good Indians I ever saw were dead." In Bury My Heart 

at Wounded Knee, Dee Brown attributed the quote to Sheridan, 

stating that "Lieutenant Charles Nordstrom, who was present, 

remembered the words and passed them on, until in time they 

were honed into an American aphorism: The only good Indian is 

a dead Indian. Sheridan denied he had ever made the 

statement. Biographer Roy Morris Jr. states that, nevertheless, 

popular history credits Sheridan with saying "The only good 
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Indian is a dead Indian." This variation "has been used by 

friends and enemies ever since to characterize and castigate 

his Indian-fighting career."  

Postbellum career 

Sheridan was promoted to lieutenant general on March 4, 

1869. In 1870, President Grant, at Sheridan's request, sent 

him to observe and report on the Franco-Prussian War. As a 

guest of King Wilhelm I of Prussia, he was present when 

Emperor Napoléon III surrendered to the Germans, which was 

gratifying to Sheridan following his experiences with the 

French in Mexico. He later toured most of Europe and returned 

to the U.S. to report to Grant that although the Prussians were 

"very good brave fellows [who] had gone into each battle with 

the determination to win, ... there is nothing to be learned here 

professionally."  

He criticized their handling of cavalry and likened their 

practices to the manner in which Meade had attempted to 

supervise him. However, he referred to theirs as a "perfect 

military system" and had a high opinion of the officer corps. 

His words on the French were much more harsh; he criticized 

the French army for not taking numerous opportunities to halt 

the German advance, for advancing slowly and clumsily 

themselves, for not taking any of the numerous good 

opportunities to cut the enemy's unguarded lines of 

communication, and for being routed frequently. He remarked: 

"I am disgusted; all my boyhood's fancies of the soldiers of the 

great Napoleon have been dissipated, or else the soldiers of the 

"Little Corporal" have lost their elan in the pampered parade 

soldiers of the 'Man of Destiny'."  
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In 1871, Sheridan was present in Chicago during the Great 

Chicago Fire and coordinated military relief efforts. The mayor, 

Roswell B. Mason, to calm the panic, placed the city under 

martial law, and issued a proclamation putting Sheridan in 

charge. As there were no widespread disturbances, martial law 

was lifted within a few days. Although Sheridan's personal 

residence was spared, all of his professional and personal 

papers were destroyed. When Chicago's Washington Park Race 

Track organized the American Derby in 1883 he served as its 

first president.  

On November 1, 1883, Sheridan succeeded General William T. 

Sherman as Commanding General of the U.S. Army, and held 

that position until his death. He was promoted on June 1, 

1888, shortly before his death, to the rank of General in the 

Regular Army (the rank was titled "General of the Army of the 

United States", by Act of Congress June 1, 1888, the same 

rank held earlier by Grant and Sherman, which is equivalent to 

a five-star general, O-11, in the modern U.S. Army).  

Sheridan served as commander in chief of the Military Order of 

the Loyal Legion of the United States (MOLLUS), a military 

society of officers who served in the Union armed forces and 

their descendants, from 1886 until his death in 1888. He was 

also the first president of the Society of the Army of the 

Potomac when it was founded in 1869 and as the ninth 

president of the National Rifle Association in 1885.  

Yellowstone 

The protection of the Yellowstone area was Sheridan's personal 

crusade. He authorized Lieutenant GustavusDoane to escort 



Encyclopedia of Great Powers and the First World War: 1870–1918, Volume 3 
 

502 

the Washburn Expedition in 1870 and for Major John W. 

Barlow to escort the Hayden Expedition in 1871. Barlow named 

Mount Sheridan, a peak overlooking Heart Lake in Yellowstone, 

for the general in 1871. As early as 1875, Sheridan promoted 

military control of the area to prevent the destruction of 

natural formations and wildlife.  

In 1882, the Department of the Interior granted rights to the 

Yellowstone Park Improvement Company to develop 4,000 acres 

(1,619 ha) in the park. Their plan was to build a railroad into 

the park and sell the land to developers. Sheridan personally 

organized opposition to the plan and lobbied Congress for 

protection of the park; including expansion, military control, 

reducing the development to 10 acres (4 ha), and prohibiting 

leases near park attractions. In addition, he arranged an 

expedition to the park for President Chester A. Arthur and 

other influential men. His lobbying soon paid off. A rider was 

added to the Sundry Civil Bill of 1883, giving Sheridan and his 

supporters almost everything for which they had asked. In 

1886, after a string of ineffectual and sometimes criminal 

superintendents, Sheridan ordered the 1st U.S. Cavalry into 

the park. The military operated the park until the National 

Park Service took it over in 1916.  

Sheridan is mentioned favorably in The National Parks: 

America's Best Idea, Episode I, for his work saving Yellowstone 

National Park:  

Grinnell's fight against the railroad interests was soon joined 

by an unlikely ally—General Philip Sheridan, a cavalry hero of 

the Civil War and celebrated Indian fighter, who was now 

commander of the U.S. Army for much of the West. Sheridan 
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even suggested that Yellowstone should be expanded to provide 

greater protection for the elk and buffalo. The idea was 

immediately opposed by Western politicians who believed that 

Yellowstone was already too big.  

In Washington, Grinnell, Sheridan and Missouri Senator 

George Vest took on the railroad lobby directly, calling for an 

investigation into the park contracts, proposing the expansion 

of Yellowstone, and trying to write park regulations concerning 

hunting into law.  

While the bill to expand Yellowstone failed, Congress did 

appropriate $40,000 for its maintenance; however, funds to 

maintain the park were stripped away in August 1886. It 

seemed Yellowstone would have to fend for itself.  

Coming to the rescue, Sheridan dispatched Troop M of the 

First United States Cavalry to take control of Yellowstone. 

• —  Ken Burns, The National Parks: America's Best Idea 

Personal life 

On June 3, 1875, Sheridan married Irene Rucker, a daughter 

of Army Quartermaster General Daniel H. Rucker. She was 22, 

and he was 44. They had four children: Mary, born in 1876; 

twin daughters, Irene and Louise, in 1877; and Philip, Jr., in 

1880. After the wedding, Sheridan and his wife moved to 

Washington, D.C. They lived in a house given to them by 

Chicago citizens in appreciation for Sheridan's protection of 

the city after the Great Chicago Fire in 1871.  
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Death and burial 

In 1888 Sheridan suffered a series of massive heart attacks 

two months after sending his memoirs to the publisher. 

Although thin in his youth, by 57 years of age he had reached 

a weight of over 200 pounds. After his first heart attack, the 

U.S. Congress quickly passed legislation to promote him to 

general of the army on June 1, 1888 and he received the news 

from a congressional delegation with joy, despite his pain.  

His family moved him from the heat of Washington to his 

summer cottage in the Nonquitt enclave of Dartmouth, 

Massachusetts, where he died of heart failure on August 5, 

1888.  

His body was returned to Washington and he was buried on a 

hillside facing the capital city near Arlington House in 

Arlington National Cemetery. The sculpture on the marker was 

executed by English sculptor Samuel James Kitson. The burial 

helped elevate Arlington to national prominence. His wife Irene 

never remarried, saying, "I would rather be the widow of Phil 

Sheridan than the wife of any man living."  

Legacy 

Sheridan is the only person to be featured on a U.S. ten-dollar 

bill who was strictly associated with the military and not 

politics. He is featured on $5 and $10 bills.  

Sheridan appeared on $10 U.S. Treasury notes issued in 1890 

and 1891. His bust then reappeared on the $5 silver certificate 
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in 1896. These rare notes are in great demand by collectors 

today. Fort Sheridan in Illinois was named to honor General 

Sheridan's many services to Chicago. An equestrian statue of 

Sheridan by Gutzon Borglum (sculptor of the figures on Mt. 

Rushmore) at Belmont Avenue and Sheridan Road in Chicago 

depicts the general on his horse, Rienzi. Sheridan Road begins 

in Chicago, continues mostly along the shoreline of Lake 

Michigan for about 96 km (60 miles) through the North Shore 

suburbs, and leads to the Town of Fort Sheridan and 

ultimately Racine, Wisconsin. The landmark former U.S. Army 

base named for the general is now a reserve post and upscale 

residential community.  

The M551 Sheridan tank is named after General Sheridan.  

Mount Sheridan in Yellowstone National Park was named for 

Sheridan by Captain John W. Barlow in 1871.  

The Sheridan Prize is a yacht-racing perpetual trophy awarded 

to the winner of an annual race on Geneva Lake. It was begun 

on the occasion of the general's visit to Lake Geneva (then, 

Geneva) in 1874.  

In 1937 the US Post Office issued a series of commemorative 

stamp issues honoring various Army and Navy heroes. Among 

them was an issue commemorating Generals Ulysses S. Grant, 

William T. Sherman and Philip H. Sheridan.  

Sheridan County, North Dakota; Sheridan County, Nebraska; 

Sheridan County, Montana; Sheridan County, Wyoming; and 

Sheridan County, Kansas, are named for him, as are the cities 

of Sheridan, Colorado; Sheridan, Montana (in Madison 

County); Sheridan, Wyoming; Sheridan, Arkansas; Sheridan, 
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Oregon; Sheridan, Indiana; and Sheridan, Illinois (LaSalle 

County). Sheridan Square in the West Village of New York City 

is named for the general and his statue is displayed nearby in 

Christopher Street Park. Sheridan Circle, Sheridan Street, and 

the neighborhood of Sheridan-Kalorama in Washington, D.C., 

are also named after him. Sheridan Avenue in the Bronx is one 

block east of Sherman Avenue. Sheridan Boulevard is a major 

north-south thoroughfare in Denver, Colorado.  

The only equestrian Civil War statue in Ohio honors Sheridan. 

It is in the center traffic circle on US Route 22 in Somerset, 

Ohio, not far from the house where Sheridan grew up.  

Sheridan High School is located 8 km (5 miles) north of 

General Sheridan's home town of Somerset. The athletic team 

is nicknamed "The Generals".  

Sheridan Glacier, located 25 km (15 miles) outside of Cordova, 

Alaska was named in his honor.  

In Albany, New York, there is an equestrian statue of Sheridan 

in front of the New York State Capitol, near Sheridan Avenue.  

In World War II, the United States liberty ship, SS Philip H. 

Sheridan, was named in his honor.  

Sheridan Road in Lawton, Oklahoma, leads to Fort Sill, where 

Sheridan supposedly uttered the words "The only good Indians 

I ever saw were dead."  

Sheridan Drive in Arlington National Cemetery partially 

encircles the area that contains the general's gravesite. The 
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Sheridan Gate, constructed in 1879 and dismantled and placed 

in storage in 1971, was once the Cemetery's main entrance.  

A statue of Sheridan by Allen George Newman is sited in 

Scranton, Pennsylvania.  

New York State Route 324 ("Sheridan Drive") in the northern 

suburbs of Buffalo, New York, is named for Sheridan Road in 

Chicago, and thus indirectly after Philip Sheridan. An 

equestrian statue of the general was planned to be built there 

in 1925.  

John Philip Sousa wrote a descriptive piece for band 

memorializing Sheridan. Describing "Sheridan's Ride", 

published in 1891, as a "Scenes Historical", Sousa musically 

characterized Sheridan's famous ride back to his army in the 

Battle of Cedar Creek. The composition has six sections: 

Waiting for the Bugle, The Attack, The Death of Thoburn, The 

Coming of Sheridan, and The Apotheosis.  

The Philip H. Sheridan School in Philadelphia was added to the 

National Register of Historic Places in 1988.  

Sheridan Hall on the Fort Hays State University campus in 

Hays, Kansas, is named in honor of Sheridan. The building 

commemorates Sheridan's time stationed at the Fort Hays 

military post.  

The original site of the Phil Sheridan Elementary School in 

Chicago, which opened in 1888, was in the South Chicago 

neighborhood. In 1998, the school was renamed the Arnold 

Mireles Academy in memory of a murdered South Side 

community activist. The present-day Sheridan Elementary 
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School in Chicago is a magnet school located at 533 W. 27th 

Street, in the city's Bridgeport neighborhood.  

In Broward County, in southern Florida, there is another road 

named after Sheridan, Florida State Road 822, also known as 

"Sheridan Street", which runs on an east-west configuration, 

between State Road A1A at Hollywood Beach and U.S. Route 

27, which borders the Everglades.  

Winfield Scott Hancock 

Winfield Scott Hancock (February 14, 1824 – February 9, 

1886) was a United States Army officer and the Democratic 

nominee for President of the United States in 1880. He served 

with distinction in the Army for four decades, including service 

in the Mexican–American War and as a Union general in the 

American Civil War. Known to his Army colleagues as "Hancock 

the Superb", he was noted in particular for his personal 

leadership at the Battle of Gettysburg in 1863. His military 

service continued after the Civil War, as Hancock participated 

in the military Reconstruction of the South and the Army's 

presence at the Western frontier.  

Hancock's reputation as a war hero at Gettysburg, combined 

with his status as a Unionist and supporter of states' rights, 

made him a potential presidential candidate. When the 

Democrats nominated him for President in 1880, he ran a 

strong campaign, but was narrowly defeated by Republican 

James A. Garfield. Hancock's last public service involved the 

oversight of President Ulysses S. Grant's funeral procession in 

1885.  
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Early life and family 

Winfield Scott Hancock and his identical twin brother Hilary 

Baker Hancock were born on February 14, 1824, in 

Montgomery Square, Pennsylvania, a hamlet just northwest of 

Philadelphia in present-day Montgomery Township.  

The twins were the sons of Benjamin Franklin Hancock and 

Elizabeth Hoxworth Hancock. Winfield was named after 

Winfield Scott, a prominent general in the War of 1812.  

The Hancock and Hoxworth families had lived in Montgomery 

County for several generations, and were of English, Scottish 

and Welsh descent.  

Benjamin Hancock was a schoolteacher when his sons were 

born. A few years after their birth, he moved the family to 

Norristown, the county seat, and began to practice law. 

Benjamin was also a deacon in the Baptist church and 

participated in municipal government (as an avowed 

Democrat).  

Hancock was at first educated at Norristown Academy, but 

removed to the public schools when the first one opened in 

Norristown in the late 1830s.  

In 1840, Joseph Fornance, the local Congressman, nominated 

Hancock to the United States Military Academy at West Point. 

Hancock's progress at West Point was average. He graduated 

18th in his class of 25 in 1844, and he was assigned to the 

infantry.  
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Early military career 

Mexican War 

Hancock was commissioned a brevet second lieutenant in the 

6th U.S. Infantry regiment, and initially was stationed in 

Indian Territory in the Red River Valley.  

The region was quiet at the time, and Hancock's time there was 

uneventful. Upon the outbreak of war with Mexico in 1846, 

Hancock worked to secure himself a place at the front. Initially 

assigned to recruiting duties in Kentucky, he proved so adept 

at signing up soldiers that his superiors were reluctant to 

release him from his post. By July 1847, however,  

Hancock was permitted to join his regiment in Puebla, Mexico, 

where they made up a part of the army led by his namesake, 

General Winfield Scott.  

Scott's army moved farther inland from Puebla unopposed and 

attacked Mexico City from the south. During that campaign in 

1847, Hancock first encountered battle at Contreras and 

Churubusco. He was appointed a brevet first lieutenant for 

gallant and meritorious service in those actions. Hancock was 

wounded in the knee at Churubusco and developed a fever. 

Although he was well enough to join his regiment at Molino del 

Rey, fever kept Hancock from participating in the final 

breakthrough to Mexico City, something he would regret for the 

rest of his life. After the final victory, Hancock remained in 

Mexico with the 6th Infantry until the treaty of peace was 

signed in 1848.  
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Marriage and peacetime 

Hancock served in a number of assignments as an army 

quartermaster and adjutant, mostly in Fort Snelling, 

Minnesota and St. Louis, Missouri. It was in St. Louis that he 

met Almira ("Allie") Russell and they married on January 24, 

1850. Allie gave birth to two children, Russell in 1850 and Ada 

in 1857, but both children died before their parents. Hancock 

was promoted to captain in 1855 and assigned to Fort Myers, 

Florida. Hancock's young family accompanied him to his new 

posting, where Allie Hancock was the only woman on the post.  

Hancock's tour in Florida coincided with the end of the Third 

Seminole War. His duties were primarily those of a 

quartermaster, and he did not see action in that campaign. As 

the situation in Florida began to settle down, Hancock was 

reassigned to Fort Leavenworth, Kansas.  

He served in the West during the partisan warfare of "Bleeding 

Kansas", and in the Utah Territory, where the 6th Infantry 

arrived after the Utah War. Following the resolution of that 

conflict, Hancock was stationed in southern California in 

November 1858. He remained there, joined by Allie and the 

children, until the Civil War broke out in 1861, serving as a 

captain and assistant quartermaster under future Confederate 

General Albert Sidney Johnston.  

In California, Hancock became friendly with a number of 

southern officers, most significantly Lewis A. Armistead of 

Virginia. At the outbreak of the Civil War, Armistead and the 

other southerners left to join the Confederate States Army, 

while Hancock remained in the service of the United States.  
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Civil War 

Joining the Army of the Potomac 

Hancock returned east to assume quartermaster duties for the 

rapidly growing Union Army, but was quickly promoted to 

brigadier general on September 23, 1861, and given an infantry 

brigade to command in the division of Brig. Gen. William F. 

"Baldy" Smith, Army of the Potomac. He earned his "Superb" 

nickname in the Peninsula Campaign, in 1862, by leading a 

critical counterattack in the Battle of Williamsburg; army 

commander Maj. Gen. George B. McClellan telegraphed to 

Washington that "Hancock was superb today" and the 

appellation stuck. McClellan did not follow through on 

Hancock's initiative, however, and Confederate forces were 

allowed to withdraw unmolested.  

In the Battle of Antietam, Hancock assumed command of the 

1st Division, II Corps, following the mortal wounding of Maj. 

Gen. Israel B. Richardson in the horrific fighting at "Bloody 

Lane". Hancock and his staff made a dramatic entrance to the 

battlefield, galloping between his troops and the enemy, 

parallel to the Sunken Road. His men assumed that Hancock 

would order counterattacks against the exhausted 

Confederates, but he carried orders from McClellan to hold his 

position. He was promoted to major general of volunteers on 

November 29, 1862. He led his division in the disastrous 

attack on Marye's Heights in the Battle of Fredericksburg the 

following month and was wounded in the abdomen. At the 

Battle of Chancellorsville, his division covered Maj. Gen. 

Joseph Hooker's withdrawal and Hancock was wounded again. 
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His corps commander, Maj. Gen. Darius N. Couch, transferred 

out of the Army of the Potomac in protest of actions Hooker 

took in the battle and Hancock assumed command of II Corps, 

which he would lead until shortly before the war's end.  

Gettysburg 

Hancock's most famous service was as a new corps commander 

at the Battle of Gettysburg, July 1 to 3, 1863. After his friend, 

Maj. Gen. John F. Reynolds, was killed early on July 1, Maj. 

Gen. George G. Meade, the new commander of the Army of the 

Potomac, sent Hancock ahead to take command of the units on 

the field and assess the situation. Hancock thus was in 

temporary command of the "left wing" of the army, consisting 

of the I, II, III, and XI Corps. This demonstrated Meade's high 

confidence in him, because Hancock was not the most senior 

Union officer at Gettysburg at the time. Hancock and the more 

senior XI Corps commander, Maj. Gen. Oliver O. Howard, 

argued briefly about this command arrangement, but Hancock 

prevailed and he organized the Union defenses on Cemetery 

Hill as more numerous Confederate forces drove the I and XI 

Corps back through the town. He had the authority from Meade 

to withdraw the forces, so he was responsible for the decision 

to stand and fight at Gettysburg. At the conclusion of the day's 

action, Maj. Gen. Henry Warner Slocum arrived on the field 

and assumed command until Gen. Meade arrived after 

midnight.  

On July 2, Hancock's II Corps was positioned on Cemetery 

Ridge, roughly in the center of the Union line, while 

Confederate General Robert E. Lee launched assaults on both 

ends of the line. On the Union left, Lt. Gen. James Longstreet's 
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assault smashed the III Corps and Hancock sent in his 1st 

Division, under Brig. Gen. John C. Caldwell, to reinforce the 

Union in the Wheatfield. As Lt. Gen. A.P. Hill's corps continued 

the attack toward the Union center, Hancock rallied the 

defenses and rushed units to the critical spots. First, he 

issued the Third Brigade of his Third Division under Colonel 

George Willard into the fray to stop the advance of Confederate 

Brigadier General William Barksdale's Brigade. In one famous 

incident, he sacrificed a regiment, the 1st Minnesota Volunteer 

Infantry Regiment, by ordering it to advance and charge a 

Confederate brigade four times its size, causing the 

Minnesotans to suffer 87% casualties. While costly to the 

regiment, this heroic sacrifice bought time to organize the 

defensive line and saved the day for the Union army. Following 

the action toward his right, he met the 13th Vermont Volunteer 

Infantry Regiment, a First Corps unit which had come from 

Cemetery Hill to help quell the crisis. Hancock sent them out 

to recover some artillery pieces Confederates had taken and 

were pulling away. The Vermonters were successful. Having 

stabilized his line, he turned his attention to the sound of 

fighting on East Cemetery Hill. There, with darkness falling, 

Confederates from Major General Jubal Early's Division had 

gotten into Union batteries and were fighting the cannoneers 

hand-to-hand. Hancock sent the First Brigade of his Third 

Division, under Colonel Samuel S. Carroll, to the fighting. The 

brigade was crucial in flushing the enemy out of the batteries 

and dispatching them back down the face of East Cemetery 

Hill.  

On July 3, Hancock continued in his position on Cemetery 

Ridge and thus bore the brunt of Pickett's Charge. During the 

massive Confederate artillery bombardment that preceded the 
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infantry assault, Hancock was prominent on horseback in 

reviewing and encouraging his troops. When one of his 

subordinates protested, "General, the corps commander ought 

not to risk his life that way," Hancock is said to have replied, 

"There are times when a corps commander's life does not 

count."  

During the infantry assault, his old friend, Brig. Gen. Lewis A. 

Armistead, now leading a brigade in Maj. Gen. George Pickett's 

division, was wounded and died two days later. Hancock could 

not meet with his friend because he had just been wounded 

himself, a severe wound caused by a bullet striking the 

pommel of his saddle, entering his inner right thigh along with 

wood fragments and a large bent nail. Helped from his horse by 

aides, and with a tourniquet applied to staunch the bleeding, 

he removed the saddle nail himself and, mistaking its source, 

remarked wryly, "They must be hard up for ammunition when 

they throw such shot as that." News of Armistead's mortal 

wounding was brought to Hancock by a member of his staff, 

Captain Henry H. Bingham. Despite his pain, Hancock refused 

evacuation to the rear until the battle was resolved. He had 

been an inspiration for his troops throughout the three-day 

battle. Hancock later received the thanks of the U.S. Congress 

for "... his gallant, meritorious and conspicuous share in that 

great and decisive victory."  

One military historian wrote, "No other Union general at 

Gettysburg dominated men by the sheer force of their presence 

more completely than Hancock." As another wrote, "his tactical 

skill had won him the quick admiration of adversaries who had 

come to know him as the 'Thunderbolt of the Army of the 

Potomac'."  
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Virginia and the end of the war 

Hancock suffered from the effects of his Gettysburg wound for 

the rest of the war. After recuperating in Norristown, he 

performed recruiting services over the winter and returned in 

the spring to field command of the II Corps for Lt. Gen. Ulysses 

S. Grant's 1864 Overland Campaign, but he never regained full 

mobility and his former youthful energy. Nevertheless, he 

performed well at the Battle of the Wilderness and commanded 

a critical breakthrough assault of the Mule Shoe at the "Bloody 

Angle" in the Battle of Spotsylvania Court House on May 12, 

shattering the Confederate defenders in his front, including the 

Stonewall Brigade. His corps suffered enormous losses during 

a futile assault Grant ordered at Cold Harbor.  

After Grant's army slipped past Lee's army to cross the James 

River, Hancock found himself in a position from which he 

might have ended the war. His corps arrived to support William 

Farrar Smith's assaults on the lightly held Petersburg 

defensive lines, but he deferred to Smith's advice because 

Smith knew the ground and had been on the field all day, and 

no significant assaults were made before the Confederate lines 

were reinforced. One of the great opportunities of the war was 

lost. After his corps participated in the assaults at Deep 

Bottom, Hancock was promoted to brigadier general in the 

regular army, effective August 12, 1864.  

Hancock's only significant military defeat occurred during the 

siege of Petersburg. His II Corps moved south of the city, along 

the Wilmington and Weldon Railroad, tearing up track. On 

August 25, Confederate Maj. Gen. Henry Heth attacked and 

overran the faulty Union position at Reams's Station, 
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shattering the II Corps, capturing many prisoners. Despite a 

later victory at Hatcher's Run, the humiliation of Reams's 

Station contributed, along with the lingering effects of his 

Gettysburg wound, to his decision to give up field command in 

November. He left the II Corps after a year in which it had 

suffered over 40,000 casualties, but had achieved significant 

military victories.  

His next assignment was to command the ceremonial First 

Veteran Corps. He performed more recruiting, commanded the 

Middle Department, and relieved Maj. Gen. Philip Sheridan in 

command of forces in the now-quiet Shenandoah Valley. He 

was promoted to brevet major general in the regular army for 

his service at Spotsylvania, effective March 13, 1865.  

Post-war military service 

Execution of Lincoln assassination conspirators 

At the close of the war, Hancock was assigned to supervise the 

execution of the Lincoln assassination conspirators. Lincoln 

had been assassinated on April 14, 1865, and by May 9 of that 

year, a military commission had been convened to try the 

accused. The actual assassin, John Wilkes Booth, was already 

dead, but the trial of his co-conspirators proceeded quickly, 

resulting in convictions. President Andrew Johnson ordered the 

executions to be carried out on July 7. Although he was 

reluctant to execute some of the less-culpable conspirators, 

especially Mary Surratt, Hancock carried out his orders, later 

writing that "every soldier was bound to act as I did under 

similar circumstances."  
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Service on the Plains 

After the executions, Hancock was assigned command of the 

newly organized Middle Military Department, headquartered in 

Baltimore. In 1866, on Grant's recommendation, Hancock was 

promoted to major general and was transferred, later that year, 

to command of the military Department of the Missouri, which 

included the states of Missouri and Kansas and the territories 

of Colorado and New Mexico. Hancock reported to Fort 

Leavenworth, Kansas, and took up his new posting. Soon after 

arriving, he was assigned by General Sherman to lead an 

expedition to negotiate with the Cheyenne and Sioux, with 

whom relations had worsened since the Sand Creek massacre. 

The negotiations got off to a bad start, and after Hancock 

ordered the burning of an abandoned Cheyenne village in 

central Kansas, relations became worse than when the 

expedition had started. There was little loss of life on either 

side, but the mission could not be called a success.  

Reconstruction 

Hancock's time in the West was brief. President Johnson, 

unhappy with the way Republican generals were governing the 

South under Reconstruction, sought replacements for them. 

The general who offended Johnson the most was Philip 

Sheridan, and Johnson soon ordered General Grant to switch 

the assignments of Hancock and Sheridan, believing that 

Hancock, a Democrat, would govern in a style more to 

Johnson's liking. Although neither man was pleased with the 

change, Sheridan reported to Fort Leavenworth and Hancock to 

New Orleans. Hancock's new assignment found him in charge 

of the Fifth Military District, covering Texas and Louisiana. 
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Almost immediately upon arriving, Hancock ingratiated himself 

with the white conservative population by issuing his General 

Order Number 40 of November 29, 1867. In that order, written 

while traveling to New Orleans, Hancock expressed sentiments 

in support of President Johnson's policies, writing that if the 

residents of the district conducted themselves peacefully and 

the civilian officials perform their duties, then "the military 

power should cease to lead, and the civil administration 

resume its natural and rightful dominion." The order 

continued:  

The great principles of American liberty are still the lawful 

inheritance of this people, and ever should be. The right of 

trial by jury, the habeas corpus, the liberty of the press, the 

freedom of speech, the natural rights of persons and the rights 

of property must be preserved. Free institutions, while they are 

essential to the prosperity and happiness of the people, always 

furnish the strongest inducements to peace and order. 

Hancock's order encouraged white Democrats across the South 

who hoped to return to civilian government more quickly, but 

discomforted blacks and Republicans in the South who feared 

a return to the antebellum ways of conservative white 

dominance.  

Hancock's General Order Number 40 was quickly condemned 

by Republicans in Washington, especially by the Radicals, 

while President Johnson wholeheartedly approved. Heedless of 

the situation in Washington, Hancock soon put his words into 

action, refusing local Republican politicians' requests to use 

his power to overturn elections and court verdicts, while also 

letting it be known that open insurrection would be 
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suppressed. Hancock's popularity within the Democratic party 

grew to the extent that he was considered a potential 

presidential nominee for that party in the 1868 election. 

Although Hancock collected a significant number of delegates 

at the 1868 convention, his presidential possibilities went 

unfulfilled. Even so, he was henceforth identified as a rare 

breed in politics: one who believed in the Democratic Party's 

principles of states' rights and limited government, but whose 

anti-secessionist sentiment was unimpeachable.  

Return to the Plains 

Following General Grant's 1868 presidential victory, the 

Republicans were firmly in charge in Washington. As a result, 

Hancock found himself transferred, this time away from the 

sensitive assignment of reconstructing the South and into the 

relative backwater that was the Department of Dakota. The 

Department covered Minnesota, Montana, and the Dakotas. As 

in his previous Western command, Hancock began with a 

conference of the Indian chiefs, but this time was more 

successful in establishing a peaceful intent. Relations 

worsened in 1870, however, as an army expedition committed a 

massacre against the Blackfeet. Relations with the Sioux also 

became contentious as a result of white encroachment into the 

Black Hills, in violation of the Treaty of Fort Laramie. Still, war 

was averted, for the time being, and most of Hancock's 

command was peaceful.  

It was during this tour that Hancock had the opportunity to 

contribute to the creation of Yellowstone National Park. In 

August 1870, he ordered the 2nd Cavalry at Fort Ellis to 

provide a military escort for General Henry D. Washburn's 
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planned exploration of the Yellowstone Region. The expedition, 

which was a major impetus in creating the park, became 

known as the Washburn-Langford-Doane Expedition. Hancock's 

order led to the assignment of Lt. GustavusCheyneyDoane and 

a troop of 5 cavalrymen from Fort Ellis to escort the 

expedition. In 1871, Captain John W. Barlow during his 

exploration of the Yellowstone region formally named a summit 

on what would become the southern boundary of the park 

Mount Hancock to honor the general's decision to provide the 

escort.  

Command in the East and political ambitions 

In 1872, General Meade died, leaving Hancock the army's 

senior major general. This entitled him to a more prominent 

command, and President Grant, still desirous to keep Hancock 

from a Southern post, assigned him command of the Division 

of the Atlantic, headquartered at Fort Columbus on Governors 

Island, in New York City. The vast department covered the 

settled northeast area of the country and was militarily 

uneventful with the exception of the army's involvement in the 

Great Railroad Strike of 1877. When railroad workers went on 

strike to protest wage cuts, the nation's transportation system 

was paralyzed. The governors of Pennsylvania, West Virginia, 

and Maryland asked President Hayes to call in federal troops to 

re-open the railways. Once federal troops entered the cities, 

most of the strikers melted away, but there were some violent 

clashes. All the while Hancock was posted in New York, he did 

his best to keep his political ambitions alive. He received some 

votes at the Democrats' 1876 convention, but was never a 

serious contender as New York governor Samuel J. Tilden 

swept the field on the second ballot. The Republican candidate, 
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Rutherford B. Hayes, won the election, and Hancock refocused 

his ambition on 1880. The electoral crisis of 1876 and the 

subsequent end to Reconstruction in 1877 convinced many 

observers that the election of 1880 would give the Democrats 

their best chance at victory in a generation.  

Election of 1880 

Democratic convention 

Hancock's name had been proposed several times for the 

Democratic nomination for president, but he never captured a 

majority of delegates. In 1880, however, Hancock's chances 

improved. President Hayes had promised not to run for a 

second term, and the previous Democratic nominee, Tilden, 

declined to run again due to poor health. Hancock faced 

several competitors for the nomination, including Thomas A. 

Hendricks, Allen G. Thurman, Stephen Johnson Field, and 

Thomas F. Bayard. Hancock's neutrality on the monetary 

question, and his lingering support in the South (owing to his 

General Order Number 40) meant that Hancock, more than any 

other candidate, had nationwide support. When the Democratic 

convention assembled in Cincinnati in June 1880, Hancock led 

on the first ballot, but did not have a majority. By the second 

ballot, Hancock received the requisite two-thirds, and William 

Hayden English of Indiana was chosen as his running mate.  

Campaign against Garfield 

The Republicans nominated James A. Garfield, a Congressman 

from Ohio and a skillful politician. Hancock and the Democrats 
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expected to carry the Solid South, but needed to add a few of 

the Northern states to their total to win the election. The 

practical differences between the parties were few, and the 

Republicans were reluctant to attack Hancock personally 

because of his heroic reputation. The one policy difference the 

Republicans were able to exploit was a statement in the 

Democratic platform endorsing "a tariff for revenue only". 

Garfield's campaigners used this statement to paint the 

Democrats as unsympathetic to the plight of industrial 

laborers, a group that would benefit by a high protective tariff. 

The tariff issue cut Democratic support in industrialized 

Northern states, which were essential in establishing a 

Democratic majority. In the end, the Democrats and Hancock 

failed to carry any of the Northern states they had targeted, 

with the exception of New Jersey. Hancock lost the election to 

Garfield. Garfield polled only 39,213 more votes than Hancock, 

the popular vote being 4,453,295 for Garfield and 4,414,082 

for Hancock. The electoral count, however, had a much larger 

spread, as Garfield polled 214 electoral votes and Hancock only 

155. Garfield would be shot four months into his Presidency on 

July 2, 1881 and would die on September 19, 1881.   

Later life 

Hancock took his electoral defeat in stride and attended 

Garfield's inauguration. Following the election, Hancock 

carried on as commander of the Division of the Atlantic. He 

was elected president of the National Rifle Association in 1881, 

explaining that "The object of the NRA is to increase the 

military strength of the country by making skill in the use of 

arms as prevalent as it was in the days of the Revolution." 
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Hancock was a Charter Director and the first president of the 

Military Service Institution of the United States from 1878 

until his death in 1886. He was commander-in-chief of the 

Military Order of the Loyal Legion of the United States veterans 

organization from 1879 until his death in 1886. He was the 

author of Reports of Major General W. S. Hancock upon Indian 

Affairs, published in 1867. Hancock's last major public 

appearance was to preside over the funeral of President Grant 

in 1885, although he also made a less publicized trip that year 

to Gettysburg.  

Hancock died in 1886 at Governors Island, still in command of 

the Military Division of the Atlantic, the victim of an infected 

carbuncle, complicated by diabetes. He is buried in 

Montgomery Cemetery in West Norriton Township, Montgomery 

County, Pennsylvania, near Norristown, Pennsylvania. 

Hancock's wife, Almira, published Reminiscences of Winfield 

Scott Hancock in 1887.  

In 1893, Republican General Francis A. Walker wrote, 

Although I did not vote for General Hancock, I am strongly 

disposed to believe that one of the best things the nation has 

lost in recent years has been the example and the influence of 

that chivalric, stately, and splendid gentleman in the White 

House. Perhaps much which both parties now recognize as 

having been unfortunate and mischievous during the past 

thirteen years would have been avoided had General Hancock 

been elected. 

His noted integrity was a counterpoint to the corruption of the 

era, for as President Rutherford B. Hayes said, 
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If, when we make up our estimate of a public man, 

conspicuous both as a soldier and in civil life, we are to think 

first and chiefly of his manhood, his integrity, his purity, his 

singleness of purpose, and his unselfish devotion to duty, we 

can truthfully say of Hancock that he was through and through 

pure gold. 

The last public act performed by Hancock was his oversight of 

the funeral of Ulysses S. Grant in 1885, and his organizing and 

leading of Grant's nine mile funeral procession in New York 

City. From Grant's home at Mount McGregor, New York, to its 

resting-place in Riverside Park, the casket containing Grant's 

remains was in charge of General Hancock. As he appeared on 

the scene at the commencement of Grant's funeral procession, 

Hancock was met with a mild applause, but with a gesture he 

directed a silence and respect for Grant.  

Legacy 

Winfield Scott Hancock is memorialized in a number of statues:  

• An equestrian statue on East Cemetery Hill on the 

Gettysburg Battlefield. 

• A portrait statue as part of the Pennsylvania 

Memorial at Gettysburg. 

• An alto-relievo representing Hancock's wounding 

during Pickett's Charge, on the New York State 

Monument at Gettysburg. 

• An equestrian statue located at Pennsylvania Avenue 

and 7th Street, NW in Washington, D.C. 

• An equestrian statue atop the Smith Memorial Arch 

in Fairmount Park, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. 
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• A monumental bronze bust in Hancock Square, New 

York City, by sculptor James Wilson Alexander 

MacDonald. 

• Fort Hancock, Texas 

• Fort Hancock on Sandy Hook, New Jersey, was 

named for General Hancock. 

The original Winfield Scott Hancock Elementary School, located 

at Arch and East Spruce Streets in Norristown, Pennsylvania, 

was built in 1895 in memory of the General who grew up not 

far from the site.  

It was replaced in 1962 by a new building still in use by the 

Norristown Area School District only a few blocks away at Arch 

and Summit Streets, which is also named after General 

Hancock. The original 1895 building still stands and is used by 

a community non-profit organization.  

A Pennsylvania historical marker was dedicated September 11, 

1947 along Bethlehem Pike (PA 309), just south of US 202, 

where Hancock was born.  

Hancock's portrait adorns U.S. currency on the $2 Silver 

Certificate series of 1886. Approximately 1,500 to 2,500 of 

these bills survive today in numismatic collections. Hancock's 

bill is ranked number 73 on a list of "100 Greatest American 

Currency Notes".  

John Schofield 

John McAllister Schofield (September 29, 1831 – March 4, 

1906) was an American soldier who held major commands 
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during the American Civil War. He was appointed U.S. 

Secretary of War (1868-1869) under President Andrew Johnson 

and later served as Commanding General of the United States 

Army (1888-1895).  

Early life 

John McAllister Schofield was born September 29, 1831, in 

Gerry, Chautauqua County, New York, the son of the Reverend 

James Schofield (1801–1888) and his first wife, the former 

Caroline (McAllister) Schofield (1810–1857). His father, a 

Baptist minister in Sinclairville became a domestic missionary 

and moved his family (which then included six children and 

would include 10 who survived infancy) to Bristol, Illinois. 

When John was 12, they finally settled in Freeport, Illinois, 

where Rev. Schofield became the town's first Baptist minister 

in 1845, and where he would ultimately be buried in 1888.  

As a young man John Schofield was educated in the public 

schools, helped his family farm and build their home, and then 

surveyed land in northern Wisconsin before spending a year 

teaching school in Oneco, Illinois not far from Freeport. Then 

U.S. Rep. Thomas J. Turner secured John Schofield an 

appointment to the United States Military Academy at West 

Point. He sold land for travel expenses and reported on June 1, 

1849. In his final year at the Academy, while a teaching 

assistant in the mathematics section, cadet Schofield was 

accused of allowing others in his classroom to make offensive 

jokes and drawings on the blackboard. He was dismissed from 

West Point, but after meeting with Illinois' U.S. Senator 

Stephen A. Douglas, appealed the decision to the Secretary of 

War, who referred the matter back to a Board of Inquiry at the 



Encyclopedia of Great Powers and the First World War: 1870–1918, Volume 3 
 

528 

Academy. A majority of the review board voted to rescind the 

expulsion, but one of the two officers who voted to sustain it, 

cavalry and artillery instructor Lt. George H. Thomas, later 

became a commander of Schofield during the Civil War. 

Although Schofield's eventual memoirs did not mention 

Thomas on the review board, his persistent criticism of 

Thomas's generalship after the war may reflect this incident. 

Schofield graduated in 1853, ranking seventh in his class, and 

was commissioned a brevet second lieutenant in the artillery.  

Schofield served for two years in the artillery. His first post 

was at Fort Moultrie, South Carolina, which he later noted 

involved the same guns that would be used to bombard Fort 

Sumter in 1861. He then served at various places in Florida 

during the armed truce with the Seminole Nation, but 

contracted fevers and dysentery and was ultimately evacuated 

(with the assistance of future Confederate General A. P. Hill) 

and recovered at Culpeper, Virginia.  

Upon regaining his health, First Lieutenant Schofield returned 

to West Point as assistant professor of natural and 

experimental philosophy from 1855 to 1860. His career seemed 

stalled, so he took leave (1860–1861), to work as professor of 

physics at Washington University in St. Louis, Missouri. 

Several of his brothers had settled in St. Louis, following the 

lead of his eldest brother Rev. James Van Pelt Schofield (1825–

1898).  

Civil War 

When the Civil War broke out, Schofield helped assure 

Missouri did not join the Confederacy. He became a major in 
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the 1st Missouri Infantry Regiment and served as chief of staff 

to Maj. Gen. Nathaniel Lyon until Lyon's death during the 

Battle of Wilson's Creek (Missouri) in August 1861. Schofield 

acted with "conspicuous gallantry" during the battle, and 

decades later received the Medal of Honor for that action.  

Schofield was promoted to brigadier general of volunteers on 

November 21, 1861. From 1861 to 1863 he held various 

commands in the Trans-Mississippi Theater. He commanded 

the District of St Louis from that date to 10 April 1862, the 

Military District of Missouri from 5 June to 24 September 

1862, and the District of Southwest Missouri to 10 November 

1862. He led the Army of the Frontier from 12 October 1862 to 

30 May 1863. He was promoted to major general of volunteers 

on November 29, 1862 at the age of 31, making him one of the 

youngest major generals in the Civil War.  

On 30 September 1862, a Federal brigade suffered a defeat at 

the First Battle of Newtonia in southwest Missouri. Both James 

G. Blunt and Schofield rushed to Newtonia, Missouri with 

reinforcements and sent the Confederate force fleeing south 

into Arkansas. The department commander Samuel Ryan 

Curtis created the Army of the Frontier with Schofield in 

command. Blunt led the 1st Division, James Totten the 2nd 

Division, and Francis J. Herron the 3rd Division. The army 

numbered 20,000 men, but probably 14,000 were fit for duty. 

Schofield's army crossed into northwest Arkansas on 17 

October. Blunt's division soon moved west into Indian Territory 

where it won the Battle of Old Fort Wayne on 22 October. 

Meanwhile, Schofield with the 2nd and 3rd Divisions occupied 

Huntsville, Arkansas. Schofield's troops clashed with forces led 

by Thomas C. Hindman, and the Confederates retreated south 
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on 29 October. On 4 November, with the approval of Curtis, 

Schofield's two divisions withdrew northeast to Springfield, 

Missouri while Blunt's division remained in northwest 

Arkansas.  

He was eventually relieved of duty in the West, at his own 

request, due to altercations with his superior Samuel R. 

Curtis.  

From 17 April to 10 May 1863, Schofield led the 3rd Division 

in the XIV Corps, Army of the Cumberland. He returned to 

Missouri as commander of the Department of Missouri from 24 

May 1863 to 30 January 1864. His command in Missouri was 

marred by controversy after a massacre at Lawrence, Kansas, 

when Schofield refused to allow a posse to pursue the 

combatants into Missouri. Pro-Union Missourians sent a 

delegation to Washington DC in October to plead with 

President Lincoln to dismiss Schofield for sympathizing with 

pro-Confederate Bushwhacker para-military marauders who 

were attacking loyal Union citizens. Lincoln backed Schofield's 

position, attributed the carnage to wartime conditions rather 

than the commander's inadequacy, and instructed Schofield to 

respect civil liberties unless assemblies or newspapers were 

working palpable harm to the military.  

In 1864, as commander of the Army of the Ohio, Schofield 

participated in the Atlanta Campaign under Major General 

William T. Sherman. Sherman placed him in command of a 

major operation to break the rail lines in late July 1864. 

Schofield became embroiled in another controversy with the 

commander of the US XIV Corps (Volunteer), Major General 

John Palmer, who resigned rather than serve under Schofield, 
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whom he considered to be of lower rank, but whom Gen. 

Sherman backed, at Utoy Creek (becoming the only resignation 

during a major operation in U.S. history, although Palmer was 

ultimately reassigned to Kentucky and helped assert federal 

control over that border state for three years).  

Schofield with his XXIII Corps and the XIV Corps then spent 

the month in front of Atlanta and East Point with lackluster 

results. Sherman resorted to a flanking movement to defeat the 

Confederates under Hood. Schofield was sent to cut off 

Hardee's retreat at Jonesboro but failed to move. He became 

embroiled in a further controversy, when placed under General 

Stanley commanding the US IV Corps, on August 30, 1864.  

Sherman, after the fall of Atlanta, took the majority of his 

forces on a March to the Sea through Georgia. Schofield's Army 

of the Ohio was detached to join Major General George H. 

Thomas in Tennessee. When Confederate General John Bell 

Hood invaded Tennessee and nearly cut off Schofield's 

command at Spring Hill, Hood's rash assault to regain 

momentum at the subsequent Battle of Franklin resulted in a 

significant defeat. On December 15–16, Schofield took part in 

Thomas's crowning victory at the Battle of Nashville where 

Hood's Army of Tennessee was decisively defeated, and 

effectively destroyed as a fighting force for the remainder of the 

war. However, during the buildup towards the battle Schofield 

intrigued against Thomas, feeding Grant false information, in 

order to try to succeed his senior in command. For his services 

at Franklin he was awarded the rank of brigadier general in the 

regular army on November 30, 1864, and the brevet rank of 

major general on March 13, 1865.  
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Ordered to operate with Sherman in North Carolina, Schofield 

moved his corps by rail and sea to Fort Fisher, North Carolina, 

in 17 days, occupied Wilmington on February 22, 1865, fought 

the action at Kinston on March 10, and on March 23, joined 

Sherman at Goldsboro.  

Reconstruction 

After the war, President Andrew Johnson sent Schofield on a 

special diplomatic mission to France, urging withdrawal of 

French troops in Mexico. General Schofield also joined the 

Military Order of the Loyal Legion of the United States, a 

military society composed of officers of the Union armed forces 

and their descendants. After retiring from active duty, 

Schofield served as the Order's commander-in-chief (from 1899 

to 1903).  

During Reconstruction, President Johnson appointed Schofield 

to serve as military governor of Virginia and of the First 

Military District. Thus, he oversaw the elections (in which 

blacks and whites voted) which resulted in the Virginia 

Constitutional Convention of 1868. When Radicals took over 

that convention and proposed to disenfranchise former 

Confederates Schofield voiced concerns about corruption to 

Congress as well as his commander, General Ulysses Grant. 

Schofield's position was of high importance and sensitivity, 

due to the region's proximity to Washington as well as 

Confederate President Jefferson Davis's incarceration in 

Norfolk and awaiting trial under Judge John Curtiss 

Underwood, who chaired the Constitutional Convention and 

had close links with Congressional Republicans. After 

President Johnson forced Edwin M. Stanton, a Radical 
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Republican who had served as Secretary of War since 1862, to 

resign, Schofield served as Secretary of War from June 1868 to 

March 1869.  

Postbellum career 

Schofield was promoted to major general in the Regular Army 

on March 4, 1869, the same day General Ulysses S. Grant was 

sworn in as president of the United States. Schofield then 

served for a year as head of the Department of Missouri, the 

Army's second largest military department.  

Following General George Thomas' death, Schofield succeeded 

him in commanding the Military Division of the Pacific, the 

country's largest.  

In 1873, Schofield was given a secret task by Secretary of War 

William Belknap to investigate the strategic potential of a 

United States presence in the Hawaiian Islands. Schofield's 

report recommended that the United States establish a naval 

port at Pearl Harbor.  

Starting in 1876 until 1881, Schofield became superintendent 

of the United States Military Academy. A major focus was 

reducing hazing and increasing professionalism within the 

academy. In 1878, Schofield drew the ire of Radical 

Republicans when President Rutherford B. Hayes asked him to 

reopen the case of Major General Fitz John Porter, who had 

been convicted by a court-martial for cowardice and 

disobedience at the Second Battle of Bull Run. Schofield's 

review board used new evidence from Confederate generals who 

had participated in the battle, and then found that Porter had 
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been wrongly convicted and that his actions might have saved 

the entire Union army from complete defeat caused by the 

ineptitude of Maj. Gens. John Pope and Irvin McDowell.  

On April 5, 1880, an African American cadet at West Point, 

Johnson Chesnut Whittaker, was found bruised and beaten in 

his cot. He claimed that he had been attacked by fellow cadets, 

but the administration claimed he had fabricated his story to 

win sympathy. Whittaker was court-martialed and expelled for 

allegedly faking an assault on himself staged by his fellow 

cadets. A Congressional investigation into the incident resulted 

in Schofield's removal from his post as superintendent in 1881.  

Schofield then served in the Department of the Gulf (1881–82), 

the Military Division of the Pacific (1882–83), the Military 

Division of the Missouri (1883–86), and the Military Division of 

the Atlantic (1886–88). He also went to France to witness 

military maneuvers there. Gen. Schofield was also the first 

President of the Army and Navy Club (founded 1885, 

incorporated 1891).  

Upon the death of General Philip Sheridan in 1888, General 

Schofield, by virtue of his seniority in rank, became the 

commanding general of the United States Army. He supported 

military professionalism, including subordination to the 

civilian Secretary of War. Schofield also supported adoption of 

lineal promotions and initiated performance reviews which 

limited political patronage considerations from the promotion 

process. Writing from South Dakota, General Schofield 

seconded a report of General Thomas H. Ruger which urged the 

federal government to honor treaty obligations with Native 

Americans.  
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General Schofield received the Medal of Honor on July 2, 1892 

for his actions at the Battle of Wilson's Creek in 1861. During 

the unrest of the Pullman Strike, Schofield worked with 

President Cleveland in a discreet advisory role. On February 5, 

1895, he was promoted to the rank of lieutenant general. 

Lieutenant General Schofield retired on September 29, 1895, 

upon reaching the mandatory retirement age of 64.  

However, he remained active in government affairs, supporting 

Elihu Root, testifying before congressional committees in 

support of the Army Reorganization Act of 1901 and the Dick 

Act of 1903 which established the U.S. National Guard.  

Personal life 

John Schofield married Harriet Whitehorn Bartlett, daughter of 

W.F.C. Bartlett (Chairman of West Point's Department of 

Philosophy) and they would have two daughters and four sons. 

Two sons, John (1858–1868) and Henry (1862–1863), died 

before reaching adulthood. William Bartlett Schofield, 1860–

1906) survived to and began a U.S. Army career, rising to 

Major, as did Richmond McAlister Schofield (1867–1941). After 

Harriet died in 1888, she was buried with her father and son 

John in the United States Military Academy Post cemetery. At 

age 60, in Keokuk, Iowa in June 1891, Schofield remarried, to 

27-year-old Georgia Wells Kilbourne, with whom he had a 

daughter, Georgiana.  

Georgia Wells Kilbourne was a native of Keokuk, Iowa. She was 

the daughter of George Kilbourne, and was named Georgia for 

her father. She attended school in New York, and afterwards 

studied abroad. General Schofield and Kilbourne were married 
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in 1891. Her mother, Mrs. Kilbourne, and her younger sister, 

Miss Emma Kilbourne, spent a part of the year at her 

Washington home. Emma Kilbourne had a literary predilection, 

devoting much of her time to reading and study.  

During his military career, perhaps because of his reformer 

image, Schofield would be dogged by accusations of favoritism 

toward family members. His brother George Wheeler Schofield 

(1833–1882) would also become a brevet Brigadier General of 

U.S. Volunteers during the American Civil War, originally 

volunteering with the 1st Missouri Volunteer Infantry in 

November 1861 and promoted to Captain in the 1st Missouri 

Light Artillery after the Siege of Vicksburg, and rising to 

command the 2nd Regiment Missouri Volunteer Light artillery 

and ultimately being commissioned as a Major in the Regular 

Army after the Civil War and serving in the 10th Cavalry and 

later the 6th Cavalry on the Western Frontier, and for whom 

the .45 caliber Smith and Wesson Schofield revolver was 

named. Another brother Charles Brewster Schofield (1849–

1901) would graduate from West Point in 1870. C.B. Schofield 

would later serve as his Gen. J.M. Schofield's aide during the 

Indian Wars from 1878–1885. After rising to the rank of 

Captain during the Spanish–American War, he died of a heart 

attack in Matanzas, Cuba in 1901 and was also buried at 

Arlington National Cemetery. While Gen. John Schofield was in 

charge of Military District No. 1 in Virginia, his brother Elisha 

McAllister Schofield (1835–1882) was the assessor for the City 

of Richmond, Virginia and was among many killed on April 26, 

1870 as a result of the collapse of the balcony during a session 

of the Virginia Court of Appeals. His son in law, Brig. Gen. 

Avery Delano Andrews and his wife Mary Campbell Schofield 

Andrews are also buried at Arlington National Cemetery.  
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Death and legacy 

Before his death, Schofield became the last surviving member 

of Andrew Johnson's cabinet. His memoirs, Forty-six Years in 

the Army, were published in 1897. General Schofield became 

an honorary companion of the Military Order of Foreign Wars.  

General Schofield died at St. Augustine, Florida on March 4, 

1906. He is buried in Arlington National Cemetery. Schofield 

Barracks, Hawaii are named in his honor.  

Today, Schofield is also remembered for a lengthy quotation 

that all cadets at the United States Military Academy at West 

Point, Officer Candidate School at Fort Benning, and the 

United States Air Force Academy are required to memorize. It 

is an excerpt from his graduation address to the class of 1879 

at West Point:  

The discipline which makes the soldiers of a free country 

reliable in battle is not to be gained by harsh or tyrannical 

treatment. On the contrary, such treatment is far more likely 

to destroy than to make an army.  

It is possible to impart instruction and give commands in such 

a manner and such a tone of voice as to inspire in the soldier 

no feeling, but an intense desire to obey, while the opposite 

manner and tone of voice cannot fail to excite strong 

resentment and a desire to disobey.  

The one mode or other of dealing with subordinates springs 

from a corresponding spirit in the breast of the commander. He 

who feels the respect which is due to others cannot fail to 
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inspire in them respect for himself. While he who feels, and 

hence manifests, disrespect towards others, especially his 

subordinates, cannot fail to inspire hatred against himself. 

• —  John M. Schofield 

  



Chapter 17 

Battles 

Battle of Spicheren 

The Battle of Spicheren, also known as the Battle of Forbach, 

was a battle during the Franco-Prussian War. The German 

victory compelled the French to withdraw to the defenses of 

Metz. The Battle of Spicheren, on 6 August, was the second of 

three critical French defeats. Moltke had originally planned to 

keep Bazaine's army on the Saar river until he could attack it 

with the 2nd Army in front and the 1st Army on its left flank, 

while the 3rd Army closed towards the rear. The aging General 

von Steinmetz made an overzealous, unplanned move, leading 

the 1st Army south from his position on the Moselle. He moved 

straight toward the town of Spicheren, cutting off Prince 

Frederick Charles from his forward cavalry units in the 

process.  

Background 

The French declared war before their troops were in position to 

invade Germany. The Germans, commanded by Field Marshal 

von Moltke, began to assemble into three armies, which were to 

invade France and to occupy Paris.    On 4 August they crossed 

the frontier, where 3rd Army conquered the walled city of 

Wissembourg. Two days later they defeated the French again at 

Wörth.   On the same day 2nd Army was marching westward, 

even though one of its corps was still on the railroad.  
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When Napoleon III arrived to take command of the French field 

army, he followed the urging of his generals and ordered 

General Lebœuf to besiege Saarbrücken. Following a vigorous 

defense the outnumbered Germans evacuated the city, which 

the French occupied without crossing the river Saar.  Lebœuf 

had been warned by his chief Intendant, Charles Joseph 

Francois Wolff, not to cross the Saar because they would be 

unable to supply men on the further bank. Therefore, the 

armies of France, led by Field Marshal Bazaine, took up 

defensive positions that would protect against every possible 

attack, but which also left their armies unable to support one 

another.  

Moltke assembled his forces into two wings. On the right, 2nd 

Army, with 134,000 men under Prussian Crown Prince 

Frederick Charles containing the III, IV, IX, X, XII Corps, and 

the Prussian Guard, advanced towards Saarbrücken. The 1st 

Army's 60,000 men under General Steinmetz, consisting of the 

I, VII and VIII Corps, was moving in line with 2nd Army from 

the lower Moselle river towards Saarlouis.   

Prelude 

The Germans crossed the frontier on 4 August. They 

encountered lively opposition before the walls of Wissembourg 

which they subdued by bringing up artillery, This battle had 

not been planned by Moltke, who wished to keep Bazaine's 

army along the Saar river until he could attack it with the 2nd 

army in front and 1st army on its left flank, while 3rd army 

was closing towards its rear. However, General von Steinmetz 

disobeyed and made an overzealous, ill-considered move, 

leading 1st army south from his position on the Moselle 
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straight toward the town of Spicheren, in the process cutting 

Prince Frederick Charles off from his forward cavalry units. 

The 1st Army advance guard, the (14th Division, VII Corps) 

under General Georg von Kameke advancing west from 

Saarbrücken on the morning of 6 August found the bridges still 

intact and seized the opportunity to occupy the high ground 

just beyond the town. The French II Corps under General 

Frossard had abandoned these heights in order to take up 

what he considered to be a position magnifique, a fortified line 

between Spicheren and Forbach. Frossard distributed his corps 

as follows: holding the right and centre was the division of 

General Laveaucoupet, which was deployed along the heights, 

with two companies entrenched on the Rotherberg. On the 

French left General Charles Nicolas Vergé's division occupied 

Stiring and the Forbach valley. General Bataille’s division was 

held back in reserve around Spicheren; in all, counting the 

corps cavalry and artillery, some 27,000 men with 90 guns.  

Battle 

While the French army under General MacMahon engaged the 

German 3rd Army at the Battle of Wörth, the German 1st Army 

under Steinmetz advanced west from Saarbrücken. Early on 

the 6th, a patrol from the German 2nd Army under Prince 

Friedrich Karl of Prussia spotted decoy fires ahead and saw 

Frossard's army farther off on a plateau south of the town of 

Spicheren. Ignoring Moltke's instructions, both German armies 

attacked Frossard's French II Corps fortified line.   

Kameke believed that Frossard's Corps was retreating: hence 

he would only be engaging its rear guard. He ordered an all out 

attack, committing the 74th and the 39th Regiments of the 
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27th Brigade under Gen. Bruno von François to the hill wall 

extending between Spicheren and Forbach.  

At the beginning of the battle the French were unaware that 

the Germans had numerical superiority because only units of 

the German 2nd Army attacked. Fossard regarded the 

attackers as skirmishers and therefore did not request 

reinforcements. By the time he realized the strength of the 

force he was opposing, it was too late. Seriously flawed 

communications between Frossard and the Bazaine's 

headquarters slowed responses: by the time the reserves 

received orders to move to Spicheren German troops from the 

1st and 2nd Armies had moved across the open ground to 

shelter at the base of the heights, arriving at one o'clock.  

At the base of the hill, General François waited for 

reinforcements, unsure of how many French opposed him. 

French counter-attacks by infantry and Cuirassiers were 

stopped bloodily by 3 nearby Prussian batteries which despite 

heavy losses from French fire had deployed on Galgenberg Hill 

just 1 km (0.62 mi) from Rotherberg Hill. Kameke's 28th 

Brigade under Wilhelm von Woyna arrived in the afternoon to 

bring the battle back to life, but again the Prussian attacks 

were repulsed.   

The French counter-attacked. General François was at the 

front encouraging the troops of the 74th Regiment which had 

reached the edge of Rotherberg Hill, drew his sword, ordered 

the bugler to sound the call to attack and led the newly arrived 

9th Company of the 39th Regiment in a charge: he was killed, 

being struck by 5 bullets. Gen. Laveaucoupet's 40th Regiment 
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pushed back François's badly demoralized survivors while Gen. 

Charles Vergé's 2nd Brigade pushed back Woyna's troops.   

By this time, General Constantin von Alvensleben, commander 

of the III Corps of the Prussian 2nd Army had come to the aid 

of his compatriots and the Prince had taken overall command. 

Drawn by the sound of battle, more and more Prussian troops 

appeared on the battlefield. Alvensleben decided to attack 

Frossard's left flank.   

After 5pm the tide of battle turned again, as General Battaile's 

2nd Division attacked with 15 battalions near Stiring and 

Spicheren, breaking the Prussian lines and pushing them back 

almost to Saarbrücken. If Frossard had continued these 

counter-attacks he might have won the battle: but because 

reserves had not arrived, Frossard waited and reinforced his 

left flank, believing that he was in grave danger of being 

outflanked because German soldiers under General Adolf von 

Glümer were spotted in Forbach. MacMahon ordered the 

French to retreat because they could not obtain reinforcements 

or ammunition by rail because the Germans had cut the 

line.  Frossard stopped his successful attack and around 7pm 

wired headquarters that he would have to retreat back to the 

heights to avoid being outflanked.  

They were pressed by a combination of overlapping infantry 

and artillery attacks. Frossard's troops started an orderly 

retreat from Rotherberg Hill and Stiring, though by some 

reports some fled in panic, with 3,000 arriving in Strasburg 

without arms.   During the retreat most of Marshal MacMahon's 

staff were killed. The French rear guard resisted strongly so 

there was bloody house to house fighting in Forbach and 
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Stiring.  Alvensleben's infantry charge with more than 5000 men 

overran the French rear guard at dusk, thus gaining control of 

the Rotherberg Hill. Instead of continuing to defend the 

heights, Frossard retreated in an orderly fashion to the south. 

By 9 o'clock, the Prussians occupied the entire Spicheren 

plateau. They celebrated with a salute of one hundred and one 

guns.   

• The German infantry was exhausted and needed to 

rest and re-group, so even though fresh cavalry units 

were available the retreating French were allowed to 

slip away.  

Aftermath 

The Prussian casualties were 4,871, due to attacking and the 

effectiveness of the French chassepot rifle. French losses were 

4,078.   In the morning when they had found out that their 

efforts were not in vain: Frossard had abandoned his position 

on the heights and had ordered a retreat towards Moselle 

where he planned to withdraw and move to the fortress of 

Verdun, en route he was reinforced by Bazaine's division. They 

were again attacked by Steinmetz at the Battle of Borny-

Colombey.  

Analysis 

• France had lost another battle; the incompetence of 

its military commanders and their lack of initiative 

mainly to blame. The German casualties were 

relatively high due to lack of planning and the 

effectiveness of the French chassepot rifle. 
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Versneufheures du soir, le mêmecapitainedonne l'ordred' 

abandonner la position. Il nous indique le lieu de ralliement 

avec le régiment. Ilfauteffectuer la route à marcheforcée, les 

ennemissontlà qui menacent de nous couper la retraite. La 

plainegrouille de Prussiens, paraît-il. C'estégal, je ne suis pas 

content de battreenretraite sans essayer mon fusil !... C'est de 

mauvaisaugure, pensais-je. Nous sortons par où nous 

sommesentrés, et, à deux cent mètres, de la ville, nous 

nousjetons à travers la plaine. Arrivés sur unchemin vicinal, 

nous marchons à perdrehaleine, craignant à chaque instant 

l'apparition des casques à pointes nous barrant la route. Ce 

n'est plus uneretraite, vrai, c'estunsauve qui peut!  

At about nine o'clock in the evening, the same captain gave the 

order to abandon the position. He tells us where to rally with 

the regiment. We have to make the road with forced march, the 

enemies are there threatening to cut off our retreat. The plain 

is crawling with Prussians, I hear. It's the same, I'm not happy 

to retreat without trying my gun!..... It's a bad omen, I 

thought. We leave by where we entered, and, two hundred 

meters from the city, we throw ourselves across the plain. 

Arrived on a rural road, we walk to lose our breath, fearing at 

every moment the appearance of pointy helmets blocking our 

way. It's no longer a retreat, true, it's a run for your lives! 

There are numerous memorials on the plateau of Rotherberg 

Hill and at the various military cemeteries in Spicheren, many 

of them German, and at the Forest Cemetery and the German-

French-Garden in Saarbrücken, commemorating the fallen 

soldiers or officers of the individual formations, as well as a 

big memorial for the fallen French. Many of these memorials 

became a theme for postcards in the decades after the battle. 
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There is a trail named after General François which passes the 

memorials on the Spicheren heights.  

In the 21st century, groups from France and Germany 

regularly collaborate to re-enact the battle.  

Battle of Wörth 

The Battle of Wörth, also known as the Battle of 

Reichshoffen or as the Battle of Frœschwiller, refers to the 

second battle of Wörth, which took place on 6 August 1870 in 

the opening stages of the Franco-Prussian War (the first Battle 

of Wörth occurred on 23 December 1793 during the French 

Revolutionary Wars). In the second battle, troops from 

Germany commanded by Crown Prince Frederick and directed 

by his chief of staff, General Leonhard Graf von Blumenthal, 

defeated the French under Marshal MacMahon near the village 

of Wœrth in Alsace, on the Sauer River, 10 kilometres (6.2 mi) 

north of Haguenau. 

Prelude 

During 5 August 1870 the French were concentrated in a 

selected position running nearly north and south along the 

western banks of the Sauer on the left front of the German III 

army, which was moving south in an attempt to find them. The 

French position was marked from right to left by Morsbronn, 

the Niederwald, the heights west of Wœrth and the woods 

northeast of Frœschwiller.  
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East of the Sauer the German III army was moving south 

towards Haguenau, when their cavalry found the French 

position about noon. Thereafter the German vedettes held the 

French under close observation, while the latter moved about 

within their lines and as far as the village of Wœrth as if in 

peace, notwithstanding the defeat of a portion of the French 

army at the Battle of Wissembourg on the previous day. The 

remnant of the force which had been engaged there, with many 

of its wounded still in the ranks, marched in about noon with 

so soldierly a bearing that, so far from their depressing the 

morale of the rest, their appearance actually raised it.  

About 17:00 the French watered some horses at the Sauer as if 

in peace, without escort, though hostile scouts were in sight. A 

sudden swoop of German hussars drove the party back to 

camp. The alarm sounded, tents were struck and the troops fell 

in all along the line and remained under arms until the 

confusion died down, when orders were sent to fall out, but not 

to pitch tents. The army therefore bivouacked; but for this 

incident, the battle of the next day would probably not have 

been fought. A sudden and violent storm broke over the 

bivouacs, and when it was over, the men, wet and restless, 

began to move about, light fires, etc. Many of them broke camp 

and went into Wœrth, which was unoccupied, though 

Prussians were only 300 metres from the sentries. These fired, 

and the officer commanding the Prussian outposts, hearing the 

confused murmur of voices, ordered up a battery which, as 

soon as there was enough light, fired several shells into 

Wœrth. The stragglers rushed back, the French lines were 

again alarmed, and several batteries on the French side took 

up the challenge.  
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Battle 

Bavarian II Corps 

The Prussian guns, strict orders having been given to avoid all 

engagement that day, soon withdrew and were about to return 

to camp, when renewed artillery fire was heard from the south, 

and presently also from the north. In the latter direction, the II 

Bavarian Corps, led by Jakob von Hartmann, had bivouacked 

along the Mattstall–Langen–Sulzbach road with orders to 

continue the march if artillery were heard to the south. This 

order was contrary to the spirit of the III army orders; 

moreover, the V Prussian Corps to the south was in ignorance 

of its having been given.  

The outpost battery near Wörth was heard and the Bavarians 

at once moved forward. Soon the leading troops were on the 

crest of the ridge between the Sauer and the Sulzbach, and the 

Bavarian divisional commander, anxious to prove his loyalty to 

his new allies—his enemies in 1866–ordered his troops to 

attack, giving the spire of Frœschwiller, which was visible over 

the woods, as the point of direction.  

Prussian V Corps 

The French, however, were quite ready and a furious fusillade 

broke out, the sound being multiplied out of proportion to the 

numbers engaged by the echoes of the forest-clad hills. The 

Prussian officers of the V Corps near Dieffenbach, knowing 

nothing of the orders the Bavarians had received, were amazed; 

but at length, at about 10:30 h, when their comrades were 
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seen retiring, in some cases in great disorder, the corps 

commander, General Hugo von Kirchbach, decided that an 

effort must at once be made to relieve the Bavarians. His chief 

of staff had already ordered up the divisional and corps 

artillery (84 guns in all), and he himself communicated his 

intention of attacking to the XI Corps (General Julius von 

Bose) on his left and asked for all available assistance. A 

report was also despatched to the crown prince at 

Sulz,8kilometres (5.0 mi) away.  

Meanwhile, the Prussian XI Corps had become involved in an 

engagement. The left of the V Corps' outposts had overnight 

occupied Gunstett and the bank of the Sauer, and the French, 

shortly after daylight on 6 August 1870, sent down an 

unarmed party to fetch water. As this appeared through the 

mist, the Prussians naturally fired upon it, and the French 

General Lartigue (to whose division the party belonged), 

puzzled to account for the firing, brought up some batteries in 

readiness to repel an attack. These fired a few rounds only, but 

remained in position as a precaution.  

Prussian XI Corps 

Hearing the firing, the XI Corps advanced guard, which had 

marched up behind in accordance with the general movement 

of the corps in changing front to the west, and had halted on 

reaching the Kreuzhecke Wood, promptly came up to 

Spachbach and Gunstett. In this movement across country to 

Spachbach some bodies appear to have exposed themselves, for 

French artillery at Elsasshausen suddenly opened fire, and the 

shrapnel bursting high sent showers of bullets on the house 

roofs of Spachbach, in which village a French battalion had 
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just halted. As the falling tiles made the position undesirable, 

the major in command ordered the march to be resumed, and 

as he gave the order, his horse ran away with him towards the 

Sauer. The leading company, seeing the battalion commander 

gallop, moved off at the double, and the others of course 

followed. Coming within sight of the enemy, they drew heavy 

shellfire, and, still under the impression that they were 

intended to attack, deployed into line of columns and doubled 

down to the river, which they crossed. One or two companies in 

the neighbourhood had already begun to do so, and the stream 

being too wide for the mounted officers to jump, presently 

eight or ten companies were across the river and out of 

superior control. By this time the French outposts (some 1500 

rifles), lining the edge of the Niederwald, were firing heavily. 

The line of smoke was naturally accepted by all as the 

objective, and the German companies with a wild rush reached 

the edge of the wood.  

The same thing had happened at Gunstett. A most obstinate 

struggle ensued and both sides brought up reinforcements. The 

Prussians, with all their attention concentrated on the wood in 

their front, and having as yet no superior commanders, soon 

exhibited signs of confusion, and thereupon General Lartigue 

ordered a counterattack towards the heights of Gunstett, 

before which all the Prussians between the Niederwald and the 

Sauer gave way. The French followed with a rush, and, fording 

the Sauer opposite Gunstett, for a moment put the long line of 

German guns upon the heights in considerable danger. At this 

crisis a fresh battalion of the Prussian XI corps arrived by the 

road from Surbourg to Gunstett and attacked the French on 

one flank whilst the guns swept the other. The momentum of 
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the charge died out, and the French drifted backwards. The 

French effort compelled the admiration of both sides.  

Prussian V Corps 

In the centre the fight had been going badly for the V corps. As 

soon as the 84 guns between Dieffenbach and Spachbach 

opened fire, the French disappeared from sight. There was no 

longer a target, and, perhaps to compel his adversary to show 

himself, von Kirchbach ordered four battalions to cross the 

river. These battalions, however, were widely separated, and 

came under fire as soon as they appeared. They attacked in 

two groups, one from Wœrth towards Frœschwiller, the other 

from near Spachbach towards the Calvary spur, east of 

Elsasshausen. Both were overpowered by French infantry fire. 

A fraction of the southern party maintained itself all day in the 

elbow of the Hagenauchaussee, which formed a starting-point 

for subsequent attacks.  

But the rest were driven back in great confusion. Once more 

the dashing counter-attack of the French was thrown into 

confusion by Prussian shell fire, and as the French fell back, 

the Prussian infantry, now reinforced, followed them up (about 

13:00 h). The commander in chief of the German III army 

(Crown Prince Frederick) now appeared on the field and 

ordered Kirchbach to stand fast until the pressure of the XI 

corps and of the Württemberg division could take effect against 

the French right wing. The majority of these troops had not yet 

reached the field. Von Bose, however, seeing the retreat of the 

troops of the V corps, had independently determined to renew 

the attack against the Niederwald with such of his forces as 

had arrived, and had ordered General von Schkopp's brigade, 
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which was then approaching, to join the troops collecting to 

the east of Gunstett. Schkopp, however, seeing that his present 

line of advance led him directly on to the French right about 

Morsbronn and kept him clear of the confusion to be seen 

around Gunstett, disregarded the order and continued to 

advance on Morsbronn. This deliberate acceptance of 

responsibility really decided the battle, for Schkopp's brigade 

quietly deployed as a unit and compelled the French right wing 

to fall back.  

French cavalry 

To cover the French retreat General Michel's brigade of cavalry 

was ordered to charge. The order was somewhat vague, and in 

his position under cover near Eberbach-Seltz, General Michel 

had no knowledge of the actual situation. Thus it came about 

that, without reconnoitering or manoeuvering for position, the 

French cavalry rode straight at the first objective which offered 

itself, and struck the victorious Prussians as they were 

crossing the hills between the Albrechtshäuserhof and 

Morsbronn. Hence the charge was costly and only partly 

successful. However, the Prussians were ridden down here and 

there, and their attention was sufficiently absorbed while the 

French infantry rallied for a fresh counterstrike. This was 

made about 13:20 h. The Prussians were driven off the 

hillsides between the Albrechtshäuserhof and Morsbronn which 

they had already won. But the counter-attack turned into 

disaster when 700 French cuirassiers were trapped inside 

Morsbronn and massacred within a few minutes by rapid close-

range fire. The rest of the French cavalry eventually came 

under fire from the great artillery mass above Gunstett; von 

Bose having at length concentrated the main body of the XI 
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corps in the meadows between the Niederwald and the Sauer, 

the French had to withdraw. Their withdrawal involved the 

retreat of the troops who had fought all day in defence of the 

Niederwald.  

French counter-attack 

By 15:00 h the Prussians were masters of the Niederwald and 

the ground south of it on which the French right wing had 

originally stood, but they were in indescribable confusion after 

the prolonged fighting in the dense undergrowth. Before order 

could be restored the French launched another fierce 

counterstroke. As the Prussians emerged from the north edge 

of the wood, the French reserves suddenly emerged from 

behind the Elsasshausen heights and striking due south drove 

the Prussians back. It was a grave crisis, but at this moment 

von Schkopp, who throughout all this had kept two of his 

battalions intact, came around the northwest corner of the 

Wald, and these fresh battalions again brought the French to a 

standstill. Meanwhile, von Kirchbach, seeing the progress of 

the XI corps, had ordered the whole of his command forward to 

assault the French centre; away to the right the two Bavarian 

corps moved against the French left, which still maintained its 

original position in the woods northeast of Frœschwiller.  

MacMahon, however, was not beaten yet. Ordering 

Bonnemains's cavalry division to charge by squadrons to gain 

time, he brought up his reserve artillery, and sent it forward to 

case-shot range to cover a final counter-stroke by his last 

intact battalions. But from his position near Frœschwiller he 

could not see into the hollow between Elsasshausen and the 

Niederwald. The order came too late, and the artillery 
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unlimbered just as the aforementioned counter-attack on the 

Niederwald gave way before von Schkopp's reserve. The guns 

were submerged in a flood of fugitives and pursuers. 

Elsasshausen passed into the hands of the Germans. To rescue 

the guns, the nearest French infantry attacked in a succession 

of groups, charging at bayonet-point with the utmost 

determination. The Prussians immediately in front gave way 

each attack, but those on the flanks swung inwards and under 

this converging fire each French attempt died out, the 

Prussians following up the French retreat. In this manner, step 

by step, in confusion which almost defies analysis, the 

Prussians conquered the whole of the ground to the south of 

the Frœschwiller-Wœrth road, but the French still held on in 

the village of Frœschwiller itself and in the woods to the north 

of the road, where throughout the day they had held the two 

Bavarian corps in check with little difficulty. To break down 

this last stronghold, the guns of the Prussian V and XI corps, 

which had now come forward to the captured ridge of 

Elsasshausen, took the village as their target; the great mass 

of infantry, now flushed with victory but in the direst 

confusion, encouraged by the example of two horse artillery 

batteries which galloped boldly forward to case-shot range, 

delivered one final rush which swept all resistance before it.  

French retreat 

The battle was won, and cavalry only were needed to reap its 

consequences, but the Prussian cavalry division had been left 

behind without orders and did not reach the battlefield until 

late at night. The divisional cavalry squadrons did their best, 

but each pursued on its own account, and the results in 

prisoners and guns taken fell far short of what the opportunity 
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offered. The French, under cover of darkness, escaped, and on 

the following day the Prussian cavalry division was quite 

unable to discover the direction of the retreat.  

Aftermath 

Analysis 

MacMahon received no support from the neighbouring French 

troops. The battle was won by overpowering weight of numbers: 

the Prussian general staff were able to field no fewer than 

75,000 infantry, 6000 cavalry, and 300 guns, of which 71,000 

rifles, 4250 sabres and 234 guns came into action, against 

32,000 rifles, 4850 sabres and 101 guns on the French side. 

The superiority of the French chassepot over the Prussian 

needle guns was cancelled by the higher number of rifles on 

the German side; although the Prussians could generally use 

their numerical superiority to bring a converging fire upon the 

French, the latter made nearly twice the number of hits for 

about the same weight of ammunition fired. The French, 

however, had no answer to the superior German artillery, and 

in almost every instance it was the terrible shellfire which 

broke up French counterattacks. All of these attacks were in 

the highest degree honourable to the French army, and many 

came closer to foiling the ultimate success of the Germans 

than was supposed.  

Casualties 

The Germans lost 103 officers and 1,483 men killed, 383 

officers and 7,207 men wounded and 1,373 men missing. Horse 
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casualties amounted to 341. The French lost 8,000 men killed 

and wounded, and perhaps 12,000 missing, and prisoners, 

representing a total loss of about 41%. Some French regiments 

retained a semblance of discipline after suffering enormous 

losses. The 2nd Turcos lost 93%, 13th Hussars 87%, and 

thirteen regiments in all lost over 50% of their strength. 

Friedrich Wilhelm's army captured 200 officers, 9,000 enlisted 

men, 1 eagle, 4 Turco standards, 28 guns, 5 mitrailleuses, 91 

limbers, 23 wagons of rifles and side arms, 158 other carriages 

and 1,193 horses.  

Battle of Mars-la-Tour 

The Battle of Mars-La-Tour (also known as the Battle of 

Vionville or Battle of Rezonville) was fought on 16 August 

1870, during the Franco-Prussian War, near the village of 

Mars-La-Tour in northeast France. One Prussian corps, 

reinforced by two more later in the day, encountered the entire 

French Army of the Rhine in a meeting engagement and, 

surprisingly, forced the Army of the Rhine to retreat toward the 

fortress of Metz.  

A cavalry patrol of the 1st Squadron of the 1st Hanoverian 

Dragoon Regiment No. 9, led by Rittmeister Oskar von 

Blumenthal, discovered that Marshal François Bazaine's 

160,000-man Army of the Rhine was attempting to escape from 

Metz to join with French forces at Verdun. This intelligence 

prompted General Prince Friedrich Karl, commander of the 

Prussian Second Army, to order at 1900 on 15 August a grossly 

outnumbered group of 30,000 men of the advanced III Corps 
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under General Constantin von Alvensleben to cut off the 

French line of retreat at Mars-la-Tour and Vionville.  

At 0900 on 16 August, they engaged the French army near 

Vionville, east of Mars-la-Tour. III Corps routed the French 

2nd Army Corps and captured Vionville at 1130, blocking any 

further escape attempts to the west. From 1200 to 1600, 

Alvensleben defeated all attempts by four French corps to 

dislodge his III Corps. The arrival of X Corps under General 

Konstantin Bernhard von Voigts-Rhetz to the west and that of 

IX Corps under General Albrecht Gustav von Manstein to the 

east, solidified the German position after 1600.  

On 16 August, the French could have swept away the key 

Prussian defense and escaped. Alvensleben attacked the 

French advance guard, believing that it was the rearguard of 

the retreating Army of the Rhine. Despite his misjudgment, 

Alvensleben held off four French corps for seven hours. The 

aggression and skill of the Prussians prevailed over Bazaine's 

gross indecision. Prevented from retreating, the French inside 

Metz had no choice but to fight the Battle of Gravelotte on 18 

August.  

Prelude 

• After the Battle of Spicheren on 6 August, the 

German High Command under Graf Helmuth von 

Moltke the Elder believed that the French Army of 

the Rhine would not fight on the eastern side of the 

Moselle. After 12 August, German cavalry 

reconnaissance made clear the French intention to 

fight after all. At 1800 on 14 August, Moltke ordered 
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the Second Army under Prince Friedrich Karl to 

prepare to cross the Moselle and send all available 

cavalry to the area between Metz and Verdun to 

ascertain the French movements. On the morning of 

15 August, King Wilhelm I, convinced by 

Quartermaster General Eugen Anton Theophil von 

Podbielski's argument that the French would not 

fight east of Metz, ordered the First Army under 

General Karl Friedrich von Steinmetz to move 

forward to the western side of Moselle as well. 

Meanwhile, Prince Friedrich Karl on 14 August ordered his III 

and XII Corps to cross the Moselle on 15 August and advance 

to the Seille, while his four other corps followed behind them. 

At 1100 15 August, Moltke sent a telegram to Friedrich Karl, 

informing him that the French were probably retreating 

without delay from Metz to Verdun. Friedrich Karl ordered III 

Corps under General Constantin von Alvensleben to cross the 

Moselle. The divisions of the corps marched off at 1700, the 

men not having had time to eat. The 5th Infantry Division 

crossed the bridge at Novéant, which the French had failed to 

blow up. The 6th Infantry Division erected a light pontoon 

bridge at Champey, sending its artillery and supply trains to 

cross at Pont-à-Mousson. The divisions reached their positions 

near midnight, sleeping only for a short while.  

The French withdrawal to the west was ordered on 13 August, 

interrupted on 14 August by the Battle of Borny-Colombey and 

resumed on 15 August. Fighting between German and French 

cavalry went on all day on 15 August to the south-west of 

Metz, the Germans forcing the French to retreat back toward 

Metz. At 1830 on 15 August, Moltke ordered Second Army to 
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cut off the French line of retreat along the Metz-Verdun roads 

and left to Friedrich Karl's judgement the best means to 

accomplish this task. Friedrich Karl had already made clear in 

an 1100 telegram to royal headquarters that reports from III 

Corps had convinced him that the French were retreating 

toward the Meuse with full speed and the Second Army would 

have to hurry to cut them off. At 1900 Friedrich Karl ordered 

III Corps to advance in force to Mars-la-Tour and Vionville. X 

Corps under General Konstantin Bernhard von Voigts-Rhetz 

and two cavalry divisions would assist III Corps in the 

offensive toward the Metz-Verdun roads.  

The French were, in fact, not retreating at full speed; the 

cavalry actions with the Germans, the blocking of roads by 

supply trains and the spread-out dispositions of the French 

corps, convinced the Army of the Rhine's commander Marshal 

François AchilleBazaine to delay the retreat from 0400 until 

noon 16 August. The French staff officers were busy organizing 

the supply trains and road traffic, when the battle of Mars-la-

Tour began at 0900 on 16 August. Moltke and the royal 

headquarters had wrongly assumed that a battle would not be 

fought until the Germans had reached the supposed French 

positions at the Meuse and directed the German armies to 

march toward the river without delay. The westward march of 

the German armies would leave the German troops at Mars-la-

Tour heavily outnumbered and without all possible support. 

Thanks to Moltke's bungling, the French had fifteen divisions 

against only four German ones; the German III and X Corps 

should have been wiped out on 16 August, with eight more 

German divisions available for destruction the next day. The 

French were the favorites to win the battle at Mars-la-Tour on 

16 August and break out toward the Meuse. The tactical 
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superiority of the Prussian army and the lack of vigor and 

decisiveness on the part of the French high command foiled the 

French efforts.  

Battle 

Morning 

In the evening of 15 August, Voigts-Rhetz ordered the 5th 

Cavalry Division under General Paul von Rheinbaben to 

conduct a reconnaissance-in-force against the French positions 

near Rezonville. Around 0830 on 16 August, Murat's French 

dragoon brigade west of Vionville was busy cooking food in a 

camp and did not employ cavalry or infantry patrols, allowing 

Redern's hussar brigade to close in without difficulty. A 

German battery set up position on nearby height and fired on 

the surprised French. More German batteries followed and 

opened up with their guns, throwing the entire French brigade 

into savage disorder. The French cavalry promptly fled to the 

east, re-assembling on the Rezonville plateau. The German 

horse artillery moved forward, firing on Gramont's cuirassier 

brigade near Rezonville. By 0930, the German cavalry could 

not support their artillery, as French infantry had by now 

formed up and were advancing on Vionville, subjecting the 

Germans to their fire. The German horse artillery fired on the 

French infantry, receiving French counter-battery fire in turn.  

The 6th Cavalry Division was ordered by Alvensleben at 0200 

to cross the Moselle by 0530 and lead III Corps. This was only 

accomplished by 0700, after which the division was told by 5th 

Infantry Division of French cavalry positions near Rezonville. 
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At 0900, another order arrived from Alvensleben, instructing 

6th Cavalry Division to secure the Rezonville plateau. A cavalry 

brigade under Lieutenant Colonel Rauch that was advancing on 

the heights, was fired upon from the Bois de Vionville and was 

forced to retreat after heavy losses. Grüter's brigade had more 

success around 0915, its cavalry sending French skirmishers 

fleeing, while its artillery raked French infantry camps near 

the Bois de St. Arnould.  

The French responded with great force. Marshal François 

Certain Canrobert's 6th Army Corps sent two divisions to 

Vionville and Flavigny. General Charles AugusteFrossard's 2nd 

Army Corps sent Bataille's division to occupy Vionville, Verge's 

division to control the heights north of Gorze and Lapasset's 

brigade to occupy the Bois de St. Arnould. The German 

artillery batteries at Vionville were now subject to artillery and 

skirmisher fire and were sent fleeing. By 1000, the German 

cavalry was compelled to retreat all down the line before the 

superior force of the French. At this stage, the Prussian 5th 

and 6th Infantry Divisions of III Corps reached the battlefield.  

III Corps marched up from the Moselle valley on the morning of 

16 August. At 0730 5th Infantry Division began marching along 

the road from Novéant to Gorze, their objective being Vionville. 

Its advance guard, the 9th Infantry Brigade under General von 

Döring, arrived at Gorze at 0900, where 6th Cavalry Division 

had already re-deployed. They received reports from III Corps 

outposts and the 6th Cavalry Division of French forces 

advancing on Gorze along the Rezonville plateau. Prussian 

troops began ascending the plateau around 0900. Two 

squadrons of Prussian dragoons were forced back by French 

infantry fire. Commanded by Colonel von Garrelts, the 1st and 
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2nd musketeer battalions of the 48th Infantry Regiment 

advanced, the 1st on the left and the 2nd on right with each in 

a two-line formation, up the ridge to capture the Bois de 

Vionville and had by 1015 made sufficient progress for the 1st 

light artillery battery under Captain Stüphasius to unlimber on 

their flank and for General von Döring to move up the rest of 

his men in support. The fusilier battalion of the 48th deployed 

in two lines to the left of the battery, while the 3rd Rifle 

Battalion secured the nearby Anconville farm.  

The commanding general of 5th Infantry Division, von 

Stülpnagel, first thought that the 9th Infantry Brigade would 

suffice to deal with the French advance, enabling the rest of 

the division to move on Flavigny but a personal view of the 

combat convinced him otherwise. He ordered all 24 of his 

division's guns into action under the centralized command of 

Major Gallus. The French 1st Infantry Division under General 

Verge deployed on the plateau, seeking to outflank the 

Prussians on both flanks. The 48th Infantry Regiment's two 

musketeer battalions, reinforced by three rifle companies from 

3rd Rifle Battalion, engaged in intense combat, including 

hand-to-hand fighting, against the French in the Bois de 

Vionville and had by 1100 mostly captured it. To the east, the 

Prussian Guard Regiment advanced directly north from Gorze 

and two of its battalions slowly pushed back Lapasset's brigade 

in the Bois de St. Arnould.  

To the west, an attempt by the 48th Infantry Regiment's 

fusilier battalion to flank the French positions on the plateau 

was outflanked in turn by the French, who used their superior 

numbers to good effect. The battalion was slaughtered and 

routed by the French. Major Count Schlippenbach's 1st 
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Battalion of the 10th Infantry Brigade's 52nd Infantry 

Regiment advanced in open company columns to plug the gap 

and save the now-exposed German artillery. They made initial 

headway and pushed back the French but eventually fell victim 

to overwhelming French infantry firepower with all the 

battalion's officers killed or wounded.  

They did succeed in buying time for more German 

reinforcements to arrive. General von Döring was killed at this 

point, while moving to his left wing. As the French advanced to 

destroy the crumbling left wing of the 5th Infantry Division, 

the 2nd Battalion and fusilier battalion of the 52nd Infantry 

Regiment under Colonel von Wulffen moved up the plateau and 

used their fire and bayonets to chase the French back to 

Flavigny. German losses were heavy, with the fusilier battalion 

commander Major Herwarth von Bittenfeld killed and the 2nd 

Battalion's commander Major von Bünau wounded. The fusilier 

battalion nearly ran out of ammunition. Other artillery 

batteries of III Corps near Tronville provided fire support that 

contributed to the success of the 52nd. The German artillery 

could now move forward on the left flank. An X Corps 

detachment of two infantry battalions, two dragoon squadrons 

and one artillery battery arrived to reinforce 5th Infantry 

Division, raising its artillery strength to 30 guns and creating 

a strong position for the German batteries by 1200. The heavy 

German artillery fire forced the French to support 2nd Army 

Corps with guns from the army reserve.  

Accompanied by Alvensleben, 6th Infantry Division and the 

corps artillery began moving from Arnaville to Mars-la-Tour at 

0500. At 0630 they received a cavalry reconnaissance report of 

French formations between Vionville and Tronville. At 0800, 
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the division spotted the French camps themselves. Alvensleben 

personally reconnoitered the French positions. Believing that 

he faced the French rearguard, Alvensleben ordered 6th 

Infantry Division to move north past Mars-la-Tour and block 

the French retreat to the west. The divisional artillery batteries 

under Major General von Bülow moved up and formed a gun 

line by 1030, bombarding the French infantry between 

Vionville and Flavigny and softening them up for the German 

infantry assault to come. French infantry fire inflicted 

casualties on the German artillerymen, who lacked infantry 

support of their own.  

The 6th Infantry Division was now in line with Tronville. 

Lieutenant General Gustav von Buddenbrock, commander of 

the division, conducted a personal reconnaissance of the 

Vionville-Flavigny area. Finding both villages controlled by 

substantial numbers of Frenchmen, he concentrated all the 

force at his disposal to capture them. His 12th Brigade 

advanced along both sides of the road from Mars-la-Tour to 

Vionville, while 11th Brigade used the road from Tronville. Two 

German regiments, the 35th and 64th, launched a flawless 

attack on Vionville, throwing their companies forward in well-

organized bounds, using ravines and woods to cover their 

approach, gaining fire superiority at 300 meters and assaulting 

the village from the north, west and south at 1130.  

The place was secured and the French regiment of chasseurs 

guarding it routed in thirty minutes, with large numbers of 

them surrendering. The German victory was the direct result of 

the thorough peacetime training of the German infantry 

companies and battalions and the exploitation of initiative by 

German officers.  
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The initial attack on Flavigny by one battalion of the 35th was 

less successful, with French infantry fire slashing them to a 

disorganized remnant when they merely attempted to cross the 

cemetery hill near Flavigny. Flavigny was conquered by 1200 

through Prussian artillery firepower that reduced the hamlet to 

a burning rubble from multiple sides. Regiments from the 6th 

and 5th Infantry Divisions stormed the village from the west 

and the south, firming up the center of the III Corps battle line 

for the rest of the day. Two 5th Infantry Division battalions 

advanced north from Flavigny to take the ground in front. 6th 

Infantry Division pushed back the French along the road to 

Rezonville.  

Afternoon 

With Vionville and Flavigny lost and the French 2nd Army 

Corps retreating toward Rezonville, Bazaine and Frossard at 

1230 ordered the cavalry to stabilize the course of the battle. 

The 3rd Lancers at Rezonville was ordered to attack the 

Prussian pursuers but did not charge home because "no 

definite object of attack had been pointed out to them".  

The Cuirassiers of the Guard moved to attack, forming up in 

two lines of two squadrons with the fifth as reserve. The 

Prussian infantry companies fired by file and massacred them 

at 200 meters range. The French lost 230 men and 243 horses, 

and the rest fled as a helpless remnant. Lieutenant Colonel Leo 

von Caprivi, chief of staff of X Corps, advised Rauch's 17th 

Hussars to charge the disorganized French cuirassiers at 1245. 

Rauch promptly did so, while Lieutenant Colonel Eberstein's 

11th Hussars hunted down the French infantry stragglers. 

They also destroyed a French Guard battery and captured the 
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guns, but could not haul them away for want of draught 

horses. The 3rd French rifle battalion and two French cavalry 

squadrons arrived and forced the Germans to retreat.  

• Once 2nd Army Corps defeat became clear, 

Alvensleben ordered the 6th Cavalry Division to 

pursue. At the same time, Bazaine moved the 

Grenadier and Voltigeur Divisions forward to support 

2nd Army Corps. 6th Cavalry Division was thus 

halted on the Rezonville plateau at 1300 by an 

onslaught of French infantry and artillery fire before 

it could even fully deploy and was forced to withdraw 

both of its brigades after heavy casualties. The 

cavalry did enable the forward movement of German 

artillery to more advantageous positions. The 

German artillery pounded the French infantry 

incessantly, forcing the French to hang back and 

preventing them from exploiting the German 

infantry's ammunition shortage or the casualties of 

the German cavalry. As the 6th Prussian Infantry 

Division advanced on Rezonville, it was subject to 

flanking infantry and artillery fire by Canrobert's 6th 

Army Corps to the north along the so-called Roman 

road, forcing the Prussian division to halt its attack 

and front north. The Prussians suffered heavy losses 

from the French guns. They beat off French attacks 

on their position but at a high cost under the intense 

French fire. 5th Infantry Division's 10th Brigade 

advance on Rezonville from the south reached the 

Metz-Verdun road but was then thrown back by 

overwhelming French infantry firepower, which killed 

or wounded nearly all officers of the brigade. Out of 
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ammunition and largely destroyed, the 10th Brigade 

retreated to Vionville and Flavigny. 

Bazaine saw the arrival of more Prussian forces up the Moselle 

valley against his left flank as the biggest threat to his 

position. Accordingly, at noon, he re-deployed the Imperial 

Guard, the Voltigeur Division and the reconstituted remnants 

of 2nd Army Corps on his left. All other available forces were 

directed to outflank the Prussian left wing. At 1330, two 

French divisions advanced against the German left flank to the 

west of Vionville, with 4th Army Corps on the way. An X Corps 

demi-brigade had arrived on the battlefield to reinforce the 

Germans at 1145 and secured the woods near Tronville by 

1230. They were soon attacked by the long-range fire of the 

French chassepots to which they could not reply owing to the 

inferior range of their Dreyse needle guns. With the German 

fire weakening, Canrobert moved to re-capture Vionville. By 

1400, Alvensleben's III Corps was facing four deployed French 

corps. With all his infantry and artillery committed and largely 

spent, only his cavalry could stop Canrobert's onslaught. 

Alvensleben directed 5th Cavalry Division to secure the corps 

left flank with two brigades, while the third heavy brigade 

under Major-General Friedrich Wilhelm Adalbert von Bredow 

would remain at his disposal. To protect the German position, 

Alvensleben sent his chief of staff, Colonel von VoigtsRhetz, to 

Bredow with orders to silence Canrobert's batteries along the 

Roman road.  

Von Bredow's Death Ride 

• Noting that "it will cost what it will", Bredow took 

care to organize the brigade, consisting of the 7th 
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Cuirassiers, 13th Dragoons and 16th Uhlans. The 

13th Dragoons did not participate in the charge, 

having been detached earlier in the battle. In what 

would become known as "Von Bredow's Death Ride", 

the cavalrymen rode out from Prussian lines at 1400, 

Bredow using the depression north of Vionville and 

gun smoke to mask movements from French 

observers until the very last moment. Erupting into 

view some 1,000 meters from the French lines, the 

Prussian cavalry charged in line into and through 

two French gun lines, killing French gunners and 

scattering Canrobert's soldiers in all directions. Two 

brigades of Forton's French cavalry division, some 

3,100 men, attempted to counter-charge into 

Bredow's flank and rear but were partially dispersed 

by Canrobert's infantry, who shot down any cavalry 

they could see without discrimination. Bredow's 

brigade managed to extricate itself and withdrew to 

its own lines by 1500. The French cavalry did not 

pursue. Of the 800 horsemen who had started out, 

only 420 returned. 

It was at this moment that Bazaine ordered Canrobert's 6th 

Army Corps to stop its attack and the pressure on the Prussian 

6th Infantry Division ceased. The battle west of Rezonville 

around the Metz-Verdun road evolved into an artillery duel. On 

the German left, Barby's 11th Cavalry Brigade was holding its 

ground north of Tronville. The French and German artillery 

exchanged shell fire at first and when Grenier's Division from 

4th Army Corps arrived, the French began to advance at 1445. 

Fire from French skirmisher swarms and mitrailleuses 

overwhelmed Barby's cavalry at 500-meters range and the 
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Germans fell back slowly on Tronville. Four French divisions, 

two from 3rd Army Corps, Grenier's from General 

Landmirault's 4th Army Corps and Trixier's from 6th Army 

Corps, were now massed against the German left flank and 

poised to outflank it. Faced with French artillery fire, all 

German forces north of Vionville began to withdraw slowly, 

delaying the French for an hour. They were helped by the wet 

ground, which impeded the French movements. French 

counter-battery fire forced the advanced Prussian batteries, 

which had nearly exhausted their ammunition to abandon their 

positions and restock on ammunition south-west of Vionville.  

Arrival of German reinforcements 

As the French stood poised to overwhelm the heavily-

outnumbered III Corps, X Corps 20th Infantry Division under 

General von Kraatz reached the battlefield near Tronville at 

1600, having marched 27 miles (43 km). 20th Infantry 

Division's staff officers and Kraatz personally reconnoitered the 

vicinity of Tronville and Flavigny and identified the III Corps 

center as badly weakened. Kraatz ordered his division to 

reinforce that position immediately. The roar of cannon fire 

had caused X Corps commander General von Voigts-Rhetz to 

investigate it and upon arriving in Tronville, reports from his 

chief of staff Caprivi and the ongoing battle convinced Voigts-

Rhetz to move his entire corps at once to support III Corps at 

1130. At Tronville, two batteries of X Corps artillery under 

Baron von der Goltz were joined by two divisional batteries and 

they concentrated a highly successful fire on Grenier's French 

artillery. Major Körber's four batteries nearby were joined by a 

battery of horse artillery, and the German gun mass then 

blasted the French skirmisher swarms at 750 meters and sent 
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them running back north in disarray. By 1600, III and X Corps 

had 210 guns supporting them on the battlefield.  

Two battalions from the 20th Infantry Division's 79th Regiment 

formed up near Tronville at 1530. They held their positions on 

the eastern edges of a nearby wood and stood the French 

infantry fire directed against them. The 40th Brigade deployed 

at Tronville at 1630. They advanced to secure the ground east 

and north of it and had to endure only French shell fire. The 

French still had superior forces available but did not pursue 

their attack, largely thanks to Bazaine's obsession with the 

French left flank. He ordered the 3rd Army Corps under 

Lebouef on his right to merely hold their positions. At 1500, 

Bazaine sent 3rd Army Corps to his left flank to protect 

Rezonville. As a result, most of Lebouef's troops did not fight 

at all on 16 August. Bazaine's order was a great help to 

Alvensleben's III Corps.  

Prince Friedrich Karl did not become aware of the 

precariousness of III Corps struggle until 1400, when a report 

from Kraatz informed him of the situation. He rode 14 miles 

(23 km) with his staff to the battlefield, gaining the Rezonville 

plateau at 1600 to the cheers of his troops. The III Corps and 

French infantry positions on the plateau, reinforced by strong 

artillery forces, were so firm that frontal attacks would be 

impossible. Friedrich Karl decided to fight offensively only with 

X Corps to the left when it arrived, while III Corps, with the 

help of X Corps 20th Infantry Division, would fight primarily 

with the artillery. The artillery batteries of the 5th, 16th and 

20th Infantry Divisions were concentrated east of Flavigny 

under the command of General von Bülow, where they 

maintained a continuous fire on the French artillery north of 
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the Metz-Verdun road. Isolated attacks by French infantry were 

beaten off by Prussian artillery before the French could even 

get within range of the Prussian infantry's needle guns. Two 

German battalions of 78th East Friesland Regiment under 

Colonel von Lyncker attempted to capture a height (989) south 

of Rezonville but failed after a few hundred meters. Lyncker 

was wounded along with all his company commanders.  

Two grenadier battalions of the 12th Regiment under 

Lieutenant Colonel von Kalinowski, supported by two 16th 

Infantry Division artillery batteries, pushed forward a line of 

skirmishers to a valley below the 989 height. Three battalions 

from the 20th Infantry Division arrived and also attempted to 

capture the 989 height, likewise failing under the French fire. 

They did gain a position on the slope of the height and defeat 

French attempts to throw them back. Apart from these 

relatively modest successes and failures, III Corps situation 

was stable by 1700.  

Meanwhile, half of 19th Infantry Division under General Emil 

von Schwartzkoppen reached Tronville and Kraatz requested 

that they attack the French right wing to the north-east. 

Schwartzkoppen moved out and concentrated his 39th Brigade 

in an arc north-east of Mars-la-Tour.  

At 1700, the infantry companies of the 39th Brigade advanced 

north-east in rushes of 100 meters, laid down and rushed 

again, all under constant French chassepot and mitrailleuse 

fire. Its five battalions got within 30 meters of the positions of 

Grenier's infantry. The French infantry fired by file and 

shattered the Prussians. Adding to the Prussian disaster, 

Cissey's Division outflanked the Prussians on their left. The 
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39th Brigade retreated and the French pursuit fire nearly 

annihilated its remnants. Some 300 exhausted Prussians, 

having marched 27 miles and attacked the French immediately 

on arrival, were captured by the French.  

At 1800, the French crossed the ravine north of the Roman 

road and advanced on Mars-la-Tour. Voigts-Rhetz's cavalry 

launched repeated charges to hold them off and the French 

retreated back over the ravine. The 13th Line infantry regiment 

of Grenier's Division was ridden down and the 2nd Chasseurs 

d'Afrique cavalry regiment forced back. The Germans used the 

gained time and space to deploy more artillery batteries to 

reinforce their left flank. Landmirault's 4th Army Corps 

deployed six regiments of cavalry on its left flank west of 

Bruville and north of Mars-la-Tour.  

Barby's cavalry brigade and two more regiments moved to 

confront them. At 1845, the opposing cavalry masses collided 

in a struggle involving 5,000 horsemen and 40 squadrons. 

Each side sought to outflank the other in the melee. The 

German regiments succeeded in imposing themselves on the 

French flank and rear and the entire French cavalry force 

disintegrated in a rout, fleeing toward Bruville with dust 

clouds rising behind them. After their complete victory in the 

greatest and most important cavalry battle of the entire 

Franco-Prussian War, the Prussian cavalry regiments reformed 

their ranks and withdrew toward Mars-la-Tour, having defeated 

the threat to the Prussian left flank. With darkness 

approaching, Landmirault gave up on his attempts to capture 

Mars-la-Tour and Tronville. By 1900, the Prussian positions 

north of Tronville were untroubled save for harassment fire 

from French artillery.  
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On the Prussian right, IX Corps under General Albrecht Gustav 

von Manstein reached the battlefield at 1600. The 72nd 

Regiment of the 16th Infantry Division gained the northern 

edges of the Bois de St. Arnould at 1700 and advanced up the 

ridge to its north. Despite relentless French fire and 

considerable casualties, the Regiment captured the height 

(970) but was then driven back by French reserves at 1730. 

The 40th Regiment advanced in support and took back the 970 

ridge, but was compelled in turn to retreat by yet more French 

reserves. The 11th Regiment assaulted and took back the 

height at 1800 and was also forced to retreat by Bazaine's 

reserves. A French attempt to exploit their success was 

repulsed as the Prussian infantry fired by file.  

Around 1800, Bazaine ordered the 2nd brigade of the 

Voltigeurs of the Guard to take secure the 989 height. They 

succeeded against the Prussian infantry but accurate Prussian 

artillery fire forced the French to abandon it. South of the 970 

height, the struggle waged back and forth after 1900, with 

neither side able to gain ground owing to the effectiveness of 

the firepower of their enemies. With the full strength of IX 

Corps deploying at his left by 1900, Prince Friedrich Karl 

ordered III and X Corps to move on Rezonville. Led by artillery 

batteries, the Prussian advance was stopped by the fire of a 

concentration of 54 guns of the French Imperial Guard under 

General Charles-Denis Bourbaki, compelling the Prussian 

batteries to fall back after a brief response. The 6th Cavalry 

Division had been called upon by Friedrich Karl, and they 

charged the French skirmishers along the Rezonville road but 

while they panicked some, they could make no permanent 

headway against the French infantry fire. As the strength of 
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the French forces was too great, Friedrich Karl's general attack 

on Rezonville was not undertaken.  

The battle ended at 2100 after twelve hours. The warm summer 

day gave way to a cold night, as the troops rested in their 

bivouacs and the lines of outposts maintained a watch over the 

blood-soaked fields.  

Aftermath 

Between 2200 and 2300, Friedrich Karl ordered the Guards 

and XII Corps to assemble at Mars-la-Tour on 17 August. After 

a stream of reports on the battle from III and X Corps and 

present staff officers, the royal headquarters in the afternoon 

of 16 August ordered 1st Army under Steinmetz to prepare to 

cross the Moselle over to the left bank. Steinmetz implemented 

orders to the effect and two pontoon bridges were erected on 

the night of 16–17 August for VII and VIII Corps. The Germans 

were amassing all available forces to defeat any French attack 

on 17 August.  

Bazaine believed he had fought equal forces on 16 August and 

would have to deal with an immensely superior enemy on 17 

August. French ammunition expenditure had been colossal and 

ammunition and food stocks would have to replenished before 

the fight could begin again. The French supply trains were too 

far back near the Moselle for resupply to be accomplished on 

16 August. The French soldiers were physically exhausted and 

morally shaken by the long and severe battle and one later 

French military writer opined that the entire French army 

would have retreated in panic on 17 August had the Germans 

advanced. Citing the need to acquire more ammunition and the 
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distance from the supply trains, Bazaine issued an order on 

the night of 16–17 August for his army to fall back closer to 

Metz. The strong defensive positions of the fortress would, he 

thought, enable him to inflict massive losses on the Germans 

and crush their armies. After resupplying, Bazaine would begin 

anew the march to the Meuse on 19 and 20 August. Despite 

some skirmishing on 17 August, the Prussians did not pursue 

the French in force, as attacking that day was not their 

intention. The French withdrew to the Plappeville plateau east 

of Gravelotte over the course of the day. There the Battle of 

Gravelotte would be fought on 18 August.  

Analysis 

Tactically, neither side succeeded in dislodging the other from 

their positions during the day. The French withdrew during the 

night. The battle was a strategic victory for the Prussians. 

Bazaine had failed to make it to Verdun. After the Battle of 

Gravelotte on 18 August, the Prussians trapped Bazaine in the 

city on 19 August, and the Siege of Metz ensued, concluding 

with the surrender of the French Army of the Rhine on 27 

October.  

Von Bredow's death ride "was perhaps the last successful 

cavalry charge in Western European warfare". Its success won 

it renown among military historians, which created a myth to 

the effect that for some decades 'Bredow’s achievement was the 

norm', that cavalry could still play a decisive role in battle in a 

modern war between equally equipped forces, and so cavalry 

units continued to be part of the armed forces of major 

European powers for the next half century.  
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III Corps 15 artillery batteries expended 11,520 rounds during 

the battle, an average of 768 rounds per battery. Following the 

consumption of another 2,740 rounds at Gravelotte on 18 

August, the corps restocked on 20 August by completely 

emptying its five artillery ammunition columns, as well as two 

more assigned to it from other corps. The 25 battalions of III 

Corps fired 720,496 rounds of small arms ammunition during 

the battle, an average of 28,819 per battalion. Some of the 

front-line infantry battalions of III Corps at Mars-la-Tour were 

the first German infantry formations to face significant 

ammunition shortages during the war. III Corps, like all other 

German corps, had abundant supplies of ammunition; the 

problem was rather that the infantry battalions at the front 

were so closely engaged with the enemy that they had become 

too separated from their ammunition columns and quick 

replenishment was difficult or impossible. Ammunition 

shortages were limited to only some of the front-line 

formations; overall, at Mars-la-Tour and during the war as a 

whole, German infantry ammunition expenditure was less than 

expected.  

Casualties 

German losses were 15,799 officers and men, including 236 

officers and 4,185 men killed or dead of wounds, 470 officers, 

9,932 men and 9 surgeons wounded and 5 officers and 962 

men missing. Horse casualties totalled 2,736. The III Corps 

suffered 44 per cent of the German casualties and lost 6,955 

officers, men and surgeons, including 1,863 killed or dead of 

wounds, 4,889 wounded and 203 missing. The French lost 

17,007 officers and men, including 879 officers and 16,128 

men, along with one artillery piece.  
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Battle of Gravelotte 

The Battle of Gravelotte (or Battle of Gravelotte–St. Privat) 

on 18 August 1870 was the largest battle of the Franco-

Prussian War. Named after Gravelotte, a village in Lorraine, it 

was fought about 6 miles (9.7 km) west of Metz, where on the 

previous day, having intercepted the French army's retreat to 

the west at the Battle of Mars-La-Tour, the Prussians were now 

closing in to complete the destruction of the French forces.  

The combined German forces under King Wilhelm I were the 

Prussian First and Second Armies of the North German 

Confederation with 210 infantry battalions, 133 cavalry 

squadrons, and 732 heavy cannons totaling 188,332 officers 

and men.   The French Army of the Rhine, commanded by 

Marshal François AchilleBazaine, dug in along high ground 

with their southern left flank at the town of Rozerieulles, and 

their northern right flank at St. Privat.  

On 18 August, the Prussian First Army under General Karl 

Friedrich von Steinmetz launched its VII and VIII Corps in 

repeated assaults against the French positions, backed by 

artillery and cavalry support. All attacks failed with enormous 

casualties in the face of French infantry and mitrailleuse 

firepower. The French did not counter-attack Steinmetz's 

weakened army. On the Prussian left, the Prussian Guards 

attacked the French position at St. Privat at 16:50 hours. With 

the support of the Prussian II and Saxon XII Corps of Prince 

Friedrich Karl's Second Army, the Guards conquered St. Privat 

by 20:00 hours after heavy losses, pushing back the French 

right wing.  
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Bazaine's Army of the Rhine withdrew into Metz fortress on the 

morning of 19 August. The German victory at Gravelotte ended 

Bazaine's army's last chance of retreating west to Verdun. 

After a siege lasting over two months, the Army of the Rhine 

surrendered on 27 October 1870.  

Background 

The German Second Army, commanded by Prince Friedrich Karl 

of Prussia had met the right wing of the French Army of the 

Rhine, commanded by Marshal Bazaine, at the Battle of Mars-

La-Tour — both sides claimed victory. Marshal Bazaine's four 

corps of the French Army of the Rhine retreated in vile weather 

along the road toward Verdun. The Germans were on their 

heels, pressing hard to prevent the Army of the Rhine from 

linking up with French forces at Sedan.  

The pursuing Prussian First and Second Armies had more 

artillery, men, and ammunition than Bazaine's four corps. 

Their pressure forced Bazaine to occupy the crests of the 

gently rolling hilltops east of the Moselle, with his southern 

left flank at the town of Rozerieulles, and his northern right 

flank at St. Privat.   They lacked efficient digging tools, but 

Bazaine regarded the position as virtually impregnable, with 

the defenders sheltered behind hedges and low walls and 

anchored in villages and farmhouses.   

The battlefield extended from the woods bordering the Moselle 

above Metz to Roncourt, near the river Orne. Other villages 

that played an important part in the battle were Saint Privat, 

Amanweiler or Amanvillers and Sainte-Marie-aux-Chênes, all 

lying to the north of Gravelotte.  



Encyclopedia of Great Powers and the First World War: 1870–1918, Volume 3 
 

579 

Battle 

• The French cavalry failed to detect the strength of 

the Prussian pursuit. On 18 August at 08:00 

Wilhelm I, whose chief of staff was Moltke, ordered 

the First and Second Armies to advance against the 

French positions.   By 12:00, General Manstein with 

artillery from the Hessian 25th Infantry Division was 

advancing toward the village of Amanvillers. The 

mass of advancing Germans was met with murderous 

fire from the superior French Chassepot rifle and 

their rapid-firing mitrailleuses, before they were 

within range to retaliate with their shorter-ranged 

needle-guns.   At 14:30, General Steinmetz, the 

commander of the First Army, launched his VIII 

Corps across the Mance Ravine but they were soon 

pinned down by rifle and mitrailleuse fire. At 15:00, 

the massed new Krupp all-steel breech-loading guns 

of the German VII and VIII Corps opened fire to 

support the attack. But with the attack still failing, 

at 16:00 Steinmetz ordered the VII Corps forward, 

followed by the 1st Cavalry Division. 

At 16:50, with the Prussian southern attacks stalling, the 

Prussian 3rd Guards Infantry Brigade of the Second Army 

opened an attack against the French positions at St. Privat, 

which were commanded by Marshal Canrobert. At 17:15, the 

Prussian 4th Guards Infantry Brigade joined the advance 

followed at 17:45 by the Prussian 1st Guards Infantry Brigade. 

All of the Prussian Guard attacks were pinned down on the 

slopes by lethal French gunfire. At 18:00 King William ordered 
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a renewed advance.   At 18:15 the Prussian 2nd Guards Infantry 

Brigade, the last of the 1st Guards Infantry Division, was 

committed to the attack on St. Privat, while Steinmetz ordered 

the last unit in the reserves of the First Army across the Mance 

Ravine. By 18:30, a considerable portion of the VII and VIII 

Corps panicked and disengaged from the fighting without 

attaining their objective and withdrew towards the Prussian 

positions at Rezonville.  

With the partial withdrawal of the First Army, Prince Frederick 

Charles ordered a mass artillery barrage against Canrobert's 

position at St. Privat to prevent the Guards attack from failing 

too. At 19:00 the 3rd Division of Eduard von Fransecky's II 

Corps of the Second Army advanced across Ravine while the 

Saxon XII Corps cleared out the nearby town of Roncourt, 

along with the survivors of the 1st Guards Infantry Division, 

launched a fresh attack against the ruins of St. Privat. At 

20:00, the arrival of the Prussian 4th Infantry Division of the II 

Corps and with the Prussian right flank on Mance Ravine, the 

line stabilized.  

Then, the Prussians of the 1st Guards Infantry Division and 

the XII and II Corps captured St. Privat, forcing the decimated 

French forces to withdraw. Some French officers incorrectly 

thought the Prussians were exhausted, so they urged a 

counter-attack. General Bourbaki, however, refused to commit 

the reserves of the French Old Guard to the battle because, by 

that time, he rightfully considered the overall situation a 

'defeat' having run out of ammunition, being outflanked by 

Prussian artillery, and losing 1/4 of his men.   By 22:00, firing 

largely died down across the battlefield for the night.  
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Aftermath 

The next morning, the exhausted French Army of the Rhine 

retreated to Metz where they were besieged and forced to 

surrender two months later.  

Analysis 

The battle was a Prussian victory in that it succeeded in 

blocking Bazaine's way to Verdun. In a short time the 

Prussians trapped Bazaine in the city and the siege of Metz 

ensued.  

Casualties 

The casualties were severe. The combined Prussian and 

Hessian force had 20,163 troops killed, wounded or missing in 

action during the 18 August battle. The French losses were 

1,146 killed along with 6,709 wounded and 4,420 prisoners of 

war (half of these were wounded) for a total of 12,275. Howard 

qualifies the French casualty records as 'incomplete'.   While 

most Prussians fell to the French Chassepot rifle, most French 

fell to the Krupp shells of the Prussian artillery. In a 

breakdown of the casualties, Steinmetz's Prussian First Army 

lost 4,300 men before the Pointe du Jour, while the French 

forces opposing him had casualties of 2,155.   Losses of the 

Prussian Guards Corps were even more staggering, with 8,000 

casualties   out of 18,000 men. The Guards Jäger Battalion lost 

19 officers, a surgeon and 431 men killed, wounded, or missing 

out of a total of 700. The 2nd Guards Infantry Brigade lost 39 

officers and 1,076 men. The 3rd Guards Infantry Brigade lost 
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36 officers and 1,060 men. On the French side, the units 

holding St. Privat lost more than half their number in the 

village.  

Siege of Metz (1870) 

The Siege of Metz was a battle fought during the Franco-

Prussian War from August 19 to October 27, 1870 and ended 

in a decisive Allied German victory.  

The French Army of the Rhine under François Bazaine 

retreated into the Metz fortress after its defeat by the Germans 

at the Battle of Gravelotte on 18 August 1870. The fortress was 

promptly surrounded by German forces under Prince Friedrich 

Karl of Prussia. The French Army of Châlons was sent to 

relieve the Army of the Rhine but was itself encircled and 

annihilated by the German armies at the Battle of Sedan on 1–

2 September.  

Unable to capture the fortress by bombardment or storm, the 

besieging Germans resorted to starving the French to 

submission. Attempted French breakouts ended in defeat at 

the battles of Noisseville on 31 August – 1 September and 

Bellevue on 7 October. French food supplies ran out on 20 

October and Bazaine surrendered the fortress and the entire 

Army of the Rhine, some 193,000 men, into German hands on 

27 October.  

The annihilation of the French Army of the Rhine freed Prince 

Friedrich Karl's armies for operations against French forces in 

the Loire river valley for the rest of the war. Metz was annexed 
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into the German Empire after the signing of the Treaty of 

Frankfurt on 10 May 1871.  

Background 

After being held at the Battle of Gravelotte, Marshal Bazaine 

retreated into the defenses of Metz. There he was besieged by 

over 150,000 Prussian troops of the First and Second Armies 

on 19 August.  

Prelude 

Napoleon III and Marshal Patrice de MacMahon formed the new 

French Army of Châlons, to march on to Metz to rescue 

Bazaine. Napoleon III personally led the army with Marshal 

MacMahon in attendance. The Army of Châlons marched north-

east towards the Belgian border to avoid the Prussians before 

striking south to link up with Bazaine. The Prussians, under 

the command of Field Marshal Count Helmuth von Moltke, took 

advantage of this maneuver to catch the French in an 

encirclement. He left the Prussian First and Second Armies 

besieging Metz, except three corps detached to form the Army 

of the Meuse under the Crown Prince of Saxony. With this 

army and the Prussian Third Army, Moltke marched northward 

and caught up with the French at Beaumont on 30 August. 

After a sharp fight in which they lost 5,000 men and 40 

cannons, the French withdrew toward Sedan. Having reformed 

in the town, the Army of Châlons was immediately isolated by 

the converging Prussian armies. Napoleon III ordered the army 

to break out of the encirclement immediately. With MacMahon 

wounded on the previous day, General AugusteDucrot took 
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command of the French troops in the field. The Army of 

Châlons was trapped and destroyed at the Battle of Sedan.  

Siege 

The French calculated they had enough food for 70,000 

civilians for three and a half months and five months worth of 

provisions for a regular garrison. Because the entire Army of 

the Rhine was stuck in the fortress, there were only enough 

provisions for 41 days and oats for 25 days.  

The Germans brought up 50 heavy siege guns from Germany to 

bombard Metz, but the fortress was too heavily stocked with 

artillery and well-built for it to be taken with the means 

available to the Germans. Unable to silence the fortress guns 

sufficiently to conduct siege operations, the besiegers opted to 

starve out the trapped French army. By September, about 25% 

of the 197,326-strong German siege force still lacked proper 

accommodations and the sick list in military hospitals grew to 

40,000 men. The Germans supplemented their meat rations 

with tinned food. The French situation was much worse, with 

riots breaking out among the starving army and city.  

The French attempted to break the siege first at Noisseville on 

31 August–1 September and again at Bellevue on 7 October but 

were repulsed each time. Each side lost about 5,000 men killed 

and wounded in total in these two breakout attempts.  

On 20 October, the food provisions of the fortress ran out and 

the French Army of the Rhine subsisted afterward on the flesh 

of 20,000 horses, which were consumed at a rate of 1,000 per 

day. Bazaine was forced to surrender his entire army on 27 
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October because of starvation. The Prussians offered the 

honors of war to the defeated French army, but, contrary to 

usual practice, Bazaine refused the honor.  

On 29 October, Prussian flags were raised on Metz's outworks 

and the French Army of the Rhine marched out silently, and in 

good order. They were taken prisoner by a Prussian Corps at 

each gate, put into bivouacs and supplied with food. The 

Germans allowed the French officers to keep their swords and 

remain in Metz, which was largely unharmed by the siege.  

The Germans immediately sent a train of food and live cattle to 

the city they had just conquered. The French prisoners were 

sent by way of Saarbrücken and Trier to prisoners of war 

camps, guarded by Landwehr battalions. Bazaine was sent as a 

captive to Kassel. The German 26th Brigade was stationed as 

the Metz garrison, with General von Kummer as commandant. 

Dead horses, unburied corpses and burnt or putrefying refuse 

greeted the German conquerors on their entry, a testament to 

the suffering the French had endured.  

Aftermath 

Prince Friedrich Karl and the Prussian Second Army were now 

free to move against the French force in the Loire River area. 

The siege is commemorated by the "Siegesmarsch von Metz" 

which uses parts of the "Die Wacht am Rhein". One notable 

figure present on the Prussian side was the prominent 

philosopher Friedrich Nietzsche, who served as a medical 

attendant. Nietzsche contracted both diphtheria and dysentery 

during the siege, worsening his already poor state of health.  



Encyclopedia of Great Powers and the First World War: 1870–1918, Volume 3 
 

586 

Casualties 

The French lost 167,000 enlisted men and 6,000 officers taken 

to POW camps on 27 October, as well as 20,000 sick who 

temporarily stayed behind in Metz. Material losses were 

enormous and amounted to 622 field guns, 2,876 fortress 

guns, 72 mitrailleuses, 137,000 chassepots, 123,000 other 

small arms, vast stores of ammunition and 56 Imperial Eagles, 

all captured by the Germans. The Germans lost 5,500 enlisted 

men and 240 officers killed and wounded, as well as large 

numbers of sick.  

Battle of Sedan 

The Battle of Sedan was fought during the Franco-Prussian 

War from 1 to 2 September 1870. Resulting in the capture of 

Emperor Napoleon III and over a hundred thousand troops, it 

effectively decided the war in favour of Prussia and its allies, 

though fighting continued under a new French government.  

The 130,000 strong French Army of Châlons, commanded by 

Marshal Patrice de MacMahon and accompanied by Napoleon 

III, was attempting to lift the siege of Metz, only to be caught 

by the Prussian Fourth Army and defeated at the Battle of 

Beaumont on 30 August. Commanded by Generalfeldmarschall 

Helmuth von Moltke and accompanied by Prussian King 

Wilhelm I and Prussian Chancellor Otto von Bismarck, the 

Fourth Army and the Prussian Third Army encircled 

MacMahon's army at Sedan in a battle of annihilation. Marshal 

MacMahon was wounded during the attacks and command 

passed to General Auguste-Alexandre Ducrot, until assumed by 
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General Emmanuel Félix de Wimpffen. Bombarded from all 

sides by German artillery and with all breakout attempts 

defeated, the French Army of Châlons capitulated on 2 

September, with 104,000 men passing into German captivity 

along with 558 guns. Napoleon III was taken prisoner, while 

the French government in Paris continued the war and 

proclaimed a Government of National Defense on 4 September. 

The German armies besieged Paris on 19 September.  

Background 

After its defeat at the Battle of Gravelotte on 18 August, 

Marshal François AchilleBazaine's 154,481-man Army of the 

Rhine retreated to Metz where it was surrounded by 168,435 

Prussian troops of the First and Second Armies in the siege of 

Metz beginning on 19 August. Emperor Napoleon III, along with 

Marshal Patrice de MacMahon, formed the new French Army of 

Châlons on 17 August to march on to Metz to rescue Bazaine. 

With Napoleon III personally leading the army, and with 

Marshal MacMahon in attendance, they led the Army of 

Châlons after 23 August in a left-flanking march northeast 

towards the Belgian border in an attempt to avoid the 

Prussians before striking south to link up with Bazaine.  

The Prussians had repeatedly outmaneuvered the French in the 

string of victories through August, and the march depleted the 

French forces and left both flanks exposed. The Prussians, 

under the command of von Moltke, took advantage of this 

maneuver to catch the French in a pincer grip. Leaving the 

Prussian First and Second Armies besieging Metz, Moltke took 

the Prussian Third and Fourth Armies northward where they 

caught up with the French at the Battle of Beaumont on 30 
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August. After a major defeat in which he lost 7,500 men and 

40 cannons, MacMahon aborted the planned link-up with 

Bazaine and ordered the Army of Châlons to withdraw north-

west towards the obsolete 17th-century fortress of Sedan. His 

intention was to rest the army, which had been involved in a 

long series of marches, resupply it with ammunition and, in 

his words, maneuver in front of the enemy. MacMahon 

underestimated the German strength and believed the hills 

surrounding Sedan would offer a major defensive advantage. 

The French rear was protected by the fortress of Sedan, and 

offered a defensive position at the Calvaired'Illy, which had 

both hills and woods to provide cover for any defense. 

MacMahon denied a request from General Félix Douay, 

commander of 7th Corps, to dig trenches, claiming the army 

would not remain at Sedan for long.  

Upon arrival in the vicinity of Sedan on 31 August, MacMahon 

deployed Douay's 7th Corps to the north-west on the crest 

between the Calvaire and Floing. Auguste-Alexandre Ducrot's 

1st Corps faced east, while Lebrun's 12th Corps garrisoned 

Bazeilles. The recently arrived General Emmanuel Félix de 

Wimpffen assumed command of 5th Corps from Pierre Louis 

Charles de Failly, the unit having been routed at Beaumont. 

5th Corps was placed in reserve in the centre.  

Moltke divided his forces into three groups: one to detain the 

French where they were, another to race forward and catch 

them if they retreated, and a third (the smallest force) to hold 

the river bank. The Saxon XII Corps crossed the Meuse to the 

Chiers, with the Prussian Guards on their right. The I Royal 

Bavarian Corps under General Baron von der Tann moved to 

Bazeilles and the Bavarian engineers deployed two pontoon 
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bridges across the Meuse to secure their way across. The 

Prussian V and XI Corps completed the encirclement of the 

French army to the north-west by 0900 on 1 September.  

Battle 

• The battle opened with the Army of Châlons, with 

202 infantry battalions, 80 cavalry squadrons and 

564 guns, attacking the surrounding Prussian Third 

and Fourth Armies, which totaled 222 infantry 

battalions, 186 cavalry squadrons, and 774 guns. 

Napoleon had ordered MacMahon to break out of the 

encirclement, and the only point where that seemed possible 

was La Moncelle, whose flank was protected by a fortified town. 

The Prussians also picked La Moncelle as one point where they 

would mount a breakthrough. Prince George of Saxony and the 

Prussian XI Corps was assigned to the task, and General Baron 

von der Tann were ordered to attack Bazeilles on the right 

flank.  

This was the opening engagement, as the French 1st Corps had 

barricaded the streets, and enlisted the aid of the populace. 

Von der Tann sent a brigade across pontoon bridges at 04:00 

in the early morning mist, the Bavarians rushing the village 

and capturing it through surprise. The French Marines of the 

1st Corps fought back from stone houses and the Bavarian 

artillery shelled the buildings into rubble. The combat drew 

new forces, as French brigades from the 1st, 5th, and 12th 

Corps arrived. At 08:00 the Prussian 8th Infantry Division 

arrived, and von der Tann decided it was time for a decisive 

attack. He had not been able to bring artillery to bear from 
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long range, so he committed his last brigade to storm the town, 

supported by artillery from the other side of the Meuse. His 

artillery reached Bazeilles at 09:00.  

The fighting continued to spread to the south of the town, and 

the 8th Infantry Division was sent to reinforce the Bavarians 

fighting at La Moncelle, where they had tried to break through 

the French defense. Fighting began in earnest at 06:00, and 

the wounded MacMahon had appointed General Ducrot to 

command, who received the news at 07:00. Ducrot ordered the 

retreat that Moltke had expected, but was overruled almost 

immediately by General Wimpffen, who had been given a 

commission by the government to succeed MacMahon were he 

to become disabled. Wimpffen then threw his forces against the 

Saxons at La Moncelle. This led to a brief rally for the French, 

who drove back the artillery around La Moncelle and pressed 

the Bavarians and the Saxons. With the taking of Bazeilles at 

08:00, and the arrival of fresh waves of Prussian troops, the 

counter-attack began to collapse.  

By 11:00, Prussian artillery had taken a toll on the French, 

while more Prussian troops arrived on the battlefield. The 

Prussian V and XI Corps reached their designated positions to 

the west and north-west of the French army by 07:30 and 

09:00, respectively. A French cavalry unit advancing west was 

slaughtered by Prussian infantry and artillery fire. The 

Prussian artillery batteries took up positions along slopes 

overlooking the French army.  

• Nonstop German artillery fire on the helpless French 

infantry and artillery and Prussian attacks from the 

northwest and east and Bavarian attacks from the 
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southwest drove the Army of Châlons north into the 

Bois de la Garenne, where it was surrounded. 

Wimpffen at 13:00 gave orders for a breakout to the 

south. The attacks failed completely or did not get 

going at all and Douay's 7th Corps front line was 

broken under the weight of German firepower. 

Douay's left flank had been dug in in two lines of 

trenches above Floing, their fire keeping the 

Germans pinned down in the village. By 13:00, the 

German artillery had destroyed Douay's forces and 

the German 22nd Division turned Douay's left flank, 

defeating all counterattacks by French infantry and 

lancers. Douay directed General Jean 

AugusteMargueritte's cavalry squadrons to open an 

escape route by launching three desperate attacks 

on the nearby village of Floing where the Prussian XI 

Corps was concentrated. Margueritte was mortally 

wounded leading the very first charge, and the two 

additional charges were mowed down by German 

infantry fire at 15:00, the number of French killed 

and wounded amounting to 791. 

By 14:00, the German infantry had seized the Calvaire and 

opened fire on the huddled French masses in the Bois de la 

Garenne. The Germans then closed in for the kill from all 

sides.  

The French 7th Corps under Douay dissolved into a panic-

stricken horde, seeking refuge in Sedan while pounded by 

German artillery. Ducrot's 1st Corps was routed by the 

artillery of the Saxon XII Corps and the Prussian Guards 

Corps. The Bois de la Garenne was subject to constant German 
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artillery fire from multiple sides and when the Prussian Guards 

infantry captured the forest at 14:30, the French survivors 

inside it surrendered en masse.  

By the end of the day, with no hope of breaking out, Napoleon 

III terminated the attacks. He hoisted the white flag on the 

fortress walls of Sedan and sent General André Charles Victor 

Reille to deliver a letter of surrender to the Prussian Royal 

Headquarters on the hillside above Frénois. Wilhelm and 

Bismarck read the letter and Bismarck accepted it. Wimpffen 

attempted a last-ditch negotiation maneuver, seeking an 

"honorable capitulation" over prisoner-of-war status for the 

Army of Châlons, but Moltke rebuffed him, pointing to the 

French lack of ammunition and food, the 250,000 troops on 

the German side against the mere 80,000 fighting for the 

French and the concentric German position. Wimpffen received 

only the prolonging of the truce until 09:00 on 2 September.  

Aftermath 

By the next day, at 11:30 on 2 September, Wimpffen signed the 

surrender of himself and the entire Army of Châlons to Moltke 

and the Prussian King. The French soldiers marched under 

heavy rain to an improvised German POW camp, where they 

starved for the next week. On 3 September, Napoleon III left for 

a comfortable captivity in SchlossWilhelmshöhe near Kassel. 

The French prisoners of war viewed his departure with 

indifference.  

The capture of the French emperor left the Prussians without 

an opposing government willing to make a quick peace. 

Commenting on the difficult situation, two days after news hit 



Encyclopedia of Great Powers and the First World War: 1870–1918, Volume 3 
 

593 

Paris of Emperor Napoleon's III capture, his wife said “why 

didn’t he kill himself?” The same day, a group of protesters 

stormed the Imperial palace and the French Second Empire 

collapsed in a bloodless revolution, leading to the creation of a 

Government of National Defense which would carry on the war 

for five more months before becoming the French Third 

Republic.  

The defeat at Sedan and the capture of Napoleon III and 

France's second line army, and with the first line French Army 

shut up in Metz, sealed the doom of France, thus decided the 

outcome of the war in Prussia's favor. By 19 September, the 

Prussian Third and Fourth Armies went on to besiege Paris.  

In recognition of the role this battle played in German 

Unification, many Germans celebrated Sedantag (Day of Sedan) 

on each 2 September until 1919. The Kaiser himself refused to 

declare 2 September an official holiday; instead, it became an 

unofficial day of celebration.  

Casualties 

The Germans lost 9,942 men, with 1,310 killed, 6,443 wounded 

and 2,107 missing. The French Army of Châlons suffered 3,220 

killed, 14,811 wounded, and 104,000 captured, along with 558 

guns. The French army also lost 1,000 wagons and 6,000 

horses to the Germans.  

Siege of Paris (1870–1871) 

The siege of Paris took place from 19 September 1870 to 28 

January 1871 and ended in the consequent capture of the city 
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by Prussian forces, culminating in France's defeat in the 

Franco-Prussian War and the establishment of both the 

German Empire and the Paris Commune. 

Background 

As early as August 1870, the Prussian 3rd Army led by Crown 

Prince Frederik of Prussia (the future Emperor Frederick III), 

had been marching towards Paris. A French force accompanied 

by Napoleon III was deployed to aid the army encircled by 

Prussians at the Siege of Metz. This force were crushed at the 

Battle of Sedan, and the road to Paris was left open. Personally 

leading the Prussian forces, King William I of Prussia, along 

with his chief of staff Helmuth von Moltke, took the 3rd Army 

and the new Prussian Army of the Meuse under Crown Prince 

Albert of Saxony, and marched on Paris virtually unopposed. In 

Paris, the Governor and commander-in-chief of the city's 

defenses, General Louis Jules Trochu, assembled a force of 

60,000 regular soldiers who had managed to escape from 

Sedan under Joseph Vinoy or who were gathered from depot 

troops. Together with 90,000 Mobiles (Territorials), a brigade of 

13,000 naval seamen and 350,000 National Guards, the 

potential defenders of Paris totaled around 513,000. The 

compulsorily enrolled National Guards were, however, 

untrained. They had 2,150 cannon plus 350 in reserve, and 

8,000,000 kg of gunpowder.   

Siege 

The Prussian armies quickly reached Paris, and on 15 

September Moltke issued orders for the investment of the city. 



Encyclopedia of Great Powers and the First World War: 1870–1918, Volume 3 
 

595 

Crown Prince Albert's army closed in on Paris from the north 

unopposed, while Crown Prince Frederick moved in from the 

south. On 17 September a force under Vinoy attacked 

Frederick's army near Villeneuve-Saint-Georges in an effort to 

save a supply depot there, but it was eventually driven back by 

artillery fire.    The railroad to Orléans was cut, and on the 18th 

Versailles was taken, and then served as the 3rd Army's and 

eventually Wilhelm's headquarters. By 19 September the 

encirclement was complete, and the siege officially began. 

Responsible for the direction of the siege was General (later 

Field Marshal) von Blumenthal.   

Prussia's chancellor Otto von Bismarck suggested shelling 

Paris to ensure the city's quick surrender and render all 

French efforts to free the city pointless, but the German high 

command, headed by the king of Prussia, turned down the 

proposal on the insistence of General von Blumenthal, on the 

grounds that a bombardment would affect civilians, violate the 

rules of engagement, and turn the opinion of third parties 

against the Germans, without speeding up the final victory.  

• It was also contended that a quick French surrender 

would leave the new French armies undefeated and 

allow France to renew the war shortly after. The new 

French armies would have to be annihilated first, 

and Paris would have to be starved into surrender. 

Trochu had little faith in the ability of the National 

Guards, which made up half the force defending the 

city. So instead of making any significant attempt to 

prevent the investment by the Germans, Trochu 

hoped that Moltke would attempt to take the city by 

storm, and the French could then rely on the city's 



Encyclopedia of Great Powers and the First World War: 1870–1918, Volume 3 
 

596 

defenses. These consisted of the 33 km (21 mi) 

Thiers wall and a ring of sixteen detached forts, all 

of which had been built in the 1840s. Moltke never 

had any intention of attacking the city and this 

became clear shortly after the siege began. Trochu 

changed his plan and allowed Vinoy to make a 

demonstration against the Prussians west of the 

Seine. On 30 September Vinoy attacked Chevilly with 

20,000 soldiers and was soundly repulsed by the 3rd 

Army. Then on 13 October the II Bavarian Corps was 

driven from Châtillon but the French were forced to 

retire in face of Prussian artillery.  

General Carey de Bellemare commanded the strongest fortress 

north of Paris at Saint Denis.   

On 29 October de Bellemare attacked the Prussian Guard at Le 

Bourget without orders, and took the town.   The Guard actually 

had little interest in recapturing their positions at Le Bourget, 

but Crown Prince Albert ordered the city retaken anyway. In 

the battle of Le Bourget the Prussian Guards succeeded in 

retaking the city and captured 1,200 French soldiers. Upon 

hearing of the French surrender at Metz and the defeat at Le 

Bourget, morale in Paris began to sink. The people of Paris 

were beginning to suffer from the effects of the German 

blockade. Hoping to boost morale on 30 November Trochu 

launched the largest attack from Paris even though he had 

little hope of achieving a breakthrough. Nevertheless, he sent 

Auguste-Alexandre Ducrot with 80,000 soldiers against the 

Prussians at Champigny, Créteil and Villiers. In what became 

known as the battle of Villiers the French succeeded in 

capturing and holding a position at Créteil and Champigny. By 
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2 December the Württemberg Corps had driven Ducrot back 

into the defenses and the battle was over by 3 December.  

On 19 January a final breakout attempt was aimed at the 

Château of Buzenval in Rueil-Malmaison near the Prussian 

Headquarters, west of Paris. The Crown Prince easily repulsed 

the attack inflicting over 4,000 casualties while suffering just 

over 600. Trochu resigned as governor and left General Joseph 

Vinoy with 146,000 defenders.  

During the winter, tensions began to arise in the Prussian high 

command. Field-Marshal Helmuth von Moltke and General 

Leonhard, Count von Blumenthal, who commanded the siege, 

were primarily concerned with a methodical siege that would 

destroy the detached forts around the city and slowly strangle 

the defending forces with a minimum of German casualties.  

But as time wore on, there was growing concern that a 

prolonged war was placing too much strain on the German 

economy and that an extended siege would convince the French 

Government of National Defense that Prussia could still be 

beaten. A prolonged campaign would also allow France time to 

reconstitute a new army and convince neutral powers to enter 

the war against Prussia. To Bismarck, Paris was the key to 

breaking the power of the intransigent republican leaders of 

France, ending the war in a timely manner, and securing peace 

terms favourable to Prussia. Moltke was also worried that 

insufficient winter supplies were reaching the German armies 

investing the city, as diseases such as tuberculosis were 

breaking out amongst the besieging soldiers. In addition, the 

siege operations competed with the demands of the ongoing 

Loire Campaign against the remaining French field armies.  
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In January, on Bismarck's advice, the Germans fired some 

12,000 shells into the city over 23 nights in an attempt to 

break Parisian morale.   About 400 perished or were wounded 

by the bombardment which, "had little effect on the spirit of 

resistance in Paris." Delescluze declared, "The Frenchmen of 

1870 are the sons of those Gauls for whom battles were 

holidays."  

Due to a severe shortage of food, Parisians were forced to 

slaughter whatever animals were at hand. Rats, dogs, cats, and 

horses were the first to be slaughtered and became regular fare 

on restaurant menus. Once the supply of those animals ran 

low, the citizens of Paris turned on the zoo animals residing at 

Jardin des plantes. Even Castor and Pollux, the only pair of 

elephants in Paris, were slaughtered for their meat.   

A Latin Quarter menu contemporary with the siege reads in 

part:  

• * Consommé de cheval au millet. (horse) 

• * Brochettes de foie de chien à la maître d'hôtel. 

(dog) 

• * Emincé de rable de chat. Sauce mayonnaise. (cat) 

• * Epauleset filets de chienbraisés. Sauce aux 

tomates. (dog) 

• * Civet de chat aux champignons. (cat) 

• * Côtelettes de chien aux petitspois. (dog) 

• * Salamis de rats. Sauce Robert. (rats) 

• * Gigots de chienflanqués de ratons. Sauce poivrade. 

(dog, rats) 

• * Begonias au jus. (flowers) 
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• * Plum-pudding au rhumet à la Moelle de Cheval. 

(horse) 

Air medical transport is often stated to have first occurred in 

1870 during the siege of Paris when 160 wounded French 

soldiers were evacuated from the city by hot-air balloon, but 

this myth has been definitively disproven by full review of the 

crew and passenger records of each balloon which left Paris 

during the siege.  

During the siege, the only head of diplomatic mission from a 

major power who remained in Paris was United States Minister 

to France, Elihu B. Washburne. As a representative of a 

neutral country, Washburne was able to play a unique role in 

the conflict, becoming one of the few channels of 

communication into and out of the city for much of the siege. 

He also led the way in providing humanitarian relief to foreign 

nationals, including ethnic Germans.  

On 25 January 1871, Wilhelm I overruled Moltke and ordered 

the field-marshal to consult with Bismarck for all future 

operations. Bismarck immediately ordered the city to be 

bombarded with large-caliber Krupp siege guns. This prompted 

the city's surrender on 28 January 1871.  

Armistice and surrender 

Secret armistice discussions began on January 23, 1871 and 

continued at Versailles between Jules Favre and Bismarck 

until the 27th. On the French side there was concern that the 

National Guard would rebel when news of the capitulation 

became public. Bismarck's advice was "provoke an uprising, 
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then, while you still have an army with which to suppress it". 

The final terms agreed on were that the French regular troops 

(less one division) would be disarmed, Paris would pay an 

indemnity of two hundred million francs, and the fortifications 

around the perimeter of the city would be surrendered. In 

return the armistice was extended until February 19.  

Food supplies from the provinces, as well as shiploads from 

Britain and the United States, began to enter the starving city 

almost immediately. Thirty thousand Prussian, Bavarian and 

Saxon troops held a brief victory parade in Paris on March 1, 

1871 and Bismarck honored the armistice by sending 

trainloads of food into the city. The German troops departed 

after two days to take up temporary encampments to the east 

of the city, to be withdrawn from there when France paid the 

agreed war indemnity. While Parisians scrubbed the streets 

"polluted" by the triumphal entry, no serious incidents 

occurred during the short and symbolic occupation of the city. 

This was in part because the Germans had avoided areas such 

as Belleville, where hostility was reportedly high.  

Air mail 

Balloon mail was the only means by which communications 

from the besieged city could reach the rest of France. The use 

of balloons to carry mail was first proposed by the 

photographer and balloonist Felix Nadar, who had established 

the grandiosely titled No. 1 Compagnie des Aérostatiers, with a 

single balloon, the Neptune, at its disposal, to perform tethered 

ascents for observation purposes. However the Prussian 

encirclement of the city made this pointless, and on 17 

September Nadar wrote to the Council for the Defence of Paris 
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proposing the use of balloons for communication with the 

outside world: a similar proposal had also been made by the 

balloonist Eugène Godard.  

The first balloon launch was carried out on 23 September, 

using the Neptune, and carried 125 kg (276 lb) of mail in 

addition to the pilot. After a three-hour flight it landed at 

Craconville 83 km (52 mi) from Paris. Following this success a 

regular mail service was established, with a rate of 20 

centimes per letter. Two workshops to manufacture balloons 

were set up, one under the direction of Nadar in the Elys�e-

Montmartre dance-hall (later moved to the Gare du Nord), and 

the other under the direction of Godard in the Gared'Orleans. 

Around 66 balloon flights were made, including one that 

accidentally set a world distance record by ending up in 

Norway. The vast majority of these succeeded: only five were 

captured by the Prussians, and three went missing, 

presumably coming down in the Atlantic or Irish Sea. The 

number of letters carried has been estimated at around 2.5 

million.  

• Some balloons also carried passengers in addition to 

the cargo of mail, most notably Léon Gambetta, the 

minister for War in the new government, who was 

flown out of Paris on 7 October. The balloons also 

carried homing pigeons out of Paris to be used for a 

pigeon post. This was the only means by which 

communications from the rest of France could reach 

the besieged city. A specially laid telegraph cable on 

the bed of the Seine had been discovered and cut by 

the Prussians on 27 September, couriers attempting 

to make their way through the German lines were 
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almost all intercepted and although other methods 

were tried including attempts to use balloons, dogs 

and message canisters floated down the Seine, these 

were all unsuccessful. The pigeons were taken to 

their base, first at Tours and later at Poitiers, and 

when they had been fed and rested were ready for 

the return journey. Tours lies some 200 km (120 mi) 

from Paris and Poitiers some 300 km (190 mi) 

distant. Before release, they were loaded with their 

dispatches. Initially the pigeon post was only used 

for official communications but on 4 November the 

government announced that members of the public 

could send messages, these being limited to twenty 

words at a charge of 50 centimes per word. 

These were then copied onto sheets of cardboard and 

photographed by a M. Barreswille, a photographer based in 

Tours. Each sheet contained 150 messages and was reproduced 

as a print about 40 by 55 mm (1.6 by 2.2 in) in size: each 

pigeon could carry nine of these.  

The photographic process was further refined by René Dagron 

to allow more to be carried: Dagron, with his equipment, was 

flown out of Paris on 12 November in the aptly named Niépce, 

narrowly escaping capture by the Prussians. The photographic 

process allowed multiple copies of the messages to be sent, so 

that although only 57 of the 360 pigeons released reached 

Paris more than 60,000 of the 95,000 messages sent were 

delivered. (some sources give a considerably higher figure of 

around 150,000 official and 1 million private communications, 

but this figure is arrived at by counting all copies of each 

message.)  
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Aftermath 

Late in the siege, Wilhelm I was proclaimed German Emperor 

on 18 January 1871 at the Palace of Versailles. The kingdoms 

of Bavaria, Württemberg, and Saxony, the states of Baden and 

Hesse, and the free cities of Hamburg and Bremen were unified 

with the North German Confederation to create the German 

Empire.  

The preliminary peace treaty was signed at Versailles, and the 

final peace treaty, the Treaty of Frankfurt, was signed on 10 

May 1871. Otto von Bismarck was able to secure Alsace-

Lorraine as part of the German Empire.  

The continued presence of German troops outside the city 

angered Parisians. Further resentment arose against the 

French government, and in March 1871 Parisian workers and 

members of the National Guard rebelled and established the 

Paris Commune, a radical socialist government, which lasted 

through late May of that year.  

Battle of Wissembourg (1870) 

The Battle of Wissembourg or Battle of Weissenburg, the first 

of the Franco-Prussian War, was joined when three German 

army corps surprised the small French garrison at 

Wissembourg on 4 August 1870. The defenders, greatly 

outnumbered, fought stubbornly "especially considering they 

were surprised and greatly outnumbered, that the French 

sustained their old renown as fighting men and that the first 

defeat, although severe, reflected no discredit on the soldiers 
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of the 1st Corps." The fall of Wissembourg allowed the Prussian 

army to move into France and compelled Marshal Mac-Mahon 

to give battle, and suffer defeat, at the Battle of Wörth on 6 

August.  

Background 

In June 1870 Napoleon III had moved the French army into 

Lorraine and occupied Saarbrücken on 2 August.   Napoleon 

wished to win a significant battle on German soil and ordered 

Marshal Patrice Mac-Mahon to bring up the French I and V 

Corps.   Mac-Mahon's objective was to reach Wissembourg 

where he already had one division stationed under General 

Abel Douay. Once there he would concentrate his forces for a 

strike into Germany. The German III Army under Crown Prince 

Friedrich Wilhelm and his able Chief of Staff, General von 

Blumenthal, was already moving towards Wissembourg. Neither 

side was fully aware of the other's movements.  

At the outbreak of war, General Ducrot, commanding the 6th 

French Division at Strasbourg, issued orders to withdraw the 

elements of his forces stationed at Wissembourg and 

Lauterbourg. The sub-prefect of Wissembourg protested this 

decision, not agreeing with Ducrot's decision to weaken the 6th 

division along the German frontier. General Douay's 2nd 

French Division set off for Haguenau 22 July, making it 

necessary to reoccupy Wissembourg to secure Douay's line of 

supply, a portion of his materiel being stored in the small 

frontier town.  

In August, Marshal Mac-Mahon concentrated his effectives at 

Haguenau with the object of warding off any attempt on the 
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strategic Strasbourg—Haguenau—Bitche—Metz rail lines, and 

established the following positions: Ducrot's 1st Division broke 

camp on 4 August and established itself at Lembach in order to 

secure contact with General Failly's V Corps; Douay's 2nd 

Division reoccupied Wissembourg, Weiler and the nearby 

countryside, namely the soft hills by the Col du Pigeonnier.   The 

1st Cavalry Brigade would patrol the frontier east of 

Wissembourg up to Schleithal.  

Prelude 

Auguste-Alexandre Ducrot's familiarity with the terrain earned 

him the responsibility of overseeing the deployment of the 

various units in the area, including General Abel Douay's 

1st Division. Accordingly, he instructed Douay to rearrange his 

with an emphasis on securing the heights commanding the 

valley of the Lauter: the main emplacements were set up on the 

Geisberg plateau to the east and the Vogelsberg plateau on the 

western side, leaving a single battalion in the town of 

Wissembourg proper. Finally, Douay was to relieve the 

96th Infantry Regiment in the village of Climbach. At this point 

Ducrot received gravely flawed intelligence. On the basis of 

reconnaissance performed by the colonel commanding the 

96th Regiment, he did not believe the enemy present in enough 

strength to attempt any serious enterprise in the immediate 

future.  

Upon learning from captured Prussian soldiers and a local area 

police chief, that the Prussian Crown Prince's Third Army was 

just 30 miles (50 km) from Saarbrücken near the town of 

Wissembourg, General Le Boeuf and Napoleon III decided to 

retreat to defensive positions. General Frossard, without 
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instructions, hastily withdrew the elements of Army of the 

Rhine in Saarbrücken back to Spicheren and Forbach.  

Marshal MacMahon, now closest to Wissembourg, spread his 

four divisions over 20 miles (30 km) to react to any Prussian 

invasion. This organization of forces was due to a lack of 

supplies, forcing each division to seek out basic provisions 

along with the representatives of the army supply arm that was 

supposed to aid them. What made a bad situation much worse 

was the conduct of Ducrot, commander of the 1st Division. He 

told Douay, commander of the 2nd Division, on 1 August, that 

"the information I have received makes me suppose that the 

enemy has no considerable forces very near his advance posts, 

and has no desire to take the offensive."  

Two days later, he told MacMahon that he had not found "a 

single enemy post ... it looks to me as if the menace of the 

Bavarians is simply bluff." Even though Ducrot shrugged off 

the possibility of an attack by the Germans, MacMahon tried to 

warn the other divisions of his army, without success.  

Battle 

The battle saw the unsupported division of General Douay of I 

Corps, with some attached cavalry, which was posted to watch 

the border, attacked in overwhelming but un-coordinated 

fashion by the German 3rd Army.   During the day, elements of 

a Bavarian and two Prussian corps became engaged and were 

aided by Prussian artillery, which blasted holes in the defenses 

of the town. Douay held a very strong position initially, thanks 

to the accurate long-range fire of the Chassepots but his force 

was too thinly stretched to hold it. Douay was killed in the late 
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morning when a caisson of the divisional mitrailleuse battery 

exploded near him; the encirclement of the town by the 

Prussians threatened the French avenue of retreat.  

The fighting within the town had become extremely intense, 

becoming a door to door battle of survival. Despite a never-

ending attack of Prussian infantry, the soldiers of the 2nd 

Division kept to their positions. The people of the town of 

Wissembourg finally surrendered to the Germans. The French 

troops who did not surrender retreated westward, leaving 

behind 1,000 dead and wounded and another 1,000 prisoners 

and all of their remaining ammunition. The final attack by the 

Prussian troops also cost c.  1,000 casualties. The German 

cavalry then failed to pursue the French and lost touch with 

them. The attackers had an initial superiority of numbers, a 

broad deployment which made envelopment highly likely but 

the effectiveness of French Chassepot rifle-fire inflicted costly 

repulses on infantry attacks, until the French infantry had 

been extensively bombarded by the Prussian artillery.  

Aftermath 

The battle was a victory for the Germans and allowed them to 

invade France. Shortly after the battle the German III Army 

was on the move towards Wörth where they ran into the main 

body of MacMahon's army.  

Battle of Saarbrücken 

The Battle of Saarbrücken was the first major engagement 

between French Empire and the Kingdom of Prussia during the 
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Franco-Prussian War. The battle took place on 2 August, 1870, 

around the city of the Saarbrücken.  

Background 

 

During this time, the Prussians along with several other 

German states were rapidly mobilizing as a contrast to French 

expectations, only a small token force of the French Army was 

dedicated to launching offensives towards the southern 

German states as the French did not expect the Prussians to 

mobilize quickly. Moreover, Napoleon III who had assumed 

command of the new Army of the Rhine which consisted of 

almost 100,000 men was pressured by many to launch an 

offensive against the North German Confederation. He ordered 

the Army of the Rhine to cross the Saar River and to seize 

Saarbrücken.  

The Battle 

The II and III Corps led by General Charles Frossard and 

Marshal François Bazaine managed to cross the Saar River by 
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2 August 1870, they encountered small Prussian detachments 

at the outskirts of the town but was not delayed in their 

attempts to seize the garrison. Major fighting eventually broke 

out later that day, the 40th Prussian Regiment of the 16th 

Infantry Division was quickly forced out of the town as the 

French, with their numerical superiority along with the much 

more accurate and reliable Chassepot Rifle outmatched the 

Prussian defenders. By the end of the day, French casualty 

reports estimate that they had 10 killed, wounded, or missing 

including one officer, though some estimates could go as high 

as 86 casualties. The Prussians on the other hand had around 

76-83 killed, wounded, or missing. After the battle, Napoleon 

III wrote a telegram to his wife, Empress Eugénie de Montijo 

which read:  

"Louis has received his baptism of fire; he was admirably cool 

and a little impressed. A division of Fossard's command carried 

the heights overlooking the Saar. Louis and I were in the front, 

where the bullets fell about us. Louis keeps a ball he picked up 

on the battlefield. The soldiers are delighted at his tranquility. 

We lost one officer and ten men." - Napoleon  

Aftermath 

The battle was by no means a deciding factor of the war. The 

French seizure of Saarbrücken nonetheless proved the 

reliability and accuracy of the Chassepot Rifle compared to its 

Dreyse counterparts which would later contribute to Germany's 

heavy casualties during the early months of the war.  
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